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For the year ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
40,006 86,601
11,651 18,683
(21,888) (11,798)
48,472 48,611
(12,424) 7,271
29.1% 21.6%
N/AZNE A N/ATE A
N/AZNE A N/ATE A
N/ATEH N/ATEFH
1.02 0.90

0.96 0.71
2.31) 0.83

Percentage
Change
BALED
%

(53.8)
(37.4)
85.6
(0.2)
(269.9)
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Crosstec”), | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2022 (the “Year”).

Review

For the Year, the revenue and gross profit of the Group were approximately
HK$40.0 million and approximately HK$11.7 million respectively,
representing a decrease of approximately 53.8% and 37.4% respectively
over the prior year. The Group recorded an increase in loss to approximately
HK$21.9 million for the Year as compared with a net loss of approximately
HK$11.8 million for the prior year.

The widespread of the COVID-19 pandemic remains volatile and keeps
leading to the suspension or delay of business activities around the world. In
addition, the fears from the growing threat of the global recession have led to
a drastic drop in the consumer sentiment, especially in the luxury market. As
a result, the slowdown in implementing the business strategies in relation to
renovation and new shops/outlets roll out of certain customers of the Group
has been noted and thus some projects originally scheduled to be performed
during the Year have been delayed until further notice. As such, the severe
global situation has adversely affected the Group’s financial performance
and revenue (2022: approximately HK$40.0 million; 2021: approximately
HK$86.6 million) during the Year to a significant extent.

Prospects

In order to stay competitive in the market, the management of the Company
has put huge resources and emphasizes on developing the local business in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) market (including Hong Kong and
Macau) in recent years. The result is very positive that besides maintaining
good business relationship with the existing large luxury brand customers,
the Group has well established new business relationships with creatin
internationally recognized luxury brands and property developers for their
sizeable projects mainly in the PRC. Considering the huge development
potential of the luxury brands in the PRC, we are confident our exposure in
the PRC market will be very promising upon the recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic.

Upon the gradual relaxation of the COVID-19 related restriction policy in the
western countries, the Group’s exposure to the business in these countries,
especially in the European countries, is expected to have a speedy recovery.
During the Year, a significant increase of approximately 216% in revenue in
the European countries as compared with that in 2021 was recorded as a result
of the resume of certain large luxury hotel projects in the United Kingdom
which were previously delayed.

In response to the above, the Group will continue to strengthen its cost control
and resources management as well as to actively participate in project tenders,
in order to maintain its competitiveness in the market.
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Chairman’s Statement

Regarding the core business, upon the establishment and expansion of
business to the luxury hotel market over the years, the Company has gained
rich experience and connections in this field all over the world. Up to the date
of this report, several large projects in relation to the provision of millworks
and interior solutions services to the hotels of a top-tier luxury hotel group all
over the world have been awarded.

As stated above, geographically speaking, as the Group is dedicated to putting
more resources and efforts on exploring the business opportunities in relation
to the interior solutions projects in the PRC market, very positive results
have been received recently that we have established numerous business
relationship with new clients who are internationally recognized luxury brands
and property developers and we have been working closely with them for
their expansion projects in the PRC in recent years. Considering the gradual
recovery of the COVID-19 pandemic and the huge development potential of
the luxury brands in the PRC, we believe that the PRC business will be very
promising in the coming years. Also, as mentioned above, upon the gradual
relaxation of the COVID-19 related restriction policy in the western countries,
the Group’s exposure to the business in these countries, especially in the
European countries, is expected to have a speedy recovery soon.

At the same time, the Group will keep abreast of the latest market development
and make pre-emptive moves to seize any potential business opportunities so
as to support the Group's sustainable development when opportunities arise.

In addition to the core business, in order to broaden the income sources, the
Company has been exploring business opportunities for developing the online
game business. Up to the date of this report, the Company has performed a
series of research and development work on the operation and marketing of
the online game business including game testing on certain demo games and is
still exploring the suitable business partner to co-operate in a form of strategic
co-operation alliance or other possible way of development. The Company
will keep the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) updated
and informed by way of announcement(s) as and when appropriate. The
management of the Company is confident that such a move is creating strong
values to the stakeholders of the Group.

Based on the blueprint for our future development to achieve long term value
growth, the Board will endeavor to maximize the interests of the Group and
the Shareholders.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude and
appreciation to the management and staff for their dedication during the Year.
I would also like to thank the Shareholders, the Group’s customers, suppliers,
business partners and government authorities for their continued trust and
support over the years.

Lee Wai Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 September 2022
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Profile of Directors, Joint Company Secretaries and Senior Management

£ BRELANERSREEERE

DIRECTORS AND JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Board currently consists of eight Directors, comprising five executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The following
table sets out certain information about the Directors and the joint company
secretaries:

Name Age Position
## Fie Bz

EZRBRELAANE
FEERRA/\LEEAN  REEARTEER=4E
THEHTES TR ESRBRAANEZETE
B

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Executive Director and Project Director (Business Development)

Mr. Lee Wai Sang 58

FRELE 58 IR THBHFHNES

Mr. Leung Pak Yin 48

RIARLE 48 HTEERERLE (XBER)

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie 55 Executive Director and Executive Assistant
REMLL 55  HTEEROTBHE

Mr. Lam Wing Hung (Appointed on 34

16 September 2022)
MXREE(R-BE-—FNAT AEEF) 34
Mr. Hu Xiongjie (Appointed on 33

11 October 2022)

Executive Director

Executive Director, Finance Director and Joint Company Secretary

BB MBESRURLANE

HEREE (R-F-_—F1AT—HEZE) 33  H7ES

Mr. So Chi Hang 56 Independent Non-executive Director
HEELE 56  BUFATES

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin 57 Independent Non-executive Director
FLELE 57 BUFHTES

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin 36 Independent Non-executive Director
DEERLE 36 BUFATES

Mr. Au Pak Lun Patrick (Appointed on 36 Joint Company Secretary

11 October 2022)

BREtE(R-ZF-—F+A+—HEZF) 36 BEARWE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Z124) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 58, is one of the founders of
the Group and has been the chairman of the Board, chief executive officer
of the Company and an executive Director since 18 March 2016. He is also
the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”). In addition, he serves as director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee is responsible for managing the overall
business operations and strategic planning of the Group. He has over 30 years
of experience in the interior design industry. Prior to establishing the Group
in 1999, from 1997 to 1999, Mr. Lee was the director of Cross Design Limited
where he was responsible for overseeing the interior design work streams and
overall operations of the company. From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Lee served as a
senior interior designer of Bowden Dewar McFadzean Limited, responsible for
the interior design of office premises. Between 1989 and 1991, he was as an
architect designer of Michael H.K. Wong Architects Inc., responsible for the
interior design of buildings.
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In addition to his professional experience in the industry, Mr. Lee was also
keen to share his expertise with the next-generation interior designers. Mr. Lee
was the guest speaker of the design department of Vocational Training Council
to present the topic on “Professional Practice — Tender Document” and
“Professional Practice — Project Management” on 19 January 2001 and 20
March 2001 respectively. From September 2004 to August 2005, he served as
the external examiner for the higher diploma in interior & environment design
course, the higher diploma in interior design course, and the certificate in
design studies course of the Vocational Training Council. From October 2000
to January 2001, Mr. Lee was a visiting lecturer (part-time) of the School of
Design of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Lee obtained his master of arts degree in design from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in December 1999 and received a bachelor’s degree
in interior design from the University of Manitoba in May 1989. Mr. Lee
also completed the Prince of Wales’s business & sustainability programme
designed by the University of Cambridge Institute for Sustainability Leadership
in April 2018 and obtained an executive diploma in corporate governance
and sustainability directorship from The Hong Kong Institute of Directors
in May 2018. In addition, he is a member of various international interior
designer professional bodies. Mr. Lee has been a registered interior designer
and member of the Association of Registered Interior Designers of Ontario in
Canada since September 1989, a member of the Interior Designer of Canada
in Canada since 1994, a certified holder of the National Council for Interior
Design Qualification in North America since April 1994, a professional
member of the American Society of Interior Designers in the United States
since March 1995 and a professional member of the International Interior
Design Association in the United States since 1995. He has also been elected
as an International Dual Member of the British Institute of Interior Design since
April 2016. Since May 2016, Mr. Lee has been fully accredited as a design
professional by the Society of British and International Design.

Mr. Lee is the spouse of Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie, an executive Director
and the substantial shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the
Company, and brother-in-law of Mr. Leung Pak Yin, an executive Director.
He is also a director of CGH (BVI) Limited, which is a substantial shareholder
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Leung Pak Yin (2{H#) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 48, joined the Group on 13
September 2006 and is a project director (business development) of the Group.
He has been an executive Director since 18 March 2016. Mr. Leung is also a
director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Leung is responsible for
client liaison and business development of the Group. Mr. Leung has over 20
years of experience in sales and business development. Prior to joining the
Group, from 2004 to 2006, Mr. Leung served as an account manager of Wharf
T&T Limited, where he was responsible for the company’s customers’ relations
and sales management. Between 2001 and 2002, Mr. Leung was the business
development manager of Magically Asia Limited, where he was responsible
for developing strategy and tactical plans to drive the business, managing
customer and partner relationships, handling sales project and facilitating
new product development. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. Leung was an account
manager of New World Telephone Limited, where he was responsible for the
management of sales and customers relations.

Mr. Leung received a bachelor of science degree from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 1996.

Mr. Leung is the brother-in-law of Mr. Lee Wai Sang, the chairman of the Board,
the chief executive officer, an executive Director and the substantial shareholder
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company and the brother of Ms. Leung
Mo Shan Jackie, an executive Director and the substantial shareholder (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (&) (“Ms. Leung”), aged 55, has been an
executive assistant of the Group since January 2016, responsible for the
provision of overall administrative support to the executive management
team in daily operations including arranging and coordinating meetings,
and facilitating communications between executive team and all staff. She
has been an executive Director since 15 April 2021. She is also a member
of the risk management committee of the Company (the “Risk Management
Committee”). Ms. Leung has over 25 years of experience in finance. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Leung served as the director of finance of NW Project
Management Limited from May 2010 to October 2015. From June 2006 to
May 2010, Ms. Leung was employed by New World Hotel Management
Limited, where her last position was director of finance. From August 1997
to May 2006, Ms. Leung was employed by Renaissance Harbour View Hotel,
where her last position was the director of finance. From November 1990 to
August 1997, Ms. Leung was employed by New World Hotels International
Limited, where her last position was assistant financial controller. Ms. Leung
obtained a post-experience certificate in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1994 through part-time learning. She has been an
associate and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since May 1998 and June 2003 respectively and a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since July 1998.

Ms. Leung is the spouse of Mr. Lee Wai Sang, the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director, the chief executive officer and the substantial shareholder
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company and the sister of Mr. Leung
Pak Yin, an executive Director. She is also a director of CGH (BVI) Limited,
which is a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Lam Wing Hung (#f7K7%) (“Mr. Lam”), aged 34, joined the Group as
financial controller in April 2017. He has been appointed as an executive
Director and promoted as a finance director of the Company with effect from
16 September 2022. He has also been the company secretary of the Company
and several subsidiaries of the Company since 25 March 2022. Mr. Lam has
over 10 years’ experience in auditing, accounting and corporate management
with international exposure. Prior to joining the Group, from October 2010 to
April 2017, Mr. Lam held various positions at Ernst & Young Hong Kong office,
where he last served as manager in the assurance department. Mr. Lam has
been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales since 2013 and 2022 respectively. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Hu Xiongjie ($A%4£) (“Mr. Hu”), aged 33, has been an executive Director
since 11 October 2022. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Hu has several years of working experience in logistic industry and
entrepreneurial experience in Singapore and Malaysia. He was the project
director of Ideology Interior Pte Ltd. prior to joining the Company. Mr. Hu
holds a diploma in industrial and operations management from Republic
Polytechnic Singapore.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. So Chi Hang (88&18) (“Mr. So”), aged 56, has been an independent
non-executive Director since 22 August 2016. Mr. So is also the chairman
of each of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
and the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Mr. So is responsible for
supervising and providing independent judgment to the Board. Mr. So has
over 25 years of experience in finance with local and overseas exposure.
From October 2015 to December 2017, Mr. So served as the vice president of
project management of BSN Medical KK in Japan, where he was responsible
for guiding and monitoring the work of local outsourced accounting service
provider. Mr. So served as a business analyst consultant of STL Corp., Ltd from
May 2011 to December 2013, where he provided independent consultation
service in developing and monitoring the execution of business strategies.
He served as an associate director of KCS Management & Consultancy
(China) Co., Ltd from November 2008 to March 2011 and KCS Limited
from September 2007 to November 2008, where he supervised the account
servicing teams of the corporate accounting division. Mr. So held various
positions while he was with ACNielsen (China) Ltd from October 1997 to
April 2007 where his last position was the director of finance, where he was
responsible for the management of all finance and accounting operations.
He also served as a divisional accountant of the AFS Freight Management
Group in Australia from July 1993 to April 1997, where he was responsible
for accounting and taxation matters for the group’s non-Australian companies,
including Hong Kong and Shanghai, Papua New Guinea, New Zealand
and the United States. From April 1991 to June 1993, Mr. So served as an
accountant of AIA Capital Corporation Limited. Before that, he served as the
group accountant of Desh Group from June 1990 till 1991. Mr. So started his
career as an auditor of Coopers & Lybrand from January 1989 to June 1990.

S@EELRARAS CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited © © o o o 011

REHERSREERBERE

HKERE(HELED) 345 RZF—LFOANAR
CERAMKEE - RE_T-__FANATRBREZE

BHTESTEAAARANEEE - HFE_S__F
CRA-THRREZRTARRARRARRZEMEARZ
DAE - MEEHERI0FET - SHREBRAETS
BENCEERLES - RIMAREER  R-E-TF+
AZZT—tEMAHE  MEESEL K EEAT
ERNERECLZERN  BBAEISIBEE - Mk
EPRE-E-—ZFER-_F__FRATAEHMACE
ERBERBLEBIETEHANEeE - MEERES
EEETREGHBELE -

HiEeEE ((AEED 335 BB F+A+T—H
BHERITES - RAARRA-HHBLANES - 4
FEERBREMRITRN TEERNH LK - FREDH
B8R - EMAARRFR - K Aldeology Interior Pte Ltd.
MRERE - PEERANMEANB ISR T X0ES
BEIE -

BYFUTES

HEEEE(BHEE]  S6 BZE—AENAZTZ
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ#%ﬁ§$°ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ$ AERZEE
([BREEC) RIMEER ER URREZEER
&a@§5@2&5°ﬁ%$%§%§§$A&H§$
SREBU A - HLERA BTN LEIITBE
BoNZZT-RAFTAZ-ZtET_AE HE4E
{EEZBSN Medical KKEVEE BB ARRERE
BEWINBEHREHERNIE -R-T——F0AZE
:g—E¢+:H,ﬁﬂfaﬁ * BRSTEEASTL Corp., LdRIER
PR - AERIEEXBRBORTREBUAAR
%o BR-_ZENF+—-AZZ T——ﬁ HHHFW’THJL
BERZA(PE)ARARMNEIRE  TR-_ZT+FAN
RE-ZZNF+- H%ﬁ?&msmmwmﬂﬁw,
BEECESHMMNETFREEN - HAEE— Hﬂt
FTAZ-ZSLENANARERR (FE) AR
REBZERL  MRREBUAMBEL E§%$%
BREHEENER - FME-NMN=FLAZE- NNt
70 A BRI RINEEAFS Freight Management Group#)
BEIGEHA- AEEZEEFRNDR (REFERLE
EfEHgns HERRER) NS A RIBEFE R
“AN—FERAZE-AN=ZFAAHE  HEELFTAA
Capital Corporation Limited®) & 5780 ° JLAT - R—ANT
ERAZE-NN—F » F T FDesh GroupFI & B E5TA -
HEEER-N/NE-RAZ-NANZERABRILEKE
SHMEBAOREMN  BRABEEE-



Profile of Directors, Joint Company Secretaries and Senior Management

£S5

Mr. So obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia in August 1988. He has been a certified practicing
accountant of Australian Society of CPAs since October 1993.

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin ((2IE%) (“Mr. Heng”), aged 57, has been
an independent non-executive Director since 22 August 2016. He is also
the chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Heng is responsible for supervising, and providing
independent judgement, to the Board. He has over 20 years of experience in
banking and finance. Since August 2022, Mr. Heng has been the Responsible
Officer of Bletchley Park Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited, a licensed
corporation under the SFO to carry on asset management and advising on
securities regulated activities. Prior to that, Mr. Heng was the managing
partner and Responsible Officer of Springboard Capital Limited, a licensed
corporation under the SFO to carry on asset management regulated activities
from June 2011 to July 2022. He was managing director of The Royal Bank of
Scotland Plc, Hong Kong from May 2006 to October 2008. He was a director
of HSBC Securities (Asia) Limited and held senior positions of other HSBC
group companies from June 1999 to April 2006. He held senior positions in
several major private financial institutions in Hong Kong and had both been
registered with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority as Executive Officer as well
as the Securities and Futures Commission as Responsible Officer, carrying out
numerous regulated activities.

Mr. Heng obtained a bachelor of arts and subsequently a master of arts in June
1988 and March 1992 respectively from the University of Cambridge, England.
He has been a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales since December 2009 and The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors since July 2009, and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since July 1998.

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin (Z75E) (“Mr. Tsang”), aged 36, has been an independent
non-executive Director since 28 September 2021. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee. He is responsible for supervising, and providing independent
judgment to, the Board. Mr. Tsang is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong.
Mr. Tsang is currently a partner of Stevenson, Wong & Co., specialising in
corporate finance and commercial law.

Mr. Tsang has been a non-executive director of China Regenerative Medicine
International Limited (a company whose shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 8158) since January 2020, and an independent
non-executive director of Sterling Group Holdings Limited (a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1825)
since September 2021.
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Mr. Tsang was an independent non-executive director of Inno-Tech Holdings
Limited (“Inno-Tech”) (a company whose shares were listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange and delisted on 13 July 2021, stock code: 8202) from June
2019 to June 2020. Inno-Tech was a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and its principal activities were (i) provision of outdoor
advertising business through different advertising media network; (ii) television
advertising operation; (iii) the event management business; (iv) seafood
business; and (v) money lending business in Hong Kong. As disclosed in
the announcements of Inno-Tech dated 1 June 2020, 3 July 2020 and 11
September 2020, Inno-Tech received a letter from the Official Receiver’s
Officer dated 9 June 2020 which stated that Gram Capital Limited has filed
a winding-up petition to the High Court of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region against Inno-Tech for principal sum of
HK$195,000. On 9 September 2020, Inno-Tech was ordered to be wound
up by the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in HCCW
82/2020 and the Official Receiver was appointed as the provisional liquidator.
Mr. Tsang confirmed that he was not a party to such winding up petition and
is not aware of any actual or potential claim that has been or will be made
against him as a result thereof.

Mr. Tsang is (i) the joint company secretary and the authorized representative
of Mabpharm Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2181) since May 2019, (i) the company
secretary and the authorized representative of Sunshine 100 China Holdings
Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2608) since November 2019, (iii) the joint company
secretary and the authorized representative of Sundy Service Group Co. Ltd.
(a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 9608) since January 2021, and (iv) the joint company secretary
and the authorized representative of 1957 & Co. (Hospitality) Limited (a
company whose shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
8495) since August 2022. He was also a non-executive director of Summi
(Group) Holdings Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 756) from July 2022 to September
2022, the company secretary and the authorized representative of Mobile
Internet (China) Holdings Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1439) from February 2020 to
February 2021, the company secretary of Moody Technology Holdings Limited
(a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1400) from January 2019 to November 2019, and the company
secretary and the authorized representative of Sino Energy International
Holdings Group Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1096) from November 2018 to July
2019.

Mr. Tsang obtained a bachelor degree in laws and a bachelor degree in
commerce in 2008 and subsequently a master degree in laws in 2010 from
the University of Melbourne, Australia. He also obtained the postgraduate
certificate in laws from the City University of Hong Kong in 2011. Mr. Tsang
was admitted as a solicitor in Australia in 2012 and in Hong Kong in 2013
respectively.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Au Pak Lun Patrick (E7H%) (“Mr. Au”), aged 36, has been a joint
company secretary of the Company and an authorised representative of the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules since 11 October 2022.
He has more than 10 years of experience in global corporate structuring
solutions, mergers and acquisitions, venture capital, family offices, offshore
funds, trust, finance and treasury. Mr. Au is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is also a member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.
Mr. Au holds a master degree of corporate governance from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following table sets out certain information about the senior management
personnel of the Group:

Name Age Position

% Fik B

BERXRAWE
BREEL(BEL]) 368 A-F==%+A+-A
BEEAATBEATLER EDRIEI0SRET Y
BERE - HEAOTFRRCLERBASR - AHK
BOBREE FHHLZ BEES BH HELE
Bl - B AEBEHALE SR RENN AR
REIFBHIAEEE - ENABALTAEAEREHA
MABLRRE - BALRATARIASRASAEL
B

EREEE

TRESINAERANAENSRERBARZETE
B

Mr. Tsang Kam Hung 56 Project Director (Design)
BiALA 565,  JRE & (R

Mr. Chung Chun Leung 61 Project Director (Re-engineering)
ERRAE 61 RERE(TRXHERER)

Mr. Tsang Kam Hung (Z##75), aged 56, is a project director (design) and has
joined the Group since May 2011. Mr. Tsang Kam Hung is responsible for
the supervision of a design and creative team in Hong Kong and monitoring
the quality assurance of the products produced by factories in the PRC. He
also serves at the frontline to liaise with clients for identifying their needs and
giving immediate solutions, consultations and alternatives in order to provide
the right answers that meet the client expectations. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Tsang Kam Hung began his career as a designer at AJ]M Design Group Ltd.
from April 1988 to January 1991. Mr. Tsang Kam Hung has over 25 years of
experience in the interior design industry, including serving in the in-house
design team of the corporate real estate department of Standard Chartered
Bank (HK) Limited from February 1998 to May 2008. From November 2009
to February 2011, Mr. Tsang Kam Hung was the contract staff in branch
management of channel management of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited.
Mr. Tsang Kam Hung obtained a bachelor’s degree of fine arts in interior
design from the Pratt Institute in the US in February 1995.
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Mr. Chung Chun Leung (#&E) (“Mr. Chung”), aged 61, has joined the
Group as a project director (re-engineering) since June 2018. Mr. Chung is
mainly responsible for the deconstruction and improvement on technical
details, liaison with clients and their consultancy team on the design
requirements, and monitoring the technical difficulties which may arise during
the production process in the factory. From 1984 to 1985, Mr. Chung worked
for AIM Design Group Limited. Mr. Chung has over 30 years of working
experience in the interior design. In June 1990, Mr. Chung obtained the higher
certificate in design (interior) from Lee Wai Lee Technical Institute (now
known as Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education (Lee Wai Lee)) where
he graduated with distinction.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of bespoke and total
interior design solutions to the retail stores and property facilities of global
luxury brands, which covers a wide range of services including millwork and
furniture provision, facade development and fabrication, interior solutions,
design, maintenance and project consultancy. The Group has been conducting
its business since 1999 and has been developing its business in the PRC, the
United States (the “US”), Europe, Middle East and other Asian countries.

For the Year, the Group's revenue, gross profit and net loss were approximately
HK$40.0 million (2021: approximately HK$86.6 million), approximately
HK$11.7 million (2021: approximately HK$18.7 million) and approximately
HK$21.9 million (2021: approximately HK$11.8 million) respectively,
representing a decrease of approximately 53.8%, 37.4% and an increase of
approximately 85.6% over the Year.

The widespread of the COVID-19 pandemic remains volatile and keeps
leading to the suspension or delay of business activities around the world.
In addition, the fears from the growing threat of the global recession led to a
drastic drop in the consumer sentiment, especially in the luxury market. As
a result, the slowdown in implementing the business strategies in relation to
renovation and new shops/outlets roll out of certain customers of the Group
was noted and thus some projects originally scheduled to be performed during
the Year have been delayed until further notice. As such, the severe global
situation had adversely affected the Group’s revenue during the Year to a
significant extent.

In order to stay competitive in the market, the management of the Company
has put huge resources and emphasized on developing the local business in
the PRC market (including Hong Kong and Macau) in recent years. In addition
to maintaining good business relationship with the existing large luxury brand
customers, the Group has well established new business relationships with
certain internationally recognized luxury brands and property developers for
their sizeable projects mainly in the PRC. Considering the huge development
potential of the luxury brands in the PRC, we are confident our exposure in
the PRC market will be very promising upon the recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic.

Upon the gradual relaxation of the COVID-19 related restriction policy in the
western countries, the Group’s exposure to the business in these countries,
especially in European countries, is expected to have a speedy recovery.
During the Year, a significant increase of approximately 216% in revenue in
the European countries as compared with that in 2021 was recorded as a result
of the resume of certain large luxury hotel projects in the United Kingdom
which were previously delayed.

Also, the Group kept monitoring the expense structure and did implement cost
reduction exercise to reduce the operating costs to upkeep its competitiveness.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The increase in consolidated net loss of the Group was due to (i) the decrease
in the Group's revenue and gross profit because of the difficult situation during
the widespread of the COVID-19 pandemic as well as the growing threat of
the global recession as mentioned above; and (ii) recognition of impairment
loss on certain property, plant and equipment of the Group of approximately
HK$3.3 million (the “Impairment Loss”) due to the deteriorated economic
environment and uncertain outlook of Group’s business following the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic (2021: Nil).

The increase in gross profit margin to 29.1% in 2022 as compared with that
of approximately 21.6% in 2021 was due to the continuous strengthening
of the projects cost control and higher proportion of the high profit margin
business from design and project consultancy services over the total revenue
being recorded in 2022 (2022: approximately 9.2%; 2021: approximately
5.3%) since certain large project consultancy projects with the international
luxury brands were awarded during the Year. In the long run, the Group’s
strategy is still focusing on increasing our market share and maintaining the
competitiveness and profitability in the market.

The management of the Company would emphasize that the Impairment Loss
is primarily non-cash and non-recurring in nature and does not have any
adverse impact on the Group’s business operations and cash flow.

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

As mentioned above, due to the widespread of the COVID-19 pandemic and
the growing threats of the deteriorated economic environment, the slowdown
in implementing the business strategies in relation to renovation and new
shops/outlets roll out of certain customers of the Group was noted and thus
some projects originally scheduled to be performed during the Year have been
delayed until further notice. As such, the total revenue had been significantly
decreased by HK$46.6 million (2022: approximately HK$40.0 million; 2021:
approximately HK$86.6 million) during the Year.

Despite the uncertainties of the global situation, it is on the right track that
the Group is putting more effort to resume the overseas business as well as
strengthen the competitive advantage of the local business. The management
of the Company will continue to monitor the development of the COVID-19
pandemic and its impact on the operations and results of the Group, if any.
The Company will also keep the Shareholders updated and informed by way of
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Regarding the core business, upon the establishment and expansion of
business to the luxury hotel market over the years, the Company has gained
rich experience and connections in this field all over the world. Up to the date
of this report, several large projects in relation to the provision of millworks
and interior solutions services to the hotels of a top-tier luxury hotel group all
over the world have been awarded.
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Geographically speaking, as the Group is dedicated to putting more resources
and efforts on exploring the business opportunities in relation to the interior
solutions projects in the PRC market, very positive results have been received
recently. We have established numerous business relationship with new clients
who are internationally recognized luxury brands and property developers and
we have also been working closely with them for their expansion projects in
the PRC in recent years. Considering the gradual recovery of the COVID-19
pandemic and the huge development potential of the luxury brands in the
PRC, we believe that the Group’s business in the PRC will be very promising
in the coming years. Also, as mentioned above, upon the gradual relaxation of
the COVID-19 related restriction policy in the western countries, the Group’s
exposure to the business in these countries, especially in European countries,
is expected to have a speedy recovery soon.

Based on the high qualities of products and services provided by the Group,
the management of the Company is confident that long-term business
relationships will be built up and more projects will be undergoing in the near
future.

In addition to the core business, in order to broaden the income sources, the
Company has been exploring business opportunities for developing the online
game business. Up to the date of this report, the Company is still exploring
the suitable business partner to co-operate in a form of strategic co-operation
alliance or other possible way of development. The Company will keep the
Shareholders updated and informed by way of announcement(s) as and when
appropriate. The management of the Company is confident that such a move is
creating strong values to the stakeholders of the Group.

Last but not least, the Group has been making efforts to solicit potential
acquisition targets which may have synergy with the existing business of the
Group for its ongoing strategic growth and such strategy remains unchanged in
the coming years.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generated revenue principally from providing four major
categories of sales and services, mainly including: (i) sales of millwork,
furniture and facade fabrication (2022: approximately HK$9.6 million;
2021: approximately HK$21.9 million), (ii) interior solutions services (2022:
approximately HK$26.0 million; 2021: approximately HK$59.5 million), (iii)
design and project consultancy services (2022: approximately HK$3.7 million;
2021: approximately HK$4.6 million) and (iv) maintenance services (2022:
approximately HK$0.7 million; 2021: approximately HK$0.6 million).

Revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 53.8% from approximately
HK$86.6 million in 2021 to approximately HK$40.0 million in 2022. The
decrease in revenue was mainly due to the uncertain global economic
environment following the widespread of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Year, the aggregate revenue derived from the five largest brands
was approximately HK$28.8 million (representing approximately 72.0%
of total revenue) as compared with that of approximately HK$51.3 million
(representing approximately 59.2% of total revenue) in 2021.

Direct cost

Direct cost of the Group primarily consisted of costs of material and
subcontracting charges. Direct cost decreased by approximately 58.3% from
approximately HK$67.9 million in 2021 to approximately HK$28.3 million
in 2022, representing approximately 78.4% and 70.8% to the revenue of the
Group in 2021 and 2022 respectively. The decrease in direct cost was in line
with the decrease in revenue during the Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately 37.4% from
approximately HK$18.7 million in 2021 to approximately HK$11.7 million in
2022 which was in line with the decrease in revenue during the Year.

The increase in gross profit margin to 29.1% in 2022 as compared with that of
approximately 21.6% in 2021 was due to the continuous strengthening of the
projects cost control and higher proportion of the high profit margin business
from design and project consultancy services over the total revenue being
recorded in 2022.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of approximately HK$29.8 million (2021:
approximately HK$32.1 million) mainly consisted of operating expenses such
as employee benefits, marketing expenses and legal and professional fees, etc.
The decrease in administrative expenses by approximately HK$2.3 million
was mainly due to (i) the decrease in total employee remuneration (2022:
approximately HK$19.1 million; 2021: approximately HK$20.3 million); (ii)
the decrease in depreciation on owned property, plant and equipment (2022:
approximately HK$3.9 million; 2021: approximately HK$4.3 million); and
(iii) the decrease in legal and professional fees (2022: approximately HK$2.0
million; 2021: approximately HK$2.4 million).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense mainly represented current tax paid/payable for overseas
profits tax and deferred tax credit, if any. There was no income tax expense
recorded during the Year (2021: income tax expense of approximately
HK$21,000).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax had been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the Year.

Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries were calculated at the rates
applicable in the respective jurisdictions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group derived cash inflow mainly from operating activities primarily
through provision of services including millwork and furniture provision,
facade development and fabrication, interior solutions services and design,
maintenance and project consultancy services. Cash outflow from operating
activities primarily comprises direct costs, administrative expenses and other
operating expenses. Our net cash used in operating activities reflects our profit
or loss before income tax, as adjusted for non-cash items, such as depreciation
of property, plant and equipment and the effects of changes in working capital
items.

As at 30 June 2022, the cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
HK$23.6 million (2021: approximately HK$18.8 million) which were mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), US dollar (“USD”), Renminbi
(“RMB”) and Euro (“EUR”).

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has a bank facility of HK$15.0 million (2021:
HK$15.0 million) with Hang Seng Bank of which a bank borrowing of HK$8.0
million had been drawn down as at 30 June 2022 (2021: HK$6.0 million).

In view of the Group’s current level of cash and bank balances, funds
generated internally from operations and the bank borrowing, the Board
believes the Group is in a relatively healthy financial position and has
sufficient resources to support its operations and meet its foreseeable capital
expenditures in the coming year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2022, the authorised share capital of the Company was
HK$100,000,000 divided into 2,500,000,000 shares of the Company with
par value of HK$0.04 each and the issued share capital was HK$28,800,000
divided into 720,000,000 shares.

Share Consolidation and Change in Board Lot Size
Subsequent to the end of the Year, at the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 19 August 2022, an ordinary resolution in relation to
the share consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”) of every 10 issued and
unissued ordinary shares at par value of HK$0.04 each in the share capital of
the Company into 1 consolidated share at par value of HK$0.4 each in the
share capital of the Company was duly passed by the then Shareholders by
way of poll. The Share Consolidation took effect on 23 August 2022. Upon
the Share Consolidation took effect, the board lot size of the shares of the
Company for trading on the Stock Exchange had also been changed from
20,000 shares to 4,000 shares (the “Change in Board Lot Size”).

Relevant disclosure was made in the Company’s announcements dated 8 July
2022 and 19 August 2022 and the Company’s circular dated 29 July 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Borrowings and gearing ratio

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had bank borrowings of HK$8.0 million (2021:
HK$6.0 million) and shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$20.7 million
(2021: Nil).

The gearing ratio (calculated as bank and other borrowings divided by total
equity) was negative 2.31 as at 30 June 2022 (2021: positive 0.83). The
Group’s gearing ratio was negative as the Group’s equity was in deficit
position as at 30 June 2022.

Charge on assets

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s banking facility was secured by pledged
bank deposits of approximately HK$2.0 million (2021: approximately HK$6.8
million) and investment property of approximately HK$8.1 million (2021: Nil).

Contingent liabilities
As at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investment held as at 30 June 2022 nor
any plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Year, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies or joint ventures by the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 August 2016 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Company had not granted any share options under the
Share Option Scheme up to 30 June 2022.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had 36 employees (2021: 39 employees). Total
employee benefits (including Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration)
were approximately HK$19.1 million (2021: approximately HK$20.3
million). The Group remunerates its employees based on their qualifications,
performance, experience and prevailing industry practice. Competitive
remuneration package is offered to retain elite employees, including salaries,
medical insurance, discretionary bonuses as well as mandatory provident fund
schemes for employees in Hong Kong. Apart from basic remuneration, share
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible employees
on the basis of their individual performance to attract and retain talents to
contribute the Group. In order to achieve a standard and quality production
of works and to develop individual’s potential, the Group’s employees are
encouraged to attend monthly sharing sessions, lectures and training courses
which related to the nature of their duties. In addition to internal trainings, the
Group also encourages employees to enroll in courses organised by external
organisations and institutes.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no material capital commitment (2021:
Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adheres to prudent financial management principle to control and
minimise financial and operational risks. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in
USD, RMB, EUR and Great Britain Pound. The management of the Company is
aware of the possible exchange rate exposure due to the continuing fluctuation
of RMB and EUR and will closely monitor its impact on the performance of the
Group to see if any hedging policy is necessary. Presently, there is no hedging
policy with respect to the foreign exchange exposure.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed in the sub-section headed “Share Consolidation and Change in
Board Lot Size” above, the Share Consolidation and Change in Board Lot Size
took effect on 23 August 2022.

Subsequent to the end of the Year, the Group has further drawn down
HK$4,000,000 from the loan facility from its shareholder.

On 7 September 2022, the Group further obtained an unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest of 2% per annum amounted
to HK$13,000,000 from its shareholder for two years from the date of
loan facility. Up to the date of this report, the Group had drawn down
HK$3,000,000 and the unutilised loan facility available for drawdown
amounted to HK$10,000,000.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance.

Save as the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code (which has been
re-numbered as code provision C.2.1 in the new CG Code that came into effect
on 1 January 2022) (“Code Provision A.2.1“) as described, below, the Board
considers that the Company has fully complied, to the extent applicable and
permissible, with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the Year.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the
Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established
four Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee
(together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year ended 30 June 2022 and as at the date of this annual report,
the Board composition is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie

Mr. Lau King Lok (Resigned with effect from 9 September 2022)
Mr. Lam Wing Hung (Appointed on 16 September 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin (Appointed on 28 September 2021)

Mr. Shing Wai Yip (Retired upon conclusion of the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 3 December 2021 (the “2021 ACM”))
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The profile of the current Directors is set out on pages 8 to 13 of this annual
report. Save as disclosed in the profile of the Directors that Mr. Lee Wai Sang
is the spouse of Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie and the brother-in-law of Mr. Leung
Pak Yin, and Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie is the sister of Mr. Leung Pak Yin, the
Board members do not have any family, financial, business or other material/
relevant relationship among themselves.

During the Year, the Company has been in compliance with the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least one
independent non-executive director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, the Company has also complied with the requirement of
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 requires the roles between the chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The chairman is responsible for the overall leadership and
strategic planning of the Group. The chief executive officer is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and operations.

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (“Mr. Lee”) assumes the roles of both the chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”). In view of Mr. Lee’s extensive experience in the
industry, personal profile and critical role in the Group and its historical
development, the Board considers that it is beneficial to the business prospects
of the Group that Mr. Lee continues to act as both the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer. The Board believes that vesting both the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person has the benefit of
providing a strong and consistent leadership to the Group and allows for more
effective planning and management of the Group. In addition, the Board is
of the view that the balanced composition of executive and the independent
non-executive Directors on the Board and the various committees of the Board
(primarily comprising independent non-executive Directors) in overseeing
different aspects of the Company’s affairs would provide adequate safeguards
to ensure a balance of power and authority. The Board will continue to
review and consider splitting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold Board meetings regularly at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days
will be given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and propose matters to be discussed in the meeting
agenda.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying documents are dispatched
to the Directors or Board Committee members at least five days before the
meetings, the agreed period determined by the Board, to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings.

When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes
of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are/will be recorded
in sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board and the
Board Committee and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meetings and Board Committee
meetings are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable
time after the date on which the meeting is held.

During the Year, the Board held eleven meetings and passed resolutions by
way of written resolutions. The attendance of the Board members at the above
meetings is set out in the below section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

GENERAL MEETING

During the Year, one general meeting, being the 2021 AGM held on 3
December 2021. The attendance of the Board members at the general meeting
is set out in the below section headed “Attendance at Board and Board
Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND BOARD
COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL
MEETING

Attendance of each Director at all the Board meetings, Board Committee

EEEREEEZR ST URKRRAEN
EERER

meetings and general meetings held during the Year is set out as follows:

Board  Committee

meetings meetings

EE B

Name of Director BEA 2% ZEe93

BEFNAEEMBANLHESCEE EFEREE
SRARBERAENHERREATWT -
Risk
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination ~Management
Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
meeting meeting meetings Meeting
& i BRER
2884 28888 ZBeeF RRAg

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Lee Wai Sang TRERE 1 NATER n 11 NATER n
Mr. Lau King Lok (Note 1) e Sl 11 NATER  NATER  NATER 2 n
Mr. Leung Pak Yin RAA%E 11 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER n
Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (Note 2)  REH& L (#ii2) 11 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER n
Independent non-executive Directors BIFH{TES

Mr. So Chi Hang HEERE 11711 33 17 1 22 17
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin ZEERE 11 33 n n 2 n
Mr. Shing Wai Yip (Note 3) REXEE Wi23) 4/4 11 NATER  NATER  NATER n
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin (Note 4) LEERE M) 71 200 NAMER  NATER  NATER 1

Notes: Kirst -

1.

026

Mr. Lau King Lok resigned as an executive Director and ceased to be a member of the
Risk Management Committee, both with effect from 9 September 2022.

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie has been a member of the Risk Management Committee
with effect from 9 September 2022.

Mr. Shing Wai Yip retired as an independent non-executive Director upon conclusion
of the 2021 AGM and ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee following his
retirement. His attendance above were stated by reference to the number of meetings
held during his tenure.

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin has been an independent non-executive Director with effect from 28
September 2021 and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 3 December
2021. His attendance above was stated by reference to the number of meetings held
during his tenure.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the
CG Code. The Audit Committee has three members, all being independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin and Mr. Tsang Ho Yin. Mr. So Chi
Hang possesses the appropriate professional qualifications required under the
Listing Rules.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review the interim
and annual results of the Company and to supervise the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group and make
recommendations to the Board of the appointment and removal of the external
auditor as well as corporate governance related matters. The Audit Committee
has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is provided
with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the Year. In addition to the
Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also dealt with matters by
way of written resolutions during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year is
listed below:

e Discussed the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021;

e Reviewed the Group’s annual financial results for the year ended 30 June
2021 and interim financial results for the six months ended 31 December
2021;

e Reviewed the documents and other matters or issues raised by the
Company’s auditor, the continuing connected transactions carried out
during the year ended 30 June 2021 and considered re-appointment of
the Company’s auditor;

e Reviewed terms of engagement of an external consultant in relation to
the provision of internal audit services based upon the agreed procedures
on systems and controls of the Group and the internal controls at entity
level for the year ended 30 June 2022;

e Discussed the findings on the review of risk management and internal
control systems and the management’s response;

e Reviewed the internal audit planning memorandum for the three years
ended 30 June 2022; and

e Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the
year ended 30 June 2021 and the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Company.

The attendance of the Audit Committee members at the above meetings is set
out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee
Meetings and General Meeting”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee has three members, two of whom are independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, and one of
whom is an executive Director, namely, Mr. Lee Wai Sang. The Remuneration
Committee has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to determine the
policies in relation to human resources management, to review the Company’s
remuneration policies and to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages for Directors and senior management of the Company.

The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their
respective experience and responsibilities with the Group and the general
market conditions. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach
under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make recommendations to
the Board on remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year, at which
the Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed of the existing policy
and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
of the Company, and considered and recommended to the Board on the
remuneration of the proposed independent non-executive Director.

The attendance of the Remuneration Committee members at the above
meeting is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of three members, one of whom is an executive Director,
namely Mr. Lee Wai Sang (chairman of the Nomination Committee), and two
of whom are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Chi Hang
and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin. The Nomination Committee has access to
independent professional advice, if required, and is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and diversity (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board. In assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in
the board diversity policy of the Company adopted by the Board on 22 August
2016 (“Board Diversity Policy”).

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment
of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall
be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective
carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set
out as follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

(b)  taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-executive
Director) and other relevant Board Committee(s), if invited;
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PEELEE

(d)  bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board, giving  (d)
the Board and any committee on which he or she serves the benefit of
his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and qualifications
and diversity through attendance and participation in the Board/Board
Committee meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate  (e)
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

(f)  ensuring the Board Committees on which he or she serves to perform  (f)
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

(@) conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may from (g
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitutional
documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or the Listing
Rules, where appropriate.

BATHLEN2REZENARERENZES
SRINARE EXAE TRAERREEES
TRESE /E2EREETR—RIINBEN
MBER:

FHALTERABTHLERRRNERS &
EEENEE

%1%}5&%%%575% EERTES R T MmE
akitliA:

AETEFE R ALHNTARANAREREX
- JOEBIFRE - RELHRA(NER) 2 EF
BRI - BRRRH

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year, at which the REZZEERAFERT—NEH ReLET T

following work was performed: ff

e Reviewed the composition, size and diversity of the Board; o
e Assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director; o

*  Made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the retiring ¢
Directors at the 2021 AGM; and

. Made recommendation of new Director candidate for the Board’s e
approval.

EHEFEMAN  RERKBS T
AR BUFNTERMELM

REE-_T_-FRRBFAGLZEAEZNE
SeFhEE

REFEZREAZRBNGES A -

The executive Directors were appointed based on their qualification and ~HTEFEREENERREALEEEBBHRNLRES
experience in relation to the Group’s business. The independent non-executive  ff « BUFMTESRIBRFEENEZERRHEENE S
Directors were appointed based on their professional qualifications and ~ EFHLHREZT -

experience in their respective areas.
The attendance of the Nomination Committee members at the above meeting 12

is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board =
Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Risk Management Committee consists of three members, two of whom are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin
(chairman of the Risk Management Committee) and Mr. So Chi Hang, and one
of whom is an executive Director, namely Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie. The
Risk Management Committee has access to independent professional advice, if
required, and is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are to review the
Company’s risk management policies and standards and to monitor the
Company’s exposure to sanctions legal risks.

The Risk Management Committee held two meetings during the Year.
The meetings were held to review the compliance by the Group with its

undertakings to the Stock Exchange, further details of which are set out below:

e Reviewed, evaluated and confirmed the effectiveness of the internal
control policies and procedures with respect to sanctions legal matters;

e Reviewed and identified the Company’s risk exposure;
e Reviewed the reports of internal control and risk management systems;
e Reviewed the Company’s risk management policies and guidelines;

e Reviewed the internal audit planning memorandum for the three years
ended 30 June 2022; and

e Reviewed the disclosure in the corporate governance report for the year
ended 30 June 2021 relating to the compliance with risk management
and internal control code provisions of the CG Code.
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The Company has undertaken to the Stock Exchange that it will comply with
certain undertakings that it will not use the proceeds from the Share Offer
as well as any other funds raised through the Stock Exchange, to finance or
facilitate, directly or indirectly, activities or business with, or for the benefit
of, any countries (“Sanctioned Countries”) which are the targets of economic
sanctions as administered by the US, the European Union (“EU”), the United
Nations and Australia or certain persons and entities listed on the Specially
Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List of the United States Department
of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) or other restricted
parties lists maintained by the EU, the United Nations or Australia, including,
without limitation, any government, individual or entity that is the subject of
any OFAC-administered sanctions (“Sanctioned Persons”).

As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 August 2016 (the
“Prospectus”), the Board had developed its system on evaluating the sanctions
risks prior to determining whether the Company should embark on any
business opportunities in the Sanctioned Countries and with Sanctioned
Persons. Under the system, advices from reputable external international
legal counsels with necessary expertise and experience in matters relating to
sanction-related laws and regulations issued by the US, the EU, Australia or
the United Nations would be seek if the Company encounter any possible
sanctions risk. During the Year, the Risk Management Committee had
conducted a review of the system’s effectiveness in preventing any prohibited
or otherwise restricted sales to the Sanctioned Countries and the Sanctioned
Persons.

The attendance of the Risk Management Committee members at the above
meetings is set out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 22 August 2016. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. A truly diverse Board will include and
make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences
will be taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into
account diversity (including but not limited to skills, professional experience,
educational background, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age
and gender).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting Shareholders’
expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend
policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate
reserves for the Group’s future growth. In proposing any dividend payout,
the Company would consider various factors including but not limited to the
Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, expected working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position,
future expansions plans, the amount of retained profits and distributable
reserves of the Company, general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business, other internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Group and any other
factors that the Board deems relevant.

Any declaration and payment of the dividends by the Company will be
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands,
the Company’s memorandum and the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”), the Listing Rules and any other applicable laws
and regulations. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may
be declared or paid by the Company in the future. The dividend policy shall in
no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Group in respect of its
future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, independent
non-executive Directors, continued to be appointed for a term of one year
commencing from 9 September 2022, subject to renewal upon expiry of the
existing term.

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin, an independent non-executive Director, continued to be
appointed for a period from 28 September 2022 to 8 September 2023, subject
to renewal upon expiry of the existing term.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of Mr. Lee Wai Sang, Mr. Leung Pak Yin and Ms. Leung Mo Shan
Jackie, the executive Directors, has renewed his/her service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from 9 September 2022, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either party
on the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles of Association.

Mr. Lam Wing Hung, the executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term commencing from 16 September 2022
to 8 September 2023, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set
out in the Articles of Association.

Each of Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, the independent
non-executive Directors, has renewed his letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from 9 September 2022, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either party
on the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles of Association.

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin, an independent non-executive Director, has renewed his
letter of appointment with the Company for a period from 28 September 2022
to 8 September 2023, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice served by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set
out in the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service agreement which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

The rules and procedures governing the appointment, retirement, re-election
and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board structure,
size and composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.
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NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RETIREMENT
AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election and re-appointment at each annual
general meeting provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Any new Director so appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any new Director, so appointed as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company
after his or her appointment and be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions of the
Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the Year.

The Group’s senior management who, because of their offices in the
Company are likely to possess inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance with the Model Code by such employees was noted by the
Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS” CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. All Directors
are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties with care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of
the Group. The Company continuously updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory and
statutory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the Year to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the Year is set out ~ SEERRFEDEZIE 2 EAZSZSFINT :

below:
Type of Training
Name of Director EEAA BIIEE
Mr. Lee Wai Sang FRELE B
Mr. Lau King Lok e S A, B
Mr. Leung Pak Yin REALE B
Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie REMa+ B
Mr. So Chi Hang HEELLE A B
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin FERLE A B
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin BEBRL A B
Notes: it -
A.  attending or participating in seminars/workshops/trainings relating to directors’ duties  A. ERISHEHESRERCEE AW S/ T/
and corporate governance Al
B.  reading materials/watch on webcasts of regulatory update B. MERNEEEN /BERVEERR
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EZREREEEMS
EMOLUMENTS
For the Year, the emoluments of the Directors and members of the senior RAAFE  RATHEHEANEEZNSREEEKEH
management within the following bands were as follows: 0T
For the year ended
30 June 2022
T ——
Emoluments Band [l e NAZTRLEFE
|
HK$1,000,000 and below 1,000,000/ 7T &2 LA T 8
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T - 1,500,000/%5 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T =
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T - 2,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 7 - 3,000,000/% 7T =
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 7T — 3,500,000/ 7T =

Further details of the remuneration of Directors and five highest paid HABEZREUSSFATHE 2 E—SEBEERTER
individuals have been set out in notes 8 and 9 to the audited consolidated — F[{58%9 ¢
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to BDO Limited is set out
below:

R H R

Services Rendered

BEERRE

BB &

AECNIENIGRFEHMEBEMERATNME D
FrEsmT

Fee paid/payable for
the year ended

30 June 2022
. ——
ANAZTHILEFE
BN/ RN ER
(HK$'000)

(T#7T)

Annual audit service for the year ended 30 June 2022

FEET RS

BE_ZT-__FRA=THILLFEZ

638

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare accounts
of the Group and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and the Company’s management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make informed assessments of the financial and other
decisions.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company in respect of its reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the Year is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in this
annual report.

INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS” AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITIES

The Company has arranged for liability insurance cover to indemnify the
Directors and the senior management of the Company.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board’s Responsibilities for the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and oversees such systems on an ongoing basis,
while ensuring a review of the effectiveness of these systems of the Group
is conducted at least annually through the Audit Committee. The scope of
such review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions are adequate. However, the Board recognizes that
no cost effective internal control and risk management systems will preclude
all errors and irregularities as such systems are designed to managing risks
rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal

Control Systems

The internal control system and procedures of the Company are designed to
meet specific business needs and to minimize risk exposure. The Company
adopted different internal guidelines, along with written policies and
procedures to monitor and reduce the impact of risks which are relevant to the
Group’s business and control daily business operations.

During the Year, Richard Poon & Partners Risk Management Limited, an
independent consultant, had been engaged for an enterprise risk assessment,
which was conducted under the approach adopted in the “COSO Enterprise
Risk Management - Integrated Framework”. According to the assessment
result, management has established an enterprise risk register, submitted an
assessment report containing recommendations to the Board and to enable
the Board to effectively monitor the business risks and understand how
management responds and mitigates the risks.
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Process used to ldentify, Evaluate and Manage

Significant Risks

The management of the Company is the ultimate risk management,
decision-making body. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for
deciding the risk level and risk appetite of the Group and considering the
Group’s risk management strategies and giving guidelines where appropriate. It
also has the responsibility of overseeing the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems on an outgoing basis and ensure that a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
has been conducted at least annually.

The Company has formulated an enterprise risk management process to
effectively manage the risks faced by the Company. The process clearly
defines four procedures for the Company’s management of risks, including
identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting.

In the event of risk identification, management communicates with the
operational functions and collects significant risk factors affecting the
Company from bottom to top. These risk factors are included as enterprise risk
register.

Management evaluates the risks in the register and prioritizes them for
follow-up actions according to their potential impact, occurrence opportunity
and sufficiency of current measures tackling the risks. The risk register is
reviewed at least once a year, new risks are added while existing risks are
removed, if necessary, after the assessment.

The changes are reported to the Board at a timely manner. This process can
effectively ensure that the Company takes the initiative to manage the risks
it faces and that all risk holders are aware of their liability so that they can
develop appropriate and effective measures in time to control the risks.
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Process used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to

Resolve Material Internal Control Defects

The Company has implemented an internal control system to minimize the
risks to which the Company is exposed to and used as a management tool for
day-to-day business operation. Review is conducted once a year.

The Company engaged an independent consultant, Richard Poon & Partners
Risk Management Limited, to carry out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2022. The results of the
independent review and assessment were reported to the Board and Board
Committees.

Based on the review results for the Year, the management has made a
confirmation to the Board that the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and sufficient. The Board, through the Risk
Management Committee and the Audit Committee, had conducted review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022. The Board was satisfied with
the review results and considered the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate, in particular, for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance. No significant areas of concern that might affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management functions of
the Group were identified.

The Board will continue to review and improve the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems in accordance with the existing
regulatory requirements, the interests of Shareholders and the growth and
development of the Company’s business.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling

and Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group (i) carries out its daily operation
with regards to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission; and (ii) closely communicate with
its legal advisor regarding whether the relevant information is likely to have
impact on the price of the Company’s shares or their trading volume and thus
is considered as inside information that needs to be disclosed pursuant to the
Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules.

To comply with the SFO, the Company has also developed internal control
mechanisms for handling and disseminating inside information, including
information flow and reporting processes, confidentiality arrangement,
disclosure procedures and staff trainings. In addition, whistleblowing policy
has been adopted. Accordingly, effective channels will be set up to encourage
employees to report incidents of alleged misconduct or fraud.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board has
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, as opposed
to diverting resources to establish a separate internal audit department, it
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
department.

TRAINING FOR COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board is of the view that Mr. Lam Wing Hung, the Company Secretary,
is qualified and has appropriate experience to discharge his duties. Mr. Lam
Wing Hung had received not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year. The Company will provide Mr. Lam Wing Hung with
sufficient resources to receive not less than 15 hours of professional training
for every financial year as required by the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS" RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by the Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board. The written requisition must specify the business to be
transacted on the meeting, which shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails
to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting, the Shareholder(s)
concerned may themselves convene an extraordinary general meeting, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholder(s) making the requisition as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to such Shareholder(s) by
the Company.

Save for the procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting as set out above, there are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put
forward proposals at the general meeting under the Articles of Association.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such written
requisition. The written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the relevant Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, 20th
Floor, 625 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to

the Board

Shareholder(s) may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing through the Company Secretary by post at 20th Floor, 625 King's
Road, North Point, Hong Kong, or via email at the contact information as
provided on the website of the Company.

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholder(s)’ enquiries and
concerns to the Board and/or relevant Board Committees, where appropriate,
to respond to the Shareholder(s)’ questions.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective and proper investor relations play
a vital role in creating Shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. The Company
discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions. Updated key information and business development of the Group
are also available on the Company’s website to enable Shareholders and
investors to have timely access to information about the Group.

The Company also endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through general meetings which provides a
forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the Board.
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available at the general
meetings of the Company to address Shareholders” queries.

The Company will continue to take measures to ensure effective Shareholders’
communication and transparency.

There has been no change in the Articles of Association since 12 September
2016, being the date on which the Company’s shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, and up to date version of the Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THE REPORT

As one of the top providers of interior design solutions, CROSSTEC Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter the
“Group”, “we” and “us”) strive to provide professional integrated design
solutions that comprise design ideas, fabricated material and furniture
provision to the global luxury goods and high-end fashion brands with
retail outlets across the world. Our majority of served clients with footprints
in various parts of the world including Hong Kong, Mainland China, the
United States, Europe, Middle East and other Asian countries. The Group
acknowledges that it is fundamental to incorporate sustainable approaches
into our business prospects, we abide by the idea of socially responsible
and sustainable business operations. We are committed to strategizing and
formulating environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives and
standards to provide great benefits for our community.

We are pleased to publish our annual ESG report (the “ESG Report”)
and provide information on the Group’s ESG management approaches,
environmental and social performance from the year 1 July 2021 to 30
June 2022 (the “Reporting Period” or “2021/22"). The scope of the ESG
report covers our key business services, including 1) millwork and furniture
provision, 2) facade development and fabrication, 3) interior solutions,
4) design and project consultancy and 5) maintenance services. For the
disclosure of environmental performance data, the Group mainly focuses on
the business operation in the Hong Kong office. For details of our corporate
governance, please refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 23 to 42 of this annual report.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as
set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), as well as
adhering to the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide. Except for provisions that the Group considers inapplicable to our
operations, for which explanations are illustrated in the corresponding section.
The ESG Report has been reviewed and approved by the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”) on 27 September 2022.

This ESG Report has been published on the website of the Stock Exchange and
the Company’s website at www.crosstec.com.hk.

S@EELRARAS CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited © © o o o 043

RiE HERERES

BRA R &

HREEERERAF(ARE) REMBAR (4
%MEIHN%H)%ZW&HmﬁEZﬁ%MEﬁZ
— BARREREEARETEERNZREREER
kB HmEEREEENGARABANR  BER
AR ARMHREERE - RAXBLFF RIER
HRTRE - BREEE  fENY X8 BN PR
REMZNER - FEEHRG  BAUKEERISHBAE
BASBEEE  ARRSUHERANEREIURA
BENKBEERN - AMBIRER e RER (R
B RER])BELMBENTRE YEEARS
RREURHERREESS

ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁiﬁ teREREE ((RE -
HEREREE])  URAKER-_T_-FtA-AZ
I St A JFEEF(WI%*HHJW_?_ -
FE D) ORS LR REATESENRRE RS AR
REER - RE HERELRRENBEREAZENE

RER BE: V2R EBRARRLEERE: DF
TREREE NERRATE ARG REREA R

SRERE - AEBMBENREENNETIEETNE
BRAZMEREE - BECELTANGEE  B284AF
REBENB[CEERRE]—F -

ﬁ%ﬁw
BRI HERERRENREFEBARIMERA
(T8 327 ) % iR IR ka7 Fsten (R 3% - ﬁA&a

RFEHEIDRE - HEREARERS ) R LET
B e RERREESIMENTETHER]EC
ERKERATMERRAMEL O EXRI (AERES

NEAEEHPREM) - FRE HEREAREEN-Z
“ZEAAZHEERARAERE ((ESE)EHRY
fE e

RRE  HERERREC T ERBRAELELAR R

U5 (www.crosstec.com.hk) ©



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HERERTE

ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Reporting Principles
The Group has compiled the ESG Report in accordance with the following
reporting principles.

Materiality

e The Group has identified the materiality of ESG topics by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment. The details are explained in the
section of “Materiality Assessment”.

Quantitative

e The Group has disclosed the information on the standards,
methodologies and source of conversion factors used for the reporting of
emissions and energy consumption. Please refer to the relevant section in
the ESG Report for details.

Balance

e The ESG Report has been presented the Group’s environmental and
social performance on an impartial basis to provide an objective
reporting disclosure for readers.

Consistency

e The methodology adopted for disclosing key environmental and social
performance indicators is consistent with that of the previous reporting
period.

Contact and Feedback

A trusted relationship with our community is crucial for our business
sustainability. We strive to manage the Group in the best interests of our
stakeholders. Your valued feedback will help us to enhance our management
approaches on ESG matters. Should you have any comments or suggestions
regarding our ESG Report or ESG initiatives, please contact us via the following
channels:

*  Website: http://www.crosstec.com.hk
o Tel: (852) 2690-1223
e Email: info@crosstec.com.hk
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ESG GOVERNANCE
Board Oversight

A well-established ESG governance structure can strengthen the Group’s ESG
management and integrate sustainable ideologies into our value chain. The
Board has the utmost responsibility in managing the Group’s ESG opportunities
and risks by supervising regular discussion and evaluation of ESG strategies,
material ESG issues, risk management, and performance.

The Board authorises our senior management to discharge its duties, so
as to exert the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG governance. Our senior
management, formed with representatives from different departments, is
responsible for facilitating the Board in reviewing, assessing and making
recommendations on the ESG measures adopted by operational units to fulfil
the determined goals. Our senior management reports the ESG issues and the
progress of implemented measures and performance to the Board regularly.
Our departmental units assist in the implementation of the ESG management
and practices, ESG data collection and performance track as well as reporting
relevant limitations and difficulties encountered to our senior management for
refining the management approaches.

Board of Directors

58 .

BAREHERE
. EOEBIEHY
Senior Management :

EREEE :

review

Departmental Units

Gl .
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RE HERERRE

EZgEE

RENBE HEREOAREBTANEEEENHE
% HEREREE  WHTRARROBABARMY
EEE - EEQEERALENBE HERERBEN
RRBARLER YWRS HERELKK BAR
% HRREREE  BREBNARETE SRR
fh e

EEERERAEEEBRITARE UBEARERE
HEREDARORY - AFNBRERE A TR
REAH - AEGHEFERMN  FENEAEBHMA
ERFE B EMERNERSE HERERER - RANE
RERETHRNEZTSRERE HEREARZEUR
BB ERMEN - RANBPIBHERRS  HE
RERERAER R HeRELaBBRENERE
B YREREEERSABRAIMEEMR  AxE
BRIE .

* Identify, analyse and evaluate ESG risks and opportunities
BH - DT REHERE  HERERARREKE
e Formulate long-term direction, strategy and target setting
HERDIH  RERER
e Determine and review the materiality of ESG topics
EERBHRS HEREAABNEEN
Allocate and provide sufficient resources for ESG management
ARE HEEAEEIRRRHEEHER
e Review and approve the annual ESG report

ERRBEFERE HEREARE

e Coordinate the communication with stakeholders
e Conduct materiality assessment

Formulate ESG policies and work plans

HIERE B RERRERT (FaH 8l

Manage and monitor ESG implementation, performance and targets

ERNEERE HEBRE)

e Coordinate the greparation of the ESG report
BHERE  HEREARENRER

* Report ESG-related matters to the Board regularly
mﬁ%l‘ﬂ%%@iﬁ%iﬁ% HEREREE

ER BULER

¢ Collaborate the ESG management and initiatives along the daily operation
BRE HEREREERERBRARREE
e Collect relevant ESG data for reporting disclosure and performance

RBERE AR RERRRS  HERERURE
Refine the data collection and monitoring methodology to better track
the performance progress of key performance indicators and targets

REHBREREENE  NERENBRENERR A RARER
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

Board Oversight (continued)

Followed with the enterprise risk management process, including
identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting, the Group conducted
risk analysis and identified corresponding risk areas for further review of their
impacts on our business operations. The change of risks will be timely reported
to the Risk Management Committee and the Board and determine appropriate
and effective measures for risk control and mitigation.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands that it is crucial for us to maintain stakeholder
engagement on a regular basis. Through effective communication with
stakeholders, their perspectives and visions of our stakeholders provide us
with a better understanding of their outlooks and perspectives related to the
future progression of the Group’s business operations and ESG management.
The following table demonstrated the identified key stakeholder groups and
the communication channels adopted for stakeholder engagement to provide
effective communications for our stakeholders.

BE HERERRE A

ESESEE(A)
BRECEERERRE  BREER A SHRERE
AREETRRO MY ECARRARSEL  UE—FEE
AUAREB2ENTE - AROZLCERERRRE R
ZEGREFENRT  YBTEERAMNEREHMNE
R -

BhESH

TEERA BROHERBTHEBHAMERER B
BESNEFNERR ARZEFHENBHENRS &
R TRBNESTEEXBEEEZRRERARR
B HEREAEENRENEH - TRIAPCSARNT
ERNEERARESNE2EMRANERRE IR
VERBNENEWER -

Stakeholders Communication Channel Stakeholders’ Concerns and Expectations

‘& BERE B ENEENHE
|
Customers e Company website  High quality of services
'F SR BRI
o Client interviews *  Privacy protection
Lyahil RIS
e Regular meetings
THemn
e Customer feedback and complaints
EFERRBRIGH
e Mutual visit and site survey
B RBSHRE
Business partners * On-going direct engagement e Fair competition and business integrity
(Service providers HEERHME NS IFSE I
and contractors) o Supplier selection and performance assessment ®  Long-term cooperating relationship
EBBH PR R A AGHE REAGIERE
(RBHERRLD 2E) ¢ Procurement and tendering
REBRAR
e Site inspection
RSt
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R HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued)

Stakeholders

Communication Channel

BOESHEE)

Stakeholders’ Concerns and Expectations

BiE BERE KOENEINRE
Employees e Emails e Remuneration and benefits
35} EFHH AL
* Regular meetings e Career development
THem o
e Business briefings e Protection of employee rights
FHER {RAE (R 2R
e Annual staff performance review e Occupational health and safety
FREBTRANE BERENZZ
e Employee training e Corporate support
(H2EE] REXHF
e Employee activities
EEE
Shareholders and e Company website e Sustainable investment returns and business
investors RAME development
R R HE * Annual general meetings RERECRREBER
RRBFAE ¢ Transparent financial information
* Investor relation meetings ERNMTHER
REXHRES Operation compliance
o Corporate announcements and communications 2EAH

Government and
regulators

BRMEE#E

Community

iR

RARERER
Annual and interim reports

FERERPHRE

Regular document submission
EHRR M

Regular communication with regulatory
authorities

BEERETHRR

Compliance inspections and assessments
BRRE R

Circulars, standards and guidelines

B - 28| R g5

Forum, seminar and conference

wE - Faekes

Emails and phones
ETHHRES
Charitable activities and voluntary services

RERDREIRSG
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Operation compliance
2EAM

Fulfilment of tax obligations
B8biEs

Job opportunity creation

BlEp RS

Participation in local community
SEAMHEEE
Support for community welfare and investment

XF B EMTRE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT ERME

The Group conducted a materiality assessment, as facilitated by an external ~ ASEEINPERME R TETESMTE - ARTHA
consultant, to recognize the ESG topics that are material to the Group and ~ KERFHEMEBEEMNRE HERELZE - BR
our stakeholders. With the materiality assessment, the Group could direct the ~ EE{:HE - AEBARERE  HEREARB L ERE
formulation of ESG strategy and reporting disclosure. BEZHIET

EEMFENRE

Process of materiality assessment

Step 2 -
T

Identification of

relevant ESG topics

BEINEE AR  HER

EhEE

® Based on the Group's
existing businesses, the
requirements of ESG
reporting guidelines, and
industry ESG management
priorities, potential ESG
topics were identified.

REAKENREXS -
B HeREamatE
SIERTE A SRITRERE -
HELEREENELE
I8 - HBIBERIRE - A

& fara VAN 3=
2 NERERE °
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Review of materiality
matrix and material
ESG topics

FREEMEREREER

B HERELHE

® Considering the business
operations, industry
development trends, ESG
related standards and
guidelines, together with
the material ESG topics
identified last year, we
then reviewed and updated
the materiality matrix with
ESG topics that are
material to the Group.
RBZ R’5 - HERE
BHRRERIREES| - LA

FETMERRE i

SRERE  RMIBERY
BB HAREMNE B
B2MRE HERER

FENEEMEE -
\_" Y,

Response to material

ESG topics

EEEERE  HERE

7]

® According to the
materiality of ESG issues
and key concern of our
key stakeholders, we
determined the focus area
of ESG managrment as
well as the direction of
the reporting disclosure.
RIERE - @ NEAE
BHEREU LT ER D
EMIBMIEERE - #M
RERE  HENERE
B A R R
N
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued)

With reference to the ESG Reporting Guide and global reporting standard (e.g.
GRI), and by considering the current business operations and development,
we have identified a list of 25 ESG topics which are material to the Group’s
business operation and our stakeholders. Our stakeholders (e.g. customers,
business partners, employees etc.) are invited to share their opinions on
the Group’s ESG management via an online questionnaire, by ranking the
materiality of the identified ESG topics towards the stakeholders themselves as
well as the Group’s business operation.

The materiality of each ESG topic is illustrated in the below materiality
matrix after an internal evaluation. The ESG topics that are recognized as
high importance fall in the top right quadrant of the matrix. The result of the
materiality matrix and the identified material ESG topics are reviewed and
finalised by senior management and the Board.

During the Reporting Period, with the fifth wave of the COVID-19 epidemic
being rapid and fierce, the Group recognizes the rising significance of relevant
employment and labour practices, and operational practices. Under our
internal review together with the latest market trends, the Group identified that
ESG topics including: (i) occupational health and safety, (i) customer health
and safety, (iii) customer satisfaction, and (iv) supply chain management, are
attached with greater materiality than previous years, with respect to both
our business and stakeholders. Given the materiality of these ESG topics,
the Group will provide adequate resources to enhance the performances in
relevant aspects.
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RBREHEER  BERE HERELMAEERUENE
ARTXMEZHEETHE - BRASREEENRE
HeLERRRLNEENE LA EZHRENERMN
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SELUFRRTER
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) BEMTG(E)

HENENEENY

Importance to the stakeholders

Low importance

RE21E

Importance to the business operation of the Group

HESEXKEENEEM
‘ Environmental Issues 3R EH . Operational Practices 7% % %
‘ Employment and Labour Practices Bt % & %5 T% R O Community Issues #[EEET
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) BEMTG(E)

Aspects ESG Topics
Em RE - EREREE
Environment . Air emission
BE BESRBER
Energy efficiency
BEIR M 2R
Greenhouse gas emissions
BEREHER
Climate change and response
RAREL K FEH
Waste management
R EE
Water and wastewater management
KR EEKER
Green office
BERLE
Green procurement
BRERE
Materials selection and use

RERERDH

Employment and . Employment rights and benefits
labour practices BMEEFREF
MERETER . Employee recruitment and retention
STHBERGHE
. Employee engagement
SETZH
. Diversity and equal opportunities
ERRFPERE
. Occupational health and safety
BEREREZS
. Employee training and career development
ETHIRBERRE
. Elimination of child and forced labour
HERE TR IRELEE)
Operational . Service quality control
practices PR 7% R B 4
EBER . Customer health and safety
EFRERZR
. Customer privacy protection
EFTLBRE
. Customer satisfaction
EFEmBE
. Customer complaint handling
BEEFRH
. Intellectual property protection
REEAFERE
. Supply chain management
AR
. Anti-corruption

k&S
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B HERERTE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

Sustainable business operation plays an important part in social advancement,
economic development, and environmental conversation. With our core
business in interior design solutions service provision, we are devoted to
incorporating environmental considerations into our project solutions and
product lifecycle management, so as to reduce emissions and utilize resources
in a responsible manner.

By enforcing the environmental management system accredited with 1SO
14001:2015 certification in our operations, the Group recognizes the
associated fundamentals of environmental risks and opportunities. With
relevant management plans formulated, the Group strives to minimize negative
impacts on the environment while making constant progress by observing and
assessing the productivity in environmental management.

As a recognized member of the Hong Kong Green Building Council, we had
valuable opportunities in joining environmental protection workshops to
understand approaches to enhancing building interior design and reducing
contamination in fulfilment of the BEAM Plus interior guideline. We strive to
encourage our customers to support sustainable developments such as energy
conservation and environmental protection with our ESG practices to guide
more business operations and individuals to decrease the consumption of
resources.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly complied with
relevant environmental laws and regulations where we operate such as the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.354) of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap.400) of HKSAR and Motor
Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty) Ordinance (Cap. 611) of HKSAR. The Group
did not aware of any breaches of relevant laws and regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions, discharge into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Emissions

Air Emission

The transportation of company vehicles for site inspection and daily travel
has generated most of the Group’s air emissions. On this account, employees
are instructed to properly plan the driving routes before travelling. Besides,
the Group conducts regular car maintenance and inspection to ensure the car
engines are functioning properly, so as to reduce excess air emissions from
transportation.

Air emission generated by mobile vehicles during the Reporting Period is
demonstrated in the table below:

R5 > S REREE

AFNERR (&)

2355

BERA
AREFRENERRAREANIBESAEEASTS
MEREEN - Al BERESIELTHZERETER
BRTE W ASEEHETEREERRE - BR
HEHS|EERLER - HMRS RBAIEEOBEETEMN o

TREJIBEHNEFELOBERSTANHENE :

Emission Unit 2020/21 2021/22
SRR B R/ CFE —Ro—/CCFR
__________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) kg 1.95 1.16

pEtlat) NI
Sulphur oxides (SO,) kg 0.11 0.07
Etlat ) NI
Particulate Matters (PM) kg 0.14 0.09
RERLY) NI

Greenhouse Cas Emission

The GHG emission of the Group during the Reporting Period is primarily
derived from vehicles’ fuel combustion (“Scope 1 emission”) and the
consumption of purchased electricity (“Scope 2 emission”) for daily office
operation. We recognise that GHG emissions from Scope 2 accounted for
the largest proportion of the Group’s overall GHG emissions. As a result, we
formulate green office guidelines, aiming at providing green guidance and
introducing best practices of various aspects to our employees. Relevant details
of the green office guidelines are illustrated in the section headed “Use of
Resources”, as one of the key measures for the employees to follow and raise
environmental awareness.
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B HERERTE

OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Emissions (continued)
Greenhouse Gas Emission (continued)

The GHG emission generated by the Group during the Reporting Period is

demonstrated in the table below:

GHG Emission’ Unit

B E R By

AFNERR (&)

Scope 1? Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,e")
HE12 —AlLiREE

Scope 2° tCO,e

&2 72 %ﬂiﬁ =28

Scope 3* tCO,e

#HE3 Wi ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁa%

Total GHG emission* tCO e

BERBEHHE “ElER

Intensity’ tCO e / HK$'million

AR “E(RER/FEEETIA
tCO e / full-time employee
L2 s W22 TR

Note:

1. The calculation of Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions is referenced to the Hong Kong
Government’s Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Removals for Buildings in Hong Kong (2010 Edition) and the 2021 Hong Kong Electric
Sustainability Report. The number of full-time employees based in Hong Kong office as

at 30 June 2022 were 36.

2. The direct emissions (Scope 1) include the mobile combustion of company vehicles.

3. The energy indirect emissions (Scope 2) include the purchased electricity consumed by

the Group in Hong Kong office.

4. The other indirect emissions (Scope 3) include the business travel by the Group only.
Due to the travel restriction under the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19")

pandemic, no Scope 3 emission was recorded in 2021/22.

5. The GHG intensity is the sum of Scope 1 and 2 emissions divided by the annual

revenue and the number of full-time employees.
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B (&
BERERHN (E)
TEREFNAEENREBNEEMEEREHENE
2020121 2021/22
%/ --FF —E-—-/ZZFF
19.23 13.53
53.84 50.36
0 0
73.07 63.89
0.84 1.60
1.92 1.77

1. EEIREEMBZEREINER2EBRRAN(EERE
NHREREHRRBROZENRE KD (T -2FHR)
MR- —FERARERRBE)MAEGH -BE-F
CIERASTR BERERMZRAETABRA

2. EERBN(EE)BELRERNRIRMBMRE -

3. BRRESR (RE) BREFEEREERSERAERNIE
BN

4. RfREHR(SE3)EREAEENEBIRT - MR2019E
HREREE THRITRE - Al =2 -—/Z S EUET

SE B -
5. AREREFERSENROHENENGUFERANZEE
TAH-
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Emissions (continued)

Waste Management

Most of the waste produced by the Group comes from daily office operations.
To manage the waste effectively and reduce our waste to the lowest extent
as our directional target, the Group strives to promote green office operations
with 4R principles (Reduce, Reuse, Recycle, Replace). It is crucial for the
Group to advise our employees on sustainable resource management. The
essential measures applied to facilitate our employees in managing waste
production and attain our goal of reducing waste are listed below:

. Set up recycling facilities (e.g. recycle collection box for plastic bottles,
recycle paper bag and collection box for single-sided printing paper next
to the copier machines)

. Provide reusable cutlery and plates in our pantry

. Display signage or poster to remind the proper ways of recyclable waste
separation

. Conduct regular checks to ensure proper source separation of waste

. Provide a clear guideline for recyclable plastic to indicate the

appropriate material can be recycled to collection points

All the recyclable materials are collected and disposed of regularly as assigned
to licensed waste collectors or property management companies in agreement
with applicable policies. A limited amount of cartridges and Waste Electrical
and Electrical Equipment are generated in our office operation. Such wastes
would be handed over to service providers and/or legal waste collectors for
management and processing accordingly. Looking forward, the Group will
continue to monitor if any significant hazardous waste is produced from our
operation, reflect on our present waste management practices, and establish
relevant waste reduction target(s) when appropriate.

Waste Generation Unit
EEZEEY B

RiE HERERES

EANRR (&

23,463

BEYER

FEENBERYIBREARRLELE - RENRIER
BN LERERSBEENEARMNOTRER  AREHR
NEEHRERAE  RAWRRI IO ER  ERER
EER BAER) HAKEMNS  AEERM/TR
BEREEMZARETER - AMRRERBNEEY
BERERHSBEENE SRR IINIRER -

o REMYGRIE (MBEEKA  ERERNF R

EHOERTEAYERS)

«  FKBREVEECRNEARET
o REBRIEH - REW QYR BN IS

. ETEHRE  BREZNORESIBEE

o RUEKRBREL—ERENER  EREENY
EOPNCDEE S
AR ETRRE T RERRERMRER

EIMEEER T&Vﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ°15%“*%Lm%
SREERETEMARETS  AZREVMBRTRBH
EER/QEEERMBEARE - RERK  FEES
BEERRAZERELANEANAZEEY FHEH
MRONBERYERER YEBERREIT LAV ERY
MARBR-

2020121 2021722
—3-% /R —F=—/ZZER

Hazardous waste

BEREY

Hazardous waste Tonnes

BEREEY 7
Tonnes/m?
Mg,/ K
Tonnes/full-time employee
W,/ SEERET

Non-hazardous waste

BEEEY

General waste Tonnes

—MREEEY i

Intensity Tonnes/m?

HE WE,/ K
Tonnes/full-time employee
W FEEBET
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0.0033 0.0032
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Emissions (continued)

Waste Management (continued)

Note:
1. Hazardous wastes include toner cartridge and fluorescent lamps and tubes.
2. Non-hazardous wastes include the domestic waste, wastepaper and waste plastic.

3. The floor area of the Hong Kong office is 1,098.21m?.

Use of Resources

The Group promotes green office practices in terms of energy, water and waste
to minimise resource depletion and optimise resource usage. We anticipate
our employees to take shared responsibility and proactively contribute
to achieving the goal. Meanwhile, we also provide recommendations on
energy-saving strategies to our customers, in supporting our clients to attain
environmental targets, such as energy-saving, GHG emission reduction, and
sustainable sourcing of materials.

Energy Use

Our green office guidelines suggest our commitment to energy-saving and
electricity consumption reduction. A variety of energy-saving approaches
in form of signage and posters are allocated at our office and other working
premises, to remind our employees of the importance of energy saving and
cultivate energy-saving habits.

We aim to conserve energy via the following approaches:

. Switch off electrical appliances when they are not in use (such as
air-conditioning, computer, printer, photocopier, lighting, etc.)

. Set office appliance in idle-mode mode by default

. Select and procure energy-efficient electrical appliances with the “Grade
1" energy label

. Maintain an average indoor temperature between 24 - 26°C to save
energy

. Unplug the unused mobile phone charger or other charging devices

. Use energy-saving light bulbs, such as LED lighting
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Use (continued)

The energy consumption of the Group during the Reporting Period is
demonstrated in the table below:

Unit

B

Energy
R

RiE HERERES

EANRR (&

BRER(E)
BRI (&)
TREFIARERBRE AR REFRR -

Purchased electricity MWh

SNEEN IR ELBE

Mobile fuel consumption MWh
AEELRRE KEE

Total energy consumption MWh
REREEREE KEE
Intensity MWh/m?

BE KEE T3k

MWh/full-time employee
ke BEE2RET

Following the result of the materiality assessment, the issue of energy
efficiency is not considered as highly material for the Group. Thus, no energy
efficiency target(s) is set and disclosed during the Reporting Period. We will
continue to monitor and assess its significance and materiality to the Group
and will reveal the determined target setting in the prospect where appropriate.

Water Use
The Group endeavours to utilise the water resources in an efficient manner.
We have applied the following water conservation approaches to raise relevant
awareness:

Avoid washing hands under running tap

Tighten the faucet to prevent water dripping

Maintain regular inspection of water facilities to ensure no leakage and
dripping

Report the water pipeline leaking phenomenon to the property
management company in time

Attach water-saving signs in washroom and pantry to remind employees
of water conservation

The Group did not encounter any issues in water sourcing as all water
consumed in our office is properly managed by the property management
company during the Reporting Period. Meanwhile, the water charges of
our office are borne by the property management company and thus no
consumption data record was made available for reporting purposes and target
setting.
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2020/21 2021/22
BT/ C—T-—/"_FFE
75.84 70.93

70.05 4931

145.89 120.24

0.17 0.11

3.84 3.34
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

Packaging Materials

With reference to the business nature of the Group, the use of packaging
materials is unavoidable, though, in comparison to other factory-based
businesses, our consumption of packaging materials is low. For material
depot and shipping, we reuse and recycle the carton boxes and plastic bags
that delivered by our suppliers, so as to minimize new packaging material
purchases.

The packaging materials consumption of the Group during the Reporting
Period is demonstrated in the table below:

Packaging Materials Unit
BERMH By

AFNERR (&)

BRER(E)

BERYOH

RARENXBUEENS  BROHOER TR A
FHEERIMOEBHRAE -EVHREERER)
B AAEEERRENEREEAREOERERBR
femp L BARENBEME

TREJIARERRE BROBENEER

2020/21 2021/22
“E-T/--FF —E-—/"-FFE

Paper Tonnes
] M@
Plastic Tonnes
B TR
Stretch film Tonnes
bk b liA
Bubble Wrap Tonnes
Eapiaiol i
Tape Tonnes
B i
Total Tonnes
mEt A

The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite the application of environmental management systems and green
office practices (e.g. encouraging electronic application for our internal
communication and document circulation), we acquired additional
eco-friendly approaches in our procurement and product lifecycle
management for infusing concepts of sustainability into different parts of our
operations. We opt for the products purchasing and/or manufacturing locally
or in the regions nearby Hong Kong to enhance transportation efficiency,
therefore carbon footprint reduction. The adoption of facade pre-fabrication
allows us to strictly control our product quality and therefore reduce extra
moderations or adjustments in comparison to on-site fabrication. This practice
results in a reduction in waste production and operational price, thus bringing
mutual positive impacts on the environment.

While choosing our materials for the service provision of millwork and
furniture, we seek materials that release little irritating substances (e.g.
formaldehyde) throughout installation or use to decrease the FSC-certified
forests to conserve biological diversity.
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OUR ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Climate Change

The urgent concern of tackling climate change is global, for instance, Hong
Kong Climate Action Plan 2030+ and the Paris Agreement to prevent the
future rising of global temperature. With the recent natural hazard occurrences
getting more severe and intense, the Group acknowledges the urgent need to
tackle climate-related issues, as they may influence both our stakeholders and
our operation. The Group has identified the potential climate risks below:

Physical risks

. Acute risk: The increased severity of extreme weather events (e.g.
typhoon, storm) may cause damage to our office building and the
delivered facade and further interrupt our business operation

. Chronic risk: The increased severity and frequency of extreme weather
events (e.g. flooding caused by rising seawater level, heatwave) may
cause the office building to submerge and damage the delivered facade
and further interrupt our business operation

Transition risks

. Policy risk: Increasing the price of GHG emissions by the latest
implementation of carbon-pricing mechanisms, increase operating cost
and pose a potential risk of financial instability

. Market risk: Higher demand for environmental-friendly and low-carbon
goods and design services may be resulted due to the shift in
customer preferences. Moreover, limited natural resources and higher
transportation costs due to increasing climate-related weather events
that may increase the cost of raw materials and risk to our millwork and
furniture provision business

To cushion and mitigate the risks of posing negative climate-related influences
on our operation, we will continue to monitor the update of HKSAR policies
and regulations, therefore to strictly comply with all applicable laws. We
strongly encourage our sub-contractors and suppliers to do the same, we will
incorporate climate risks into our internal risk assessment in the prospect of
effective risk monitoring and management.
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B HERERTE

OUR EMPLOYEES

Employees are among the company’s greatest assets and the key to maintaining
our competitiveness in the industry. It is therefore of paramount importance
to provide a pleasant, inclusive and harmonious workplace and manage
our talent pipeline in attracting and retaining talents. We also endeavour
to offer career development opportunities for our employees so that they
can develop their professional skills and grow with us as a whole. With
the Group’s comprehensive human resources policies and procedures, our
employment practices strictly complied with all relevant laws and regulations,
which include the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57) of HKSAR, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Cap.282) of HKSAR, Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap.485) of HKSAR and the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Cap.608) of HKSAR. We endeavour to fuel our business development with
creativity, experience and expertise from our employees and create values for
the entire workforce and business chain.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any incidents or
violations of the relevant labour laws and regulations relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

Employment Practices

Employee Terms and Benefits

Stipulating the Group’s human resources management and providing guidance
for employees, the Group’s employment policies, terms and benefits are
clearly stated in the staff handbook. We continue to attract and retain our
valuable talents by offering a competitive remuneration package, including
monthly salary, leaves, fixed working hours, allowances, health and travel
insurance, discretionary bonus or commission and Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) schemes or social insurance according to the applicable labour laws
and regulations where we operate in. The Group believes that promoting
work-life balance could motivate our employees to deliver satisfactory
performance and attain business sustainability. Our employees are entitled
to statutory leaves, maternity leaves, paternity leaves, compassionate leaves,
marriage leaves, and annual leaves apart from sick leaves. To further motivate
our employees, a discretionary bonus or commission is provided based on
the working performance and capability of individuals in recognition of their
respective accomplishments and contributions. The Group review annually
the merit-based remuneration package with reference to the prevailed market
trend and staff performance appraisal, to ensure employees are fairly rewarded
with salary increments and/or promotions. Aiming to fuel the Group’s business
growth continuously, the Group values feedback from the employees and
develops initiatives and programmes correspondingly.
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OUR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment Practices (continued)

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

We encourage differences and individuality in employees, with the philosophy
that diversity can bring new ideas and dynamics to our operations and hence
further strengthen our competitive advantages. We construct a set of policies
with respect to equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination, to ensure
all recruitment, transferal, promotion and training are assessed only regarding
employees’ personal merit and performance and that suitability and capability
are taken into consideration. Our employees and job candidates are also
strictly prohibited from any unlawful harassment or any form of discrimination
on gender, disability, marital status, pregnancy, religion, nationality, social or
economic class, rural or urban, political opinion, pathogen-carrier or sexuality.
The Group adopts zero tolerance towards any inspected violation practices,
employees who breach the policies will be subject to disciplinary actions
including summary dismissal.

Staff Retention

The Group believes that close and open communication with employees for
the employer is of great importance to retaining our high calibre talents. The
Group encourages two-way open and meaningful communication to voice
their views through formal or informal communication channels. To facilitate
employees’ career and personal growth, the Group strives to provide sufficient
support to our colleagues throughout their job duties and feedback on their
performance and career development. To handle employees’ suggestions
or complaints in a timely manner, a complaint and grievance mechanism
is in place to enable our employees to raise their concerns related to the
employment matter and work-related problems. Such opinions and complaints
would be directly managed by their Department Heads, so as to make prompt
and fair actions and provide relevant support based on the circumstances.
In addition to regular communication channels, such as email, employees
can also express their opinions through performance appraisal. Upon the
receipt of a staff resignation request, an exit interview will also be arranged
to understand the reason for leaving, and subsequently improve our human
resources management strategies to maintain our competitiveness among our
peers.

Labour Standard

Aside from compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the Group also
puts additional effort to make sure our business practices adhere to the
highest ethical standards and protect labour rights. It is essential for us to
verify candidates and/or employees’ eligibility for working in related positions
to prevent any child, forced and bonded labour from being employed.
Candidates are also required to submit official documents (e.g. qualification
certificate, job reference records) to validate information provided. All the
employees voluntarily sign the labour contract upon the commencement of
employment. In addition, in order to prevent forced labour, the Group enters
into or makes alterations to labour contracts on the principle of equality and
willingness through mutual negotiation and will never adopt unfair measures
to restrict the employment relationship between employees and the Group.
We will constantly review our suppliers’ performance in labour practices to
guarantee there is no employment of children and forced labour along our
business collaboration to avoid putting the Group at any legal risks.
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OUR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employment Practices (continued)

Employee Profile

The workforce profile divided by gender, age group, geographical region and
employee category in 2021/22 is illustrated as follows:

ZFNES (#)

BRES (&)

ERZH

TREFZZ=Z— /ZZFERNER - FREH R R
REENESNHESHR -

Profile of workforce Number of employees

EEBR

EEAZ

Turnover rate? (%)
TR E2 (%)

By gender
BRI B D
Male
B
Female
Tt
By age group
BERARED
Age < 30
305 T
Age 30 to 50
305 E505%
Age > 50
5058 £
By geographical region
RLEE D
Hong Kong
!
Mainland China
RERME
Germany
(e
By employment category
BEREES
Senior Management
RREEE
Middle Management
PRERRE
General Staff
—HET

Note:

1.

062

The figure of employee number and employee turnover is calculated based on the
number of headcounts. As of 30 June 2022, the Group had 36 full-time employees and
0 part-time employees.

The turnover rate covers employee voluntary resignations and retirements. Our
voluntary turnover rate in 2021/22 was 8.1%.

The employee turnover rate equals the total number of employee turnover in
corresponding gender group divided by the total number of employees in the gender

group.

The employee turnover rate equals the total number of employee turnover in
corresponding age group divided by the total number of employees in the age group.
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OUR EMPLOYEES (continued)
Health and Safety

Safeguarding the safety and health of our employees is of the utmost
importance in our business operation. The Group has strictly complied with all
the applicable health and safety laws and regulations and implemented various
occupational health and safety (“OHS”) measures, so as to create a healthy and
safe working environment for our employees.

Some key OHS measures implemented in our office during the Reporting
Period are as follows:

Provide adjustable seat and computer equipment

Maintain good housekeeping in the working area and office area
Provide sufficient storage space on the working table

Arrange regular office inspection and maintenance

Equipped with first aid kits for instance minor injury treatment

Apart from the key OHS measures, a breakout area and gymnastics facilities
are provided for our employees at our office, which enable them to enjoy
adequate exercising areas during working hours, and hence protect them from
occupational disease and fatigue.

Furthermore, Mandatory Basic Safety Training Courses training is provided to
employees, to ensure sufficient acknowledgement regarding the underlying
risks in project work. We conduct general safety orientation for new hires.
Therefore, employees are equipped with the awareness and knowledge
to apply proper safety measures before accessing any project work site.
For example, safety helmets and safety shoes should be worn for on-site
conditions. In addition, all our engaged suppliers are requested by the Group
to strictly follow and work along the respective safety requirements under the
landlords and/or property management companies during the site work, to
safeguard the workers and prevent accidents.

We have also been encouraging our employees to maintain work-life balance
and even pursue personal interests so as to cultivate a healthy lifestyle. Various
employee engagement, such as sports activities and lunch gatherings, are held
among the Group’s employees.

S@EELRARAS CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited © © o o o 083

R5 > S REREE

ZFNES (B

BERZ2

REEINRERZ2RAMEHEENEEME - A%
BRRETHEERRERRDAEER Y RIER AR
$REREREN AETRIRERRZN RS -

EREHA - AARLEERN-LIBBRBERTE
T

PRt S R R E R
REEZOTERBRES
ZHMDR LB RPOEFER
TRLHRERAEERAE
EmzRE MEIRERES A

BRTIRRERERL 26 AMARERLZREIR
SRR RE BRI ETERRMAIHERE
EEYSHTRME  KEMEHTMNRERRES -

BE BMAEIRABHELTLZ 2EIIRE - ERE
ITRARTRTMERRR - ZMIAME TRHE-KEZ
2RE- A BTEEATAMNER TESHH  EA
BREVEENZ 2RO B EMME - i - EARSGR
BH - BABZ2ENFEL2E - O RARERA
BEENHERERS TERRLAETEIRAME
EEQANEBLZ2E WRETIANTZ  HLEEN
BAo

APT—ESBHE TRETEELEN T E2EXE
ABE - EMEREFEOEESA - ARERRERET
Y PIMBEREDNTERE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HERERTE

OUR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

Health Preventive Measures under COVID-19

With the continuous outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, especially the
severe fifth wave of COVID-19 in Hong Kong since March 2022, the Group
has been closely monitoring the situation throughout the locations where we
operate. Contingency measures are arranged, in case of any infected cases
found in workplaces. We have strictly complied with the epidemic policies,
regulations and precautionary measures of local government to safeguard the
safety and health wellbeing of the employees, therefore preventing the spread
of COVID-19.

The Group has implemented the following preventive measures in our business
segments to ensure employees’ and workers’ health and well-being in our
workplaces, including but not limited to:

. Keep the environment clean and regularly disinfect frequently touched
surfaces such as door handles, furniture and commonly shared items

. Require employees undergo a daily body temperature to ensure they are
fit to work and maintain good personal hygiene

. Require our employees to stay home when they feel unwell and/or are

showing symptoms of COVID-19, seek medical attention and report to
the relevant department for record

. Maintain adequate epidemic prevention materials in our operations for
cleaning and disinfection

. Provide hand sanitisers in the office to perform hand hygiene frequently

. Require our employees and visitors to wear a surgical mask all the time
in the office and at the office building

. Remind employees to avoid going to crowded places

. Circulate the health advice and updated news regarding the COVID-19
pandemic through emails to remind employees about hand hygiene,
cough etiquette and COVID-19 infection prevention

. Reduce face-to-face meetings and site visits and replace them with
online video meetings to minimising physical contact and keep
adequate social distancing

. Implement appropriate rostering arrangements (e.g., flexible working
hour arrangement, team shift and work from home alternatively) to
reduce the flow of people in our workplaces

Despite the regulations set by the local government, we offered additional
support to collaborate with our employees in combating the unprecedented
pandemic during the Reporting Period. For example, offering mask and Rapid
Antigen Test (RAT) kits purchasing from trustworthy suppliers. Circulations and
announcements are made to raise employees’ awareness of labour right during
the pandemic and workplace safety and hygiene under business operations.
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OUR EMPLOYEES (continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

Health Preventive Measures under COVID-19 (continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the applicable
occupational health and safety laws and regulations (e.g. the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap.509) of HKSAR) and there was no
work-related fatality or lost days due to work injuries.
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Number and rate of work-related fatalities during the past three year
BEZFRTITHMHABRLLE

Rate of work-related fatalities

AT Tt

Number of work injuries

TH#E

Lost days due to work injuries
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Staff Development and Training

Our business development and growth rely on our team of competent and
professional talents. Therefore, we provide adequate training programmes
and learning opportunities for our employees regardless of their job positions
and levels. We will continue to encourage our staff in building up their
professional skills and knowledge, and thus keep up with the ever-changing
needs within the sector.

The Group conducts an annual employee performance appraisal for every
employee, therefore evaluating his or her attributes, personal ability and
working performance. By analyzing the results of the annual employee
performance appraisal, the Group can further identify employees’ training
needs, and provide resources that are best-fit for them in equipping
professional, management and interpersonal skills, therefore achieving
personal growth and the Group’s business success.

On-the-job training includes contents of various job natures. For example,
taxation updates, human resources training, market trend updates and legal
requirements, IT training and MPF training are offered to help employees
enriching professional knowledge of their job duties. During the Report Period,
we have also provided our employees with IT Cybersecurity Workshop,
so as to demonstrate best practices and reduce relevant cybersecurity and
reputational risks for the Group. Due to the continual outbreak of COVID-19,
both face-to-face and virtual training (i.e. webcasts and webinars) are
available, so as to prevent the transmission of COVID-19.
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OUR EMPLOYEES (continued) RENES (&

Staff Development and Training (continued) BIRERENE)

We maintain a clear career ladder for our employees, as an important element  {FABYATB#EMNEELE  HMAETERHR)BH
to build talent development, therefore motivating career advancement and E’]%%?ﬂf&ﬁ%% WHABEIER BTED - Al
the uphold of job responsibility. As a result, internal promotion will be given & ﬁiﬁﬂﬂi SiRES - PGB EZRUEABRKERE
priority to competent employees when there is a job vacancy in recognition of 8 - WETEEEMEKR - SHMEE QBT IEHNIEES
their achievements. Managers of different departments will consider selecting ~ E&F & ER 8 R ERNRA - BEFH 2 2 RESHHEE
employees to move to a higher-level position that better matches their skills &

and aspirations for grooming future leaders and skill development.

In 2021/22, the Group has arranged a total of 94 hours of job-related training ~WZTZ—/ZZF[ - AREE T4 L4 N FHTIE

covering different professional areas with 82 percent of the employee trained. 1B MEZEEEEE - XIEE1H82% ¢
Employee Training Unit 2020/21 2021/22
(F=E] By T/ -FF C"T--/ZZFE

Total hours of employee training and percentage (%) of

employees who received training Hours 139 (82%) 94 (82%)
EBEXIBRHRZIEREADL 1|\
Average hours of employee training Hours 3.56 2.61
FHREZYIEE N

Average training hours by gender and percentage (%) of employees who received training

RIERIBI D 8RR B ZHIME B B 2 H (%)

By gender

RIERIE S
Male Hours 5.09 (56%) 2.19 (49%)
B 1N
Female Hours 1.59 (44%) 3.20 (51%)
T AN

By employment category

ZREEERIES
Senior Management Hours 7.3 (19%) 2.22 21%)
BRERE N
Middle Management Hours 3.9 (72%) 2.89 (55%)
HAREEE N
General Staff Hours 0.6 (9%) 2.44 (24%)
—RET N

Note: B 5E

Due to the constraints under the COVID-19 pandemic, with the fifth wave of the COVID-19  EE019EHKFSHEEAEREE S F-AREEEREE
epidemic being rapid and fierce in Hong Kong since March 2022, some of the training &+ 5% R/MNIKE REMEHOEHIRERATVE - SHREHR
sessions from external institutions and organisations were cancelled, therefore resulting in the — HISZIBEHGFHHD o

decrease of total training hours during the Reporting Period.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

Providing bespoke interior design solutions and materialising the design
concepts into the internal layout of clients’ retail boutiques, the Group
recognizes our responsibility to instil the sustainability concept into our
business chain by promoting green and eco-friendly design. The Group also
promotes sustainable business management by advocating the concepts within
the sector together with our business partners. In the meantime, maintaining
high product quality through stringent quality assurance and compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations are our commitments to society, to foster a
high standard of ethical, fair and sustainable corporate culture.

Supply Chain Management

The Group attaches emphasis on building a mutually beneficial relationship
with our suppliers and lasting collaboration. Regarding the nature of our
services, the occupational health and safety of suppliers’ and sub-contractors’
workers, quality control on subcontracting and material purchasing fair
competition, product and service quality and waste generation are the
environmental and social risks expected to be handled and mitigated along
our supply chain. The Group, therefore, establishes a supplier selection policy
with well-defined standards in assessing the qualification and competency
of suppliers for business partnerships. We also take account of suppliers’
qualifications, track records of project experience and regulatory compliance,
prevailing market price, safety management, and quality and reliability of
materials/service, to enhance our product and service quality and safety.
Priority will be given to the suppliers and service contractors who obtained
the certificate of I1SO 14001 Environmental Management System, 1SO 9001
Quality Management System, ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System or other accreditation, to ensure relevant environmental
and social risks are properly assessed and managed. In addition, the Group
considers the geological location of suppliers in supplier selection. When there
are suppliers and contractors with similar qualifications, the Group is prior to
the selection of local suppliers for material sourcing to reduce carbon footprint
through transportation.

We arrange regular site inspections to monitor and evaluate our product
production progress. Aside from progress tracking, we also ensure sufficient
environmental management, and health and safety supervision. With
such practice, we could ensure that our suppliers have fully executed the
management practices and complied with relevant laws and regulations as
well as the client requirements and specifications.

We conduct an annual performance appraisal in various aspects on the
approved suppliers and contractors or after the completion of their contract
to ensure the performance of our suppliers are of quality. Assessing criteria
include safety compliance, quality of materials/service, the availability of
product provision, customer services, delivery time and after-sale service. For
those suppliers who continuously deliver with poor performances or breach
relevant regulations and rules, we preserve the entitlement to terminate
the collaboration immediately to safeguard the Group from any legal and
reputation risk.
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R5 > AEREREE

OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Supply Chain Management (continued)

To allow fair and transparent competition in procurement and tendering,
the Group has formulated an effective monitoring system and management
controls, so as to guarantee adequate quotation for price comparison, impartial
supplier and contractor selection, as well as preventing of bribery, fraud or
other malpractice in the procurement and tendering process.

Green Procurement

It is the Group’s major product and/or service provision to tailor solutions
and products according to client’s needs and requirements. To minimize and
cushion the adverse environmental impacts on the environment, we have been
striving to adopt green and sustainable concepts into our project management.
Besides, we have also prioritized and purchased green and eco-friendly
products and services.

For example, with our provision of millwork and furniture-related services,
we require all our engaged suppliers to obtain Forest Sustainable Certification
(FSC). With such practice, we assure that the used materials are from
well-managed and sustainable forests, so as to support improved forest
management and sustainable market transformation. Moreover, we strive
to adopt green product designs through substituted with environmentally
responsible materials including recyclable, reusable and lightweight
materials, with the aim to reduce environmental impacts associated with our
business operations. For instance, we prioritize the use of paper honeycomb
core, to reduce product weight and therefore carbon emissions from
transportation-related fuel combustion. The adoption of these re-engineered
products and material substitutions, instead of traditional solid core materials,
can effectively utilise natural resources.

As of 30 June 2022, we engaged in a total of 122 suppliers, comprising 118
located in the Asia Pacific region, 3 in Europe and 1 in the North America.

Number of suppliers by geological region
& 87 rH e B B
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Project and Service Quality

The Group endeavours to continue to build strong relationships with our
existing clients by paying great effort to prioritize their needs and offer tailored
services to gain their satisfaction. Aiming to extend our competitive edge,
property market-related business will continue be one of our key focuses for
our provision of design and interior solutions services. Accordingly, we have
implemented the quality management system certified with ISO 9001:2015
along our business operations. Moreover, we have established a set of quality
assurance procedures to monitor working progress and quality of product
or service provided. Maintaining regular communication with customers by
providing various engagement channels would be another focus, therefore to
receive service and product enquiry, with an ultimate goal to satisfying their
respective needs and requirements.

For our service of millwork and furniture provision, facade development and
fabrication and interior solutions, the Group arranges client meeting in the
early stages to understand their demand, expectation and requirements on
the material use and specifications, followed by conducting onsite survey
and measurement, so as to offer detailed design and planning for client
confirmation. When the design and cost planning in material procurement
are approved by our clients, the Group commissions the production by our
suppliers in accordance with the approved drawings and specifications. We
scrutinize various production stages from our suppliers and report production
and fabrication progress and status weekly, so as to ensure the production
and subsequent delivery are on schedule. Onsite mechanical, electrical,
construction and fit-out work are conducted upon satisfactory safety testing
and quality-control assessment, together with the final inspection testing and
commissioning to assure proper installation and fitting works.

In addition, we make sure that all our engaged suppliers strictly follow
the health and safety requirements as set by the landlord and/or property
management company where the project operates. We require our suppliers
to attend our mandatory briefing sessions before work commencement, in
order to ensure that all the workers understand the relevant safety rules and
requirements and implement proper safety measures during site work. Such
practice plays a key part in avoiding the occurrence of occupational and
workplace incidents.
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B HERERTE

OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Project and Service Quality (continued)

Regarding our design and project consultancy services, a specific project
consultancy team is formed and assigned to initiate discussion with our
clients, so as to comprehend clients’ perspectives of specific requirements
and conceptual ideas. The Group considers factors, ranging from spatial
arrangement, to lighting, materials and security concerns after site survey, and
subsequently prepares design solutions in terms of layout plan, materials and
colour boards under the preparation of design layout. Various design options
with highlighted suitability are also prepared for client consideration. Besides,
our team will also utilize advanced computer software (e.g. 3D modelling)
for mechanical and electrical drawing, so as to outline the finished overall
interior design with the layout of furniture, decoration and other appliances.
The Group will maintain regular engagement with our clients for refining the
design and addressing enquiries and concerns, before reverting the final design
proposal along with the cost estimation. Such practice enables us to deliver
the functional, tailored and creative interior design in combination with our
designers’ creativity and technical knowledge, together with catering to the
specific needs with our clients.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any breaches of the
laws and regulations related to the project quality and safety as well as no
receipt of complaints or product recalls related to our provided products and
services due to quality, safety and health reasons.

Customer Feedback and Complaint Handling

Adhering to the philosophy of “customer-first” and providing qualified
customer service, the Group attaches great emphasis on communication
channels such as email, telephone meetings, regular meetings and feedback
with clients to ensure their needs, concerns and complaints raised are handled
in a timely manner. During the Reporting Period, the Group has not received
any complaints from customers regarding our provided products and services
nor product recall.

Confidentiality

We endeavour to develop and maintain a trustworthy relationship
with our clients, as well as protect corporate information and customer
privacy. In this regards, our staff are required to strictly comply with the
regulations and guidelines as stated in the employee handbook in handling
confidential information, so as to satisfy the rising concern from our clients
in confidentiality and prevention of information leakage. For example,
employees are prohibited to disclose any confidential information, including
but not limited to strategic business plans, financial plans and information,
inside information, unpublished corporate information, contract designs and
specifications, quotation documents, and client information, to third parties
during their employment or any time thereafter without authorisation.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly complied with relevant
laws and regulations such as Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap.486)
of HKSAR and we were not aware of any significant non-compliance cases
associated with privacy matters.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group respects intellectual property rights and strictly complies with the
relevant laws and regulations (e.g. Copyright Ordinance (Cap.528) of HKSAR).
The Group'’s information technology (IT) department has formulated a policy
on the use of software. Under the policy, no installation of any unauthorized
or illegal copy of IT software in the company is permitted.

Anti-Corruption

We are committed to advocating a high integrity standard and ethical business
dealings, with no tolerance for any form of financial impropriety, extortion,
bribery, solicitation and corruption practices. Our code of conduct in the
employee handbook and relevant policies are in place, which outlined the
standards regarding employee behaviours required from the Company for
performing responsible and professional manner in our business activities.
Therefore, to prevent conflict of interests, the allegation of bribery or money
laundering and other misconduct. The policies and code of conduct are
reviewed and overseen by the Group’s management and human resources
department regularly, so as to ensure their relevancy and effectiveness in
implementation. It is compulsory for all our employees to sign the declaration
to acknowledge their understanding of the relevant regulations stated in the
employee handbook before employment commencement. Subsequently,
employees who violate the regulations are subjected to the corresponding
penalty and disciplinary action, including but not limited to immediate
dismissal.

Building a working atmosphere where employees can freely express their
opinions is always one of the Group’s key responsibilities. A whistle-blowing
mechanism is established for employees to report possible improprieties in
any matter related to the Group. The identity of relevant whistle-blower and
reporting issues are kept in confidence to protect the whistle-blower from
encountering any recrimination or unfair treatment. Our Chief Executive
Officer is in charge of case investigation and validation of relevant reported
cases, therefore ensuring that cases are fairly handled with prompt responses
taken and appropriate remedial action(s) for case rectification if necessary.

We have arranged anti-corruption training for our new recruits through
orientation to foster an ethical and honest corporate culture and strengthen
the law compliance. Our Human Resources Department is responsible for
demonstrating the anti-corruption policies’ details outlined in the employee
handbook. Enquiries from employees during the orientation section will be
clarified, so as to make sure that the new recruits fully comprehend and
understand relevant rules and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has strictly abided by the relevant
anti-bribery laws and regulations (e.g. the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Cap.201) of HKSAR) where we operate and there were no prosecutions or
litigation regarding corruption.
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B HERERTE

OUR COMMUNITY

The Group is dedicated to disseminating the spirit of service in community
through leveraging our manpower to support people in need and building a
sustainable and inclusive society. Through various community service projects,
we continuously identify and support social causes with donations and
volunteering services.

During the Reporting Period, we continued to support the volunteer
programme hosted by Agency for Volunteer Service Hong Kong and took
part in “Go Green Keep Clean” campaign. This campaign takes steps in
creating mass awareness about being responsible citizens to contribute to the
environment. During the campaign, we have to clean the countryside and
coastal garbage in order to reduce the damage to the garbage environment
and marine life, and to promote the message of environmental protection.
Moreover, we recognise that the all-rounded development of adolescents is
crucial for our future development of the society. We continue to support
the programme of “Future Stars - Upwards Mobility Scholarship” coordinated
by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service and provide financial support
to the secondary students from disadvantaged backgrounds and/or assisting
youths from less privileged backgrounds in enhancing their ability to move
upwards socially. With a contribution to caring for the people, the society and
the environment, the Group continues to attain the Caring Company logo for
2021/22 by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service.

Looking ahead, the Group intends to keep up its charitable endeavours,
employee expertise and engagement in serving the community, as well as
grooming its professionals through training and personal development in order
to foster industry growth and strengthen the link with our society.
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

B HERER

RE HERERAREERT

Section/Explanation

BE/ Wit

FE

ESG Reporting Guide

B HEREREER

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

BHEERE

Governance A statement from the board containing the following elements:
Structure MEFSRLNBR  EPHATIIAS

EREE (i) adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;

Reporting Principles

HERE

Reporting Boundary
i

BEESQUNEE
(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process
used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related issues
(including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and
EZEMRE HEREREENHRRE  SEFE  @AHIIRER
BENRE HEREAEREE (BREETAXBNRR) 0B &
(iii)  how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets
with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.
ESENARRE HEREAMREERRIER  YRBEMAMAES
TAXBARE

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following Reporting
Principles in the preparation of the ESG report:
HEBRERBRR HEREARSHOAERTIIERRA

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and the
criteria for the selection of material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement
is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified, and the process
and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

BRM I RR HEREAREREE  (BHNEERR HEREARZNR
BLEBNFARMNED nW%ﬁAEﬁﬁﬁ1%/A ERAINERH R
ENHARETARNDEL2BNBRRER -

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or
calculation tools used, and source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of
emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

Bt BRESHRE AR (WER) ANEE 75 BRR/ it
BTAMEN ARMERNERRENRETHE -

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to the
methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful
comparison.

—Hi BTABRERE  #ERERRSTRERH DAL BREKERN
2E(MB)REMAMTERE %Kf%ﬁ@l%

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing
the process used to identify which entities or operations are included in the ESG
report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference

and reason for the change.

BERS HEREABRSNERSE  REIHEPLERIEBRARE
HERERRENERE FEREEFMNE  BOARBRBTRAZENED
RA -

ESG Governance

RE HERERR

About the Report - Reporting

Principles

BRARE - HERA

About the Report
BRARE

SEEMEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

ee... 073



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RiR ABRERRS

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) RE HERERBRERS(A)
ESG Reporting Guide Section/Explanation
BE HERERHEES BE/ M
A. Environment
B5
A1 Emissions
34
Al General Disclosure Our Environment - Introduction
—REE BMNRE-#F
Information on: Our Environment — Emissions
FRBRIRERBHM  mARLMHS AEREZRRNNELSN BMANRE-HK
B
(@ the policies; and
R R
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
ETHETAREAT ENRBERRMAM -
KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data. Our Environment - Emissions
FRERIERAL  HRR RN EUE - RARRE —HER
KPI'AT.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in Our Environment - Emissions
BASRAEIEIZA1.2  tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 3 {FI#038 3% — HE ik
facility).
Bk (8BE) ke REE (BE2) REREHNE AN E) & (108
MEE(WWABEEEN  BARKHE) -
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity Our Environment — Emissions
BASRAEMIEIZAT.3  (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). H A RIRIE —BE
FEEATERNEE (S R (NER) BE (U SER B -
SERIEHE) -
KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes and, where appropriate, intensity ~ Our Environment — Emissions
BBGIEMIEIZA1.4  (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). BRPIBRE —HE R

MELSERRNBE GNGH) R (NER) BF (A SEREL
FRRIEHE) -
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R HERERRE

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) RE HERERARER(F)
ESG Reporting Guide Section/Explanation
B HEREABERS BE/ Mt
KPI'AT.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Following the result of materiality
MBEBIEIEALS BT VNERZEEEREEIHEBEMRERNTR - assessment, the issues of air emission

and GHG emission are not considered
as highly material for the Group.
Hence, no emission target is set and
disclosed during the Reporting Period.
We will continue to monitor and
evaluate its relevance and materiality
to the Group and will disclose the
determined target setting in future
where appropriate.
REEBRUMENER - BRI
PRAMR % 5 B8 T I R AR R
HASETAEREEE -
bt PR E A R E R
PERB AR o TP 4 4B B R A0 AT
MHEASERGHMNEE

1 IR E = B 1R 3 R 6 RT

BiF e
KPI'AT.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a Our Environment - Emissions
BASREIEIZAT.6  description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. REIERE PN
HlREREREZTBEEYN L RERATARERBRRAE
B E BIRATREAO 58K o
A2 Use of Resources
BERER
A2 General Disclosure Our Environment — Use of Resources
—REE RIANRE -ERER
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw
materials.
BERERER(BEER  KREMRME)HBE -
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) Our Environment - Use of Resources
BASREIEIZA2.1  in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per KRR -ERER
facility).
RS MERR/ AREER(NE - RIUh) BFEE (ATETE
BatE) REE (NMABEEEN - BERETE) °
KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per ~ Our Environment — Use of Resources
BB RIEIZA2.2  facility). HMIBE S RE A

BRKERTE (WNBEEEN BEREAH)
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B HEREARE

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued)

ESG Reporting Guide

R HERERBERL (A

Section/Explanation

B HERERBEKES /Wit
KPI'A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. ~ Our Environment - Use of Resources

FR B RIR1RA2.3

KPI A2.4
BB E IR IZA2 .4

KPI A2.5
BB A MIEIRALS

A3

RERXRER
A3
KPI A3.1

BR A IETRAS1

A4 Climate Change
REE

A4

KPI A4.1

BRAE IR TRA4.1

HA PR RERE RN B R R AER NS B IZAMRIMA L

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

fi 2 SREGE AR LRI BERIRRE - ARFART AR R B RN A
EREBBAERRMHOLRE

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,
with reference to per unit produced.

XM EEMHNEE (UM E) & (NER) BEESBMEE -

The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure

—RRE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and
natural resources.

REFETAHRERRARERENEATEOHRK -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.

il ES R HRERARERNEATENDFOEEERYEN
118

General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

AR EHE AR EURTAELY ENEARBHEBEENRR -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HRACE R EHETAELVENEARRERER - REYHTT
%ﬁj o
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ZMRE-BRER

Our Environment — Use of Resources

RMNRE-ERER

Our Environment — Use of Resources

RMNRE-BERER

Our Environment — The Environment
and Natural Resources

AANRE-RERAAER

Our Environment — The Environment
and Natural Resources

EANRFE-RELKAERR

Our Environment - Climate Change

HANRE -REZ(

Our Environment - Climate Change

BMNRE-RIRE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HERERRE

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) BE HEREBREERS(E)
ESG Reporting Guide Section/Explanation
RE HERERBEET B/
B. Social
e
B1  Employment
EE
B1 General Disclosure Our Employees - Introduction
—REE BMMEE-#F
Information on: Our Employees — Employment
BRFNRRE REKEA  IERH - BB TEHe 2ol REKRM  Practices
REAM B REFIOER : BMNEE -ERTH
(@) the policies; and
ok R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

ETHETAREAT ENRERRMAM -

KPI'B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical Our Employees — Employment
FAGRAERIEIEBT.1  region. Practices

w5 BREEL  FRARNLBREDHER AR - ZMNEE-RRETEH
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Our Employees — Employment
FARENIEREB12 IR FhRAMNREDHEERKLE - Practices

HMMEE - ERTR
B2  Health and Safety

REZ2
B2 General Disclosure Our Employees - Health and Safety
—REE AfMER-RERZZ
Information on:
REZ2TERARRERBELBELRENEHN
(@) the policies; and
HR R
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
BTHETAREAYENERERRSAN -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three Our Employees — Health and Safety
BABEBUIEIEB2.1  years including the reporting year. RMNEE-RRERZR
BEZF (BREREH) SFRATTHNMABRLE -
KPI'B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Our Employees — Health and Safety
FsEMERR22 RAIBGRXTEAR- EMMEE-RERZE
KPI'B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are Our Employees — Health and Safety
BB MIE1EB2.3  implemented and monitored. EMOEE-RERRZ2

HLFRANBERRERZ2REE  ARABRTRERTL -
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R5 > AEREREE

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) RE HERERRER(F)
ESG Reporting Guide Section/Explanation
B HEREABER BE/ Mt
B3 Development and Training
BE R
B3 General Disclosure Our Employees - Staff Development
—RRE and Training
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at % {f#)E S — 8 T&RE &3
work. Description of training activities.
BERRTTEEBTIERENMBRRENIEK - HAEIEE -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. Our Employees - Staff Development
BASRAEIEIEB3.1  senior management, middle management). and Training
RUSNREERN (WRREEE TREEE)AINZIIREESY RMANEE-B8THRKIEI
lbg, ©
KPI'B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee Our Employees - Staff Development
BAGREEIEIZB3.2 category. and Training
RUSNREERNE D  BREBTKZIN TR - BFMES - B TERKE
B4  Labour Standard
BIRA
B4 General Disclosure Our Employees — Employment
—RRE Practices
Information on: HMOES - BRER
BEAMFETHRHSTIHEHN
(@ the policies; and
BR R
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
ETHETAREATYENRERRAN -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and Our Employees — Employment
BB MUIEIEB4.1  forced labour. Practices
iR BB DM e E T RRGIST - HMMEE -RRER
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Our Employees — Employment
FRENIEER4 2 HAAEFRERBENEERERBERARROLR o Practices

ZMNEE-ERER
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RE HERERRS

ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued) RE HERERARERS (F)
ESG Reporting Guide Section/Explanation
B HEREABREES B4,/ Wik

B5  Supply Chain Management

HEHEEER

B5 General Disclosure Operating Practices — Supply Chain
— MR Management
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. BERR-HEEERE
BEREENRARMERARER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Operating Practices — Supply Chain

FRERIEIER5.1  RumERE S MHEERHAE - Management

BEER-HEREE
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where ~ Operating Practices — Supply Chain

BB AEBUIE1EB5.2  the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.  Management
HIERERHEANES AERTERENNRERSHE Uk 2EFR-HERERE
HBARITRERTA -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the  Operating Practices — Supply Chain
FASRAEBUIEIEB5.3  supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
HABBRRFEEESERANRERLERARNED - UREEH ZEER-HEEERE
TRERENL-
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products Operating Practices — Supply Chain
BB 4EIEIZB5.4  and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and Management
monitored. EEER-HEEER
mAEREHERRRESARRER LRENED - LRBERT
RERTE -
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued)

ESG Reporting Guide

RS HEREARKEKE

B6  Operating Practices

EEER
Bo

KPI B6.1
AR AR IR 1RB6.1

KPI B6.2
FAR A 1B 1RB6.2

KPI B6.3
R A IE1RB6.3

KPI B6.4
BAS AR W 15 15B6.4

KPI B6.5
AR A B 1RB6.5

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

FRMREERNREOREELZS  BE SERLREEARBUIED

R

(@) the policies; and
R R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

BTHETAREAYENERERRAN -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.

EENCERERMBRTRALEEREREAMARKNE S -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dealt with.
BREBRNERMRGHORFHE AREEHITL -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights.
g E N RENREEEBNED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HilEEREBERERDKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.

HLEBEERRERLEBRE  ARBBARTRER -
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BE #HERERERERI(E)

Section/Explanation

/Wi

Operating Practices
2EFAR

Operating Practices — Customer
Feedback and Complaint Handling
EERR-FFEAREREGR
B

Operating Practices — Customer
Feedback and Complaint Handling
LERR-FEFERRBREF
a3

Operating Practices - Protection of
Intellectual Property Rights

EERR-RENBERE

Operating Practices - Project and
Service Quality

L2ERA-HE KRBmE

Operating Practices — Confidentiality
LERA-RE
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX (continued)

ESG Reporting Guide

BE HERERHEES

/Wi

R HEREREERL(F)

Section/Explanation

B7  Anti-corruption

R&ES
B7

KPI B7.1
AR AR IRBY.1

KPI B7.2
WS A 5 1EB7 .2

KPI B7.3
B AMIEIRB7 3

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on:

BRAMGLERE 9% RKERARENER

(@ the policies; and
HR R

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BTHETAREAYENERERRSAN -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the

issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RBEHAHETASHAEERLIYEEANRTHFARGNHE R
ARAARER
Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they

are implemented and monitored.

WA BERLBRESF  URBEBERTRERTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

HRRMESERE TRENREFE -

B8  Community Investment

HERE
B8

KPI B8.1
RS2 45 5 1ZBS.1

KPI B8.2
W 48 5 1ZB8.2

General Disclosure

—BRE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities” interests.

BRAUHEL2ERTREEMEHRBENEREZHEDEERHEMNEN
B

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sport).

EIERERE(WHE REFH HTHFR BF-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIRRMBAER(MEEXER) -

Xft - 8%) -

Operating Practices -

2ERR-RESD

Operating Practices -

LERA-RES

Operating Practices -

2ERR-RESD

Operating Practices -

EEER-RAS

Our Community

e 4 ok

Our Community

HFLE

Our Community

HFHER
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Report of the Directors

i% FE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and provision
of interior design, project consultancy and interior solutions services. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to
the audited consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review on the Group’s business performance and the material factors
underlying its financial position, as well as the development and likely future
prospects of the Group's business are provided throughout this annual report and
in particular under the following separate sections:

(@)  review of the Company’s business and financial position, and development
and future prospects of the Company’s business are shown in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
sections of this annual report;

(b)  details of key performance indicators are shown in the sections headed
“Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report;

(c)  the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company are shown in the
“Key Risks and Uncertainties” set out in the following section of this report;

(d)  the Group’s environmental policies and performance are shown in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (the “ESG Report”) of this
annual report and the section headed “Environmental Policies” below;

(e)  the Group’s key relationships with employees, customers and suppliers are
shown in the ESG Report and the section headed “Relationships with Key
Stakeholders” below; and

(fy  the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations are shown
in the ESG Report and the section headed “Compliance with Laws and
Regulations” below.
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Report of the Directors

Details of important events occurring after the end of the Year to the date of this
annual report are set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of
this annual report.

The discussions referred to in the above form part of this Report of the Directors.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management and internal control.
The process by which the Group identifies and manages risk is set out in more
details in the corporate governance report of this annual report. The following
highlights some of the key risks affecting the Group's business:

The Group’s business is project-based. The types of projects we carry out
will vary and, in turn, our revenue mix may vary from time to time. Fee
collection and profit margin depend on the terms of the quotation and may
not be regular;

The duration of our projects varies and our clients do not have long term
commitments with us;

We depend on our suppliers and contractors to complete our projects and
to implement measures or procedures during the execution of our projects;

Our success is dependent on the retention of key management personnel;

Our business is dependent on the luxury goods sector and global
economic conditions; and

Luxury brands may reduce reliance on physical stores.

Please also refer to the note 31 to the audited consolidated financial statements
for the financial risks facing by the Group.
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Report of the Directors

i% FE

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group fully understands that employees, clients, suppliers and
sub-contractors are the key to our sustainable and stable development. The
Group is committed to establishing a close relationship with its employees,
enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and sub-contractors and providing
high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure the Group's sustainable
development.

a) Employees

Human resources and talents are vital to the creative business of
the Group. The Group offers a comprehensive range and attractive
remuneration package, insurance benefits, training opportunities and clear
career path with promotion opportunities to its employees. The Group
also continues to improve and regularly review and update its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational safety and health. The
Group maintains a good relationship with its employees and the turnover
rate is low.

b) Clients
The majority of the Group’s clients are global luxury goods and high-end
fashion brands with retail boutiques across the world. It is the Group’s
mission to satisfy different clients’ needs. The Group has established
business relationships with its five largest clients for years.

The Group has also established procedures in handling clients’ feedback
and complaints to ensure that clients’ opinions are dealt with in a prompt
and timely manner.

c) Suppliers and Sub-contractors
The Group generally do not enter into long term contracts with its suppliers
and its orders are placed on an as-needed basis depending on the project
schedule. The Group has established a long term and stable relationships
with its five largest suppliers and sub-contractors for years. Over the years,
the Group has been working closely with them and have maintained good
relationships.

In order to have a better and close monitoring of suppliers’ performance,
the Group’s management regularly conducts performance reviews
targeting the Group’s major suppliers and sub-contractors and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

Further discussions on the relationship with key stakeholders is set out in the ESG
Report.
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Report of the Directors

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives to
minimize its environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging recycle
of office supplies and other materials. The Group believes that it is essential for it
to be as environmentally responsible as possible in the execution of its projects.
The fit-out construction services provided by its sub-contractors in Hong Kong are
subject to certain laws and regulations relating to environmental protection.

Further discussions on the environmental policies is set out in the ESG Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries
with projects located in various locations such as Hong Kong, the PRC, Asia
(excluding Hong Kong and the PRC), Europe and the Middle East. The Group’s
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with all applicable
laws in the jurisdictions where it has operations. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief on the date of this annual report, the Group
has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Company.

Further discussions on the compliance with laws and regulations is set out in the
ESG Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group at that
date are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to
182 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year (2021:
Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 16 December 2022 (the
“2022 AGM"), the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 13 December 2022 to Friday, 16 December 2022, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the 2022 AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 12 December 2022.
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Report of the Directors

i% FE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the Year, together with summary of the financial results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group for the four years ended 30 June 2021 is set
out on page 183 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the
Year are set out in note 13 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 30 June 2022 and as at the date of this annual report, the authorised share
capital of the Company was HK$100,000,000 divided into 2,500,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company with par value of HK$0.04 each and the issued
share capital was HK$28,800,000 divided into 720,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company with par value of HK$0.04 each.

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the Year are set out
in note 24 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in the sub-section headed “Share Consolidation and Change in
Board Lot Size” in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this annual report, the Share Consolidation and Change in Board Lot Size took
effect on 23 August 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in notes
25 and 32(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2022, there was no reserves available for distribution pursuant to
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s reserves available for
distribution shall be the sum of the Company’s share premium and accumulated
losses, which may be distributable provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the place of incorporation of the
Company.
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Report of the Directors

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue derived from the Group's five largest clients accounted
for approximately 53.2% of the total revenue of the Group for the Year and
revenue derived from the largest client for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$4.7 million, representing approximately 11.7% of the Group's total revenue
for the Year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 40.1% of the total costs for the Year and purchase from the largest
supplier for the Year amounted to approximately HK$3.2 million, representing
approximately 11.1% of the Group's total direct costs for the Year.

None of Directors, any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group'’s five largest customers or
five largest suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to
HK$13,000.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lau King Lok (Resigned with effect from 9 September 2022)
Mr. Leung Pak Yin

Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie

Mr. Lam Wing Hung (Appointed on 16 September 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin (Appointed on 28 September 2021)
Mr. Shing Wai Yip (Retired on 3 December 2021)

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, Mr. So Chi Hang
and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin shall retire by rotation at the 2022 AGM. Both
of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2022 AGM.
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In addition, by virtue of Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Lam Wing
Hung shall retire as Director at the 2022 AGM. He, being eligible, will offer
himself for re-election at the 2022 AGM.*

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against it Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in
or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their respective offices;
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

Save for the above, at no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section
9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of
Hong Kong)) being in force for the benefit at any of the Directors (whether made
by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of an associated company
(if made by the Company).

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Details of the Directors’ profiles are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors, Joint Company Secretaries and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors emoluments are set out in note 8 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS OR LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Each of Mr. Lee Wai Sang, Mr. Leung Pak Yin and Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie,
being executive Directors, has renewed his/her service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from 9 September 2022, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either party on
the other.

Mr. Lam Wing Hung, the executive Director, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term commencing from 16 September 2022 to 8
September 2023, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
served by either party on the other.
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Each of Mr. So Chi Hang and Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin, being independent
non-executive Directors, has renewed his letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from 9 September 2022, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice served by either party on
the other.

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin, being independent non-executive Director, has renewed his
letter of appointment with the Company for a period from 28 September 2022
to 8 September 2023, which may be terminated by not less than three months’
notice served by either party on the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2022 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
FROM THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations, the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 22 to the audited consolidated financial statements,
there was no transaction, arrangements or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his or her connected entity
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder(s) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in existence as at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, and underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which each of them has taken or deemed to have taken under
the SFO), or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long Position

The Company/Name of

EENFETHARERRASEAEEE
Wkt - EERG RESFEFNEZRA

R

RZBE-—FXAZFTH ARAEZREFBITHAEE
$ AR EAEEE (TEREHF LSRRI EXVE) &
BRip - HERG REFTEAAREERAAREES R
%“MW%W%%U&“%%A$ AR AP 2 B
KE (REBREEHFRAERABEFIRAER L ER
RAR) RN AR RIREE R REKDIE3521658
Efﬁmﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁimﬁ FREZETIME AN
BB ARNT

#e

Name and class of shares held/
interested in the Company/

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/Nature of interest associated corporation shareholding
NSV =L ey
B3N ARA/ A=A A 51/ EsltE Hx NETRAARR BRAOBEE DL
|
Lee Wai Sang (“Mr. Lee”) The Company Interest in a controlled corporation and 100,400,000 (Note) 13.94%
interest of spouse
FRE(FRED AT SEHAB R R A BES 100,400,000 (4/z#) 13.94%
CGH (BVI) Limited Beneficial owner and interest of spouse 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100%
BaA AR BER 1005 &R ETEEK
Leung Mo Shan Jackie ~ The Company Interest in a controlled corporation and 100,400,000 (Note) 13.94%
(“Ms. Leung") interest of spouse
REM(R% L)) ARF ERLALL SN 100,400,000 (4/:#) 13.94%
CGH (BVI) Limited Beneficial owner and interest of spouse 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100%

EifA AR BED

100 E 1 E T LR

Note: Such shares were registered in the name of CGH (BVI) Limited, a company owned as
to 50% and 50% by Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of
the SFO, each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung is deemed to be interested in all the shares
of the Company held by CGH (BVI) Limited. Besides, Mr. Lee is the spouse of Ms.
Leung. By virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung
is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares in which his / her spouse is
deemed to be interested. Fach of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung is a director of CGH (BVI)
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, none of the Directors and/or chief
executive of the Company nor their associates had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which each of them has taken or deemed to have taken under
the SFO), or which would be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register required to be kept therein or which would be required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS” AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the table below listed out the persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who had interests in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company pursuant to provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Position

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest

BREH Sy EmitE

EE

FERRREMATREAR TR RAER
HHNERERAR

R-Z-_FRAZTH RARAEERRAEEEM
RE TREFNARA RN AR AEREES
RS RHIEXVBE2RE3D BRXERARARESR
EERARAREES RSP FI36FRTFENE
HELMHEENALT(TERAATNEFRIRIRA
B)mT:

#R

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

CGH (BVI) Limited Beneficial Owner

EElEA

held/interest in shareholding
H/ AR
GOlPSrE 4E BARRE DL
100,400,000 (Note) 13.94%
100,400,000 (4:%) 13.94%

Note: Such shares were registered in the name of CGH (BVI) Limited, which is owned as to
50% and 50% by each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are not aware of any other person who had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time
during the Year was the Company or its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2016, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme, which
falls within the ambit of, and is subject to the regulations under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective during the
period commencing on 12 September 2016 and ending on 11 September 2026,
being the date falling ten years from the date on which the Share Option Scheme
became unconditional. A summary of the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(1)~ The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees, to attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group, to provide additional incentive or rewards to employees (full-time
and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors, contractors, suppliers,
customers and shareholders of the Group.

(2)  The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may
think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director, contractor,
supplier, consultant, advisor, customer or shareholder of the Group options
to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any
participant to the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board (or
as the case may be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to
time on the basis of his or her contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

(3)  An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 7 days inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the
grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the
grant of an option is HK$10.

(4)  Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
of grant of the share options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of a share option
before it can be exercised.

(5)  The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by
the Board and notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share on the date of grant of the option.
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(6)  The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(@)

subject to sub-paragraph 6(b) and 6(c) below, the maximum number
of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (excluding, for this purpose, shares issuable upon
exercise of options which have been granted but which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of all the shares of the Company in issue,
being 2,400,000,000 shares as at 12 September 2016, being the
date on which the shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (the
“General Scheme Limit”). Based on the number of shares in issue
on 12 September 2016, being the date on which the shares were
listed on the Stock Exchange, the General Scheme Limit of the Share
Option Scheme was 240,000,000 shares. The General Scheme Limit
was adjusted from 240,000,000 shares to 60,000,000 shares for
the effect of the share consolidation with effect from 24 November
2020. The General Mandate Limit was further adjusted from
60,000,000 shares to 6,000,000 shares for the effect of the share
consolidation with effect from 23 August 2022.

The General Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the Shareholders in general meeting provided
that the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the refreshed 10% limit.

The Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting for granting options beyond the General Scheme
Limit provided the options in excess of the General Scheme Limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the Company
before such approval is sought.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company
i this will result in such 30% limit being exceeded.
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(7)  The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such
grantee and his or her associates abstaining from voting.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof.

No options had been granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.
As such, the total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of the share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme was 6,000,000 shares,
representing approximately 8.3% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme was approximately 4 years.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in note 27 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 14A.73 of
the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and has continued to maintain
such float as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company nor their
respective associates were interested in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE
NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING FROM
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, each of the then controlling shareholders (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company, namely, Mr. Lee, Ms. Leung
and CGH (BVI) Limited have entered into the deed of non-competition (“Deed
of Non-competition”) in favour of the Company on 22 August 2016 pursuant to
which the then controlling shareholders irrevocably undertake to the Group that
they will not and will procure their close associates (except any member of the
Group) not to, directly or indirectly (whether in the capacity of principal or agent,
whether for its own benefit or jointly with or on behalf of any person, firm or
company, whether within or outside China), commence, engage in, participate
in or acquire any business which competes or may compete directly or indirectly
with the core business of the Group, being interior design business (“Restricted
Business”) or own any rights or interests in such business.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 21 December 2021,
each of Mr. Lee, Ms. Leung and CGH (BVI) Limited ceased to be a controlling
shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company immediately
following the disposal of 45,320,000 shares of the Company on the open market
on 16 December 2021, the Deed of Non-competition is no longer enforceable
and all undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition lapsed.

Details of the Deed of Non-competition have been set out in the paragraph
headed “Relationship with our controlling shareholders — Non-competition
Undertaking” of the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from these then controlling
shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company in respect
of their respective compliance and that of their respective close associates
with the Deed of Non-competition during the period from 1 July 2021 to 16
December 2021. The independent non-executive Directors, having reviewed the
confirmation and the status of compliance, were satisfied that all the undertakings
under the Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by the then
controlling shareholders and duly enforced during the period from 1 July 2021 to
16 December 2021.
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Report of the Directors

i% FE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance for
enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted and committed to
the code provisions set out in the CG Code and has prepared the corporate
governance report, which is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report. The Board will continue to review and monitor
the practices of the Company with an aim to maintaining the highest standard of
corporate governance.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited by BDO
Limited, who will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at
the 2022 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as auditor of
the Company is to be proposed at the 2022 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wai Sang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 September 2022

* Mr. Hu Xiongjie was appointed as an executive Director on 11 October 2022. By virtue
of Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Hu Xiongjie shall also retire as Director
at the 2022 AGM. He, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the 2022 AGM.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{&H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CROSSTEC GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(ZEKEZERERDT)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CROSSTEC Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 182, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 2.1(b)(ii) in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$21,888,000 for the year ended 30 June 2022, and as of that date,
the Group had total current bank borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$8,000,000. Also, the Group had capital deficiency of approximately
HK$12,424,000. However, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$21,629,000. As stated in Note 2.1(b)(ii), these conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in Note 2.1(b)(ii) in the consolidated
financial statements indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Revenue recognition on contracts from interior

solutions projects
Refer to Notes 3.1(h), 3.2(a) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group’s revenue from interior solutions
projects amounted to approximately HK$25,984,000.

The Group recognises revenue of contracts from interior solutions projects
over time using an input method based on the progress towards satisfaction of
the services, measured based on proportion of actual cost incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total cost. Accordingly, revenue
recognition involves a significant degree of judgement, with estimates being
made to assess the total costs and on progress towards complete satisfactions
of the contract and to assess appropriately whether contracts from interior
solutions projects are onerous contracts.

We identified the revenue recognition on contracts from interior solutions
projects as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement exercised by the
management in determining the total costs and on progress towards complete
satisfactions of the contract and to assess appropriately whether contracts from
interior solutions projects are onerous contracts.

Our response:

Our key procedures in relation to management’s assessment for revenue
recognition on contracts from interior solutions projects included:

- Checking the contract sum to the underlying contracts entered
into with the customers and other relevant correspondences and
supporting documents in respect of variations in contract works or price
adjustments, on a sample basis;

- Assessing the reasonableness of contract revenue recognised and the
stage of completion by reference to the actual cost incurred to date over
the budgeted costs on sample basis;

- Checking the budgeted costs to the underlying supporting documents
including but not limited to price quotation and contracts, on a sample
basis;

- Checking on a sample basis the progress billings and the actual costs
incurred on contract works to the underlying supporting documents
during the reporting period; and

- Checking financial budget for each on-going contract to assess whether
expected loss on contract was properly recognised as an expense
immediately.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment
Refer to Notes 3.1(k), 3.2(b) and 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s property, plant and equipment were fully
impaired.

Management is required to perform impairment assessment on the property,
plant and equipment where indicators of impairment are identified. For
the purpose of impairment testing, assets were tested at cash-generating
unit (“CGU") level. Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing whether the carrying amount of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value
less costs of disposal or value in use; and the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections. To support management’s
assessment, the Group has engaged an independent professional valuer as
management’s expert. Based on the above assessment performed, for the
year ended 30 June 2022, management concluded that impairment loss of
approximately HK$3,321,000 was made in respect of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment.

We identified the impairment of property, plant and equipment as a key audit
matter due to the significant judgement exercised by the management in
determining the key assumptions adopted in the assessment of the recoverable
amount.

Our response:

Our key procedures in relation to management’s assessment for impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment included:

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology in respect of the
assessment of the recoverable amount of the CGU to which property,
plant and equipment have been allocated in the impairment test;

- Assessing the reasonableness of underlying key assumptions used;

- Checking the appropriateness of key input data used in the assessment
of the recoverable amount;

- Checking the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of the
recoverable amount of the CGU;

- Involving an auditor’s expert to assist our evaluation on the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology and reasonableness of key
assumptions; and

- Evaluating the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the
management’s expert and auditor’s expert.

S@EELRARAS CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited © © o o o 099

B RHERE

ARELEE(E)
NE - BERREZREFSE

EWRDERA P ERENE3AK - 3.20)R13

RZZZ_FRXA=1H  EREZVE BELR
EAEUAE

EEBENERRENZBENE  BERREBETHE
Ty RRENATNE  EERNECELEN ([REE
BN EEETIS AEERENAREEREEL
HE o BRIRETE-EAE REERE LB TRE
2HEARTERELERASFEREET 2BRE) TX
BiARERHRERBIGERCESBERRR - AY
BERE L BL£ECZE-ZBUIELERME
AEEEBER - BELUMETZIG 2 -2-=
FNAZHEIEEE BEEStzEHmAR E£E2
ME - BERREEL 43,321,000 T 2 BESE -

EF*@EE%E%HTW@%%%%%ZIEJ“ E

HERHE - ERNE - BERRBZAERE S
%ﬁ%ﬁ$ﬁ°

ATRESHEY:

ESREEEUNZE  BELREIAEFEOFEEE
MEIRBFEME:

HEEREARPORENR BERREZRE
ELBUZARESBFENTERTEE

- AR ZABRRERELAE

- REMEITUEEBEEANEREANEREE

=
=

- REHERGELBLZTNESEL BORR
f

- RH-EAREANERBHESFEBETERD
AELARBRELGAE R

- GHAEREMERRRERNERZSR EAR
RHIE-



100 - -«

Independent Auditor’s Report
RV LEES

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Wong Kwok Wai

Practising Certificate no. P06047

Hong Kong, 27 September 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2022 BF _E__#/ HA=1HIFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
B &E TET TET
Revenue LN 5 40,006 86,601
Direct costs BEEMA (28,355) (67,918)
Gross profit EX 11,651 18,683
Other income Hip A 5 1,353 2,225
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of REMEZATECRD) /1Em
investment property 14 (90) 40
Reversal of impairment on TREEHERDFE
financial assets, net - 19
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairmenton  #1% ~ B /E Rk CREE®E)
property, plant and equipment, net BB B @)% 50 13 (3,321) 16
Other (loss)/gain, net Hith (B18) /Wt F 58 5 (488) 241
Administrative expenses THREX (29,797) (32,131)
Finance costs BB 6 (1,196) (870)
Loss before income tax BRET SR A AIE B 7 (21,888) (11,777)
Income tax expense P15 B F X 10 - (21)
Loss for the year and attributable FAREAREEARLER
to owners of the Company (21,888) (11,798)
Item that may be reclassified HEWEHSBEZBRENER
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating WINEBHREEANER ZH
foreign operations 613 (26)
Other comprehensive income for the FARFARDEEARGEHRMEZE
year and attributable to owners of the A (HNBRBLE)
Company, net of tax 613 (26)
Total comprehensive income for the FARKARETAEMGEZEKA
year and attributable to owners B
of the Company (21,275) (11,824)
(re-presented)
Loss per share BREE (EFHZ75)
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AL #E (B) 12 (30.40) (16.39)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position REMERRE
As at 30 June 2022 R-E-—#XH=+H
2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R k& 13 - 6,841
Investment property REMZ 14 8,050 8,140
Deposits Be 16 33 1,752
8,083 16,733
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables W E 5 K H b FRIE 16 16,560 12,903
Income tax recoverable CIEEIR ] 200 200
Pledged bank deposits BIRIFRITER 17 2,000 6,795
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 18 21,629 11,980
40,389 31,878
Total assets HMEE 48,472 48,611
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B85 EEMFKIEA 19 12,437 19,782
Contract liabilities EHEE 20 13,307 2,814
Lease liabilities MERRE 15 6,038 6,643
Bank borrowings RITIEE 21 8,000 6,000
39,782 35,239
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEE/ (BE) FE 607 (3,361)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBER 8,690 13,372
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 391 6,101
Shareholder’s loan BERER 22 20,723 -
21,114 6,101
Total liabilities BELEHE 60,896 41,340
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (B BEFE (12,424) 7,271
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital LN 24 28,800 28,800
Reserves &1 25 (41,224) (21,529)
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)/TOTAL EQUITY  (BAE4) /ErER (12,424) 7,271
On behalf of the board of directors REESFE
Mr. Lee Wai Sang Mr. Leung Pak Yin
FERERE REAREE
Director Director
5= EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity REARGEBRX
For the year ended 30 June 2022 BE-_F-_—# H=THIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARARANEE
Share Merger  Exchange Capital  Accumulated
Share  premium reserve reserve reserve losses
capital -~ (Note 25(i)) ~ (Note 25(ii)) ~ (Note 25(iii)  (Note 25(iv)) ~ (Note 25(v)) Total

B AHEE  EiEE  AAEE  RHEE
BA (Ws)  (WE2se) (HE2s6)  (F&E250)  (KE5W) i
|
HKS000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR  TER  TERT  TER  TEn  TERT  TER

As at 1]uly 2020 RZB-RFLA-A 28,800 62,663 5329 174 - (77,871) 19,095
Loss for the year ERERE - - - - - (11,798 (11,799)

Other comprehensive income for the year  FREM 2 EMA
Exchange differences on translating foreign ~ $JMEHHREELNEL

operations =8 - - - (26) - - (26)
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 ERALE = = = (26) = (11,798) (11,824)
As at 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZBZ-EXAZTHER

“B--£th-H 28,800 62,663 5,329 148 = (89,669) 7071
Loss for the year ERER = = = = = (21,888) (21,888)

Other comprehensive income for the year ~ EREMZERA
Exchange differences on translating foreign ~ ¥5h ¥ HREEEMES

operations =8 - - - 613 - - 613
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 ENALE - = - 613 = (21,888)  (21.275)
Deemed contribution from a shareholder ~ BEREME (Fi322)

(Note 22) = - - - 1,580 - 1,580
As at 30 June 2022 RZB-ZERA=TH 28,800 62,663 5329 761 1580 (11557 (12424)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows GEBERER
For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE_F-__# A=1THIFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
B3 FHEL FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFREBEERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax B BT 1S H R B 12 (21,888) (11,777)
Adjustments for: FHE
Interest income FEWA 5 (18) 22)
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEEN S 6 258 183
Interest on shareholder’s loan &Y= E 6 525 =
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 6 413 687
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment) ME - BERRERE
on property, plant and equipment, net B (BERE) $8 7 3,321 (16)
Reversal of impairment on financial CREERDREFR
assets, net 7 - (19)
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERRETE
equipment 13 3,932 4,251
Decrease/(increase) in fair value of BEWMENTERD,(EN)
investment property 14 90 (40)
Operating loss before working capital EELESEDAI2REEE
changes (13,367) (6,753)
Increase in trade and other receivables U B 5 K H fth FRIEE N (1,938) (6,331)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other ENE S REMZRECRD) /1
payables (7,472) 5,280
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AR N/ Crd) 10,493 (1,503)
Cash used in operations KEFAR S (12,284) (9,307)
Income tax paid ERAEH - (10)
Net cash used in operating activities RETB ARS8 (12,284) 9,317)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B U F 8 18 22
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEE Y% « B/ K& iE (57) (40)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RREHEARITFER 4,795 1,125
Net cash generated from investing activities 1% &/&BFT{EH & F5 4,756 1,107
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITBEEMBRIEA 28 7,000 10,000
Repayment of bank borrowings EERRITEE 28 (5,000) (4,000)
Proceeds from shareholder’s loan BREREFRATE A 28 28,000 =
Repayment of shareholder’s loan EERFER 28 (6,000) -
Repayment of principal portion of lease BREEaENREIHNH
liabilities 28 (6,670) (4,462)
Repayment of interest portion of lease BEBERBENNEHN
liabilities 28 (413) (687)
Interest paid BARHLE 28 (353) (176)
Net cash generated from financing activities B&EEFTEH & F5E 16,564 675
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows RERERER(E)
(continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022 AE-T-—#F HA=-THIFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
s FHEL FAT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND B&RBEEZEMEM/ (D) B
CASH EQUIVALENT 9,036 (7,535)
Effect of exchange rate on cash and EXHR SRR EENNTE
cash equivalents 613 (26)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FURERBREEEY
of year 11,980 19,541
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERRERREEEY
AT END OF YEAR 21,629 11,980
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GENERAL INFORMATION

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 18 March 2016 as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered
office of the Company is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office
Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
headquarter and principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at
20th Floor, 625 King’s Road, North Point, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group”) is principally engaged in the
trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and provision of
interior design, project consultancy, maintenance and interior solutions
services.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued) 1. —RERE)
Information about subsidiaries ERNBARIMNER

ARAMBARMFENT :

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of Issued and fully
incorporation and form Percentage of equity attributable to the Company  paid ordinary share capital or  Principal activities and
Name of entity of business structure ARTEEREADY, registered capital principal place of business
MR AHAR BETRBREBR
ERAR FHRERA 2022 2001 RAZEHER IREPRIRERNA
Direct  Indirect Direct ~ Indirect
BR i BR 53

Crosstec (BVI) Limited

Crosstec (BVI) Limited

Crosstec Group Limited

AEEEERAA

Crosstec International
Limited

HEARARAR

(2 Concept Limited
fREERRSERAR
CPI Holdings Limited
CPI Holdings Limited

Crosstec Business
Management Limited

HREFEEARLA

BVI, 21 March 2016,
limited liability company

REERES
& R
“t-R ARAT

Hong Kong, 10 May 2007,
limited liability company

BE TR
EATHE BRAR

Hong Kong, 17 May 2007,
limited liability company

BR CFRLA
BATLR - ARAT

Hong Kong, 22 January 2019,
limited liability company
A ik
~AZ1ZR ARAR
Hong Kong, 22 March 2018,
limited liability company
B _R)\F
ZRZtZR ARAR
Hong Kong, 21 April 1999,
limited liability company
Bt -ANE
MAZT=H ARAR

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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- HK$100 divided into

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100 shares of HKS1 each
100E7H5 51008

BREEATARN
Ordinary shares of HK$100,000
1000005 EBH

Ordinary shares of HK$100,000

100,000 T E &R

Ordinary shares of HKS1
TATERR

Ordinary shares of HK$1
1BTERR

Ordinary shares of HK$100,000

100,000 T £ &R

Investment holding, Hong Kong

REZR - &%

Investment holding, Hong Kong
RERK &

Trading of millwork, furniture and facade
fabrication and provision of interior design,
project consultancy, maintenance and
interiors solutions services, Hong Kong

HEDE  RERARE  FENR
BRMEN R RN - R
il RERENBRARRE - B

Provision of interiors solutions services,
Hong Kong

RUERRRTRES B8

Investment holding, Hong Kong
REnk &

Provision of labour and management
services, Hong Kong

REAHNRERRE B
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—RER (&)

FRNBLRNENE)
RARMBARNFENT : (&)

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of Issued and fully
incorporation and form Percentage of equity attributable to the Company  paid ordinary share capital or  Principal activities and
Name of entity of business structure FAFEGRER AL registered capital principal place of business
GBIV EE DY BRARAREER
EEAR FRRBRYA 2022 2001 RAZERER IRRRIRERUE
Direct  Indirect Direct ~ Indirect

BR A& BR B

Crosstec Trading
(Shenzhen) Company
Limited ("EHEER5
(FIVERAR)

ERES (K) AR
i

Crosstec (Shenzhen)
Contracting Company
Limited (“Z&(RY)
RBTRARLA)

5t (R) 6T
BRAA

CX (Macau) Limited
(“RIEE(ER)
—\ERAR)

Crosstec Design
Consultants Limited

HRXHBRARAA

Crosstec Overseas
Holdings B.V.

Crosstec Overseas
Holdings B.V.

Crosstec Design Solution
GMBH

Crosstec Design
Solution GMBH

M0 - ...

People’s Republic of China -
(“PRC") 4 December 2009,
limited liability company

PEARLAE ([+8] ) -
“ERNETARE
BRAA

PRC, 5 December 2017, limited -
liability company

HE —E—+F
t-ARA  ARAA

Macau, 17 December 2013, -
limited liability company

2 25-=F
TZATLR ARAR

Hong Kong, 3 October 2016, -
limited liability company

Bt —FNFTAZR-
BRAT

Amsterdam, the Netherlands, -
28 November 2016, limited
liability company

HRMBHER  —2-F
t=A=t\B ERAR

Berlin, Germany, 20 January -
2017, limited liability
company

[BEm - —E-tF
—RZtR - BRAA

—ZB-—&E#H% Annual Report 2022

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Registered capital of
HK$1,500,000

1,500,000 LA

Registered capital of Renminbi
(‘RMB") 2,000,000

AEH (TAR%])2,000,0007
AfER

Registered capital of
Macao Patacas (“MOP")
25,000

25,0008 9%
([RF% ) AR

Ordinary shares of HK$100,000
1000007 5K

Euro (“EUR") 1, divided into
1 share of EURT each

1B (1B ) 6 1R
shafeTakt

EUR25,000, divided into 25,000

shares of EURT each

25,000BRTL 47 2 £25,0008%
SREE B TR

Trading of millworks and furniture, PRC

HELE  RERARARER
hE

Funiture and facade fabrication and
provision of interior design, project
consultancy and interiors solutions
services, PRC

FENRRRSEN R =
Rat  BEFAREARANR
i -

Trading of millwork, furniture and facade
fabrication and provision of interior design,
project consultancy and interiors solutions
services, Macau

HESE  RERARS  RENR
BRESENRIEZAR
BEHAREARA RIS - 25

Provision of interior design services,
Hong Kong
REEARRY - £4

Investment holding, Netherland

REZR - 7R

Provision of marketing and liaising services
to the inter-group companies, Germany

AEBARTRETSRER
B4EE 8
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued) 1. —RERE)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EEMBLANEN (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) ARAIMBRAMNFENT : (F)
Place and date of Issued and fully
incorporation and form Percentage of equity attributable to the Company  paid ordinary share capital or -~ Principal activities and
Name of entity of business structure FAFEGRER AL registered capital principal place of business
GBIV EE DY BEATRBREBR
ERLR FHRERA 2022 201 RAZERER TERPRIRE U
Direct  Indirect Direct ~ Indirect

BR A& BR B
|

Crosstec (London) Limited ~ England & Wales, 23 July 2015, - 100% - 100%  Great British Pound (“GBP") Dormant, United Kingdom
limited liability company 100, divided into 100 shares
of GBP1 each
Crosstec (London) Limited M REAE - —F-1f 10X (ZB)FAR0R ERER 2E
tAZT=R ARAT SREEIREORD
Davenport (HK) Holdings  Hong Kong, 6 April 2018, - 100% - 100%  Ordinary shares of HKS1 Investment holding, Hong Kong
Limited limited liability company
Davenport (HK) Holdings &% ~Z—/\EWAA - BT ERR RERK &
Limited ARAF
Crosstec Network Hong Kong, 2 May 2019, - 100% - 100%  Ordinary shares of HKS1 Provision of facade management services,
Technology Limited limited liability company Hong Kong
HERENBARAR  FR —TNF 1R LR RUBRERRS B4
RAZH - BRAR
Trinity Facade Hong Kong, 5 September 2018, = 100% - 100% Ordinary shares of HK$1 Investment holding, Hong Kong
Sustainability limited liability company
Technology Limited
FoRRRARE BE _T)\F IR EER RARR  FR
HRERAT ARER - BRAA
Iyou Entertec Limited ~ Hong Kong, 26 August 2021, - 100% - - Ordinary shares of HK$200 Dormant, Hong Kong
limited Iiability company
HEHERRAR Bt _2-F/\A=tAE- 200ETERR ERER R
ARAR
Manke Enternet Limited  Hong Kong, 26 August 2021, - 100% - - Ordinary shares of HK$200 Dormant, Hong Kong
limited Iiability company
EHERARLR e A = 00ETEBR ERER B
BRAA
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“Companies Ordinance”). In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption
(i) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for investment
property which is measured at fair value. The measurement
bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

(i) Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$21,888,000 for the year ended 30 June 2022,
and as of that date, the Group had total current bank
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$8,000,000.
Also, the Group had capital deficiency of approximately
HK$12,424,000. However, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$21,629,000. These
conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In assessing the appropriateness of the use of the going
concern basis in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company have
prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period up to
September 2023. The directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and the Group’s available
sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern. The following considerations have been taken into
account in the cash flow forecast:
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AEEREE-_F-__F A=T1H
I FE G EE 421,688,000/ °
MAEENZBZ RBRITIEERSE
%) 58,000,000/ 7T o BN AEE
ZEBAREAE B12,424,0005 7T ° R
- AEEZREREEEENN A
21,629,000/ 7T ° W EBHRETFAE
ZEATHETH THALEBFEL
B7RENELEASME -

RiMEERFECERERRGAN
BRERGAER AAREZEEH
H—mEEE—T-=F N AZHH
ZRAEREN EZERLHFAEEER
EERRZTBESRERURAE
EraREeRE  UilhASEE
LHERAMBERNEERELS -
BeRERAPEHRUTZER
=:



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern

assumption (continued)
(i) Going concern assumption (continued)

- As at the approval date of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had unutilised
banking facilities of HK$9,000,000. The management
has been in the process of negotiating the renewal
of the banking facilities with the bank and it is
considered that the renewal will be successful;

- As disclosed in notes 22 and 33, the Group
had total facility line granted by its shareholder
of HK$39,000,000 based on the facility letters
dated 22 December 2021 and 7 September 2022
respectively. As at the approval date of these
consolidated financial statements, the unutilised
loan facility available for drawdown amounted to
HK$10,000,000; and

- The Group will continue its efforts to enhance its
operation to improve its cash flow from operations to
strengthen its working capital.

Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty exists related
to the above conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as going concern, and therefore it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business. Whether the Group would be able to
continue as a going concern depends upon the Group’s ability
to generate adequate financing and operating cash flows through
(a) renewing the facilities from the bank; (b) drawing down the
unutilised facilities of the shareholder’s loan as and when needed;
and (c) generating operating cash flows based on its forecasted
revenue. The directors of the Company are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to reduce the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their realisable amounts,
to provide for liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands,
except when otherwise indicated. Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and records in its own functional currency.

2.2 ADOPTION OF HKFRS

(a) Adoption of amended HKFRS - effective 1
July 2021

Amendments to HKFRS Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS16

The adoption of the amendments to standards and framework has
no significant impact on the Group’s results and financial position
or any substantial changes in Group’s accounting policies.

(b) New/amended HKFRS that have been issued

but are not yet effective

The following new/amended HKFRS, potentially relevant to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the
Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on
the date they become effective.
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2.2 ADOPTION OF HKFRS (continued)

(b) New/amended HKFRS that have been issued (b)
but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1
R GIERE1F 27T
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BEHEAZHRE AN HREEN
fi‘kéﬁﬂ%zsﬁzf
Amendments to HK Interpretation 5(2020)

EeaREsHeE (ZF-FF)

Amendmgnts to HKAS 8
BBQHERET 2185
Amendments to HKAS 12

BEQHEE12R 2B

Amendments to HKAS 16
BEQERF165 2B

Amendments to HKAS 37
BEQHERE R 2B

HKFRS 17

BEYBRERNE 7R

Amendments to HKFRS 3

RN BREENEIR BT
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
BEENBARDLERD

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
SR BE

Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause
HBRER 2T -ERAHBEEEERER L

BT HER AR

Definition of Accounting Estimates

i 2

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

REE-BR 5 RERAB RBRETIE

Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended

% WERRE-SEREAMEHE

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BREAN-BIaNZKE

Insurance Contracts

RBEAH

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

i ER IR

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate

or Joint Venture

AR BREEF 07 REBL L RAFEABE DAL ERE  ANEEL SRS
F285F 2B
/-\nnual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
- \EE-R-RERBMBMEREN L
T EEE
Notes: Kzt -
(i) Effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is (i)

on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

(i) The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or
contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined.
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2.2 ADOPTION OF HKFRS (continued)

(b)

New/amended HKFRS that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current

or Non-current and HK Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain that rights
are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the
reporting period. The amendments also introduce a definition of
‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer
to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or
services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the Amendments
to HKAS 1 issued in August 2020. The revision to HK Int 5 (2020)
updates the wordings in the interpretation to align with the
Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in conclusion and do not
change the existing requirements.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify how companies should
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in
accounting estimates. That distinction is important because
changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively only
to future transactions and other future events, but changes in
accounting policies are generally also applied retrospectively to
past transactions and other past events.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 (recognition exemption) so
that it no longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling such items,
and the cost of producing those items, is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.2 ADOPTION OF HKFRS (continued)

(b)

New/amended HKFRS that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs
that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs
of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) or an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts
(e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts
and supersedes HKFRS 4, Insurance Contracts. The standard
outlines a ‘General Model’, which is modified for insurance
contracts with direct participation features, described as the
'Variable Fee Approach’. The General Model is simplified if
certain criteria are met by measuring the liability for remaining
coverage using the Premium Allocation Approach.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 instead of
the version issued in 2010. The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a
requirement that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition
date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For a
levy that would be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies,
the acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the
obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also add an
explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent
assets acquired in a business combination.
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2.2 ADOPTION OF HKFRS (continued)

(b)

New/amended HKFRS that have been issued

but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction with an associate or joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any gains
or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does
not contain a business are recognised in the profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate
or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from
the remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary
(that has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair value are
recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of standards,
including:

. HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, which permit a subsidiary that applies
paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure cumulative
translation differences using the amounts reported by its
parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to HKFRSs.

. HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of
HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a financial
liability, explaining that only fees paid or received between
the entity and the lender, including fees paid or received
by either the entity or the lender on other’s behalf are
included.

. HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend Illustrative Example 13
to remove the illustration of reimbursement of leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to resolve any potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives that
might arise because of how lease incentives are illustrated
in that example.

. HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement to
exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value
of a biological asset using a present value technique.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these new/amended HKFRS is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

()

Business combination and basis of

consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the effective dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those used by other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and assets
meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the
Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities and
assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets
and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and
substantive processes and whether the acquired set has the ability
to produce outputs.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred
and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer.
The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in
which case the costs are deducted from equity.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Business combination and basis of

consolidation (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments
to consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the
extent that they arise from new information obtained within
the measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date.
All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the
subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition
plus such non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is
attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this results in
those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and
the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to
exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all three
of the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there
may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of
property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write
off their cost net of expected residual value over their estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual
value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of the reporting period. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Building Over the shorter of the respective
lease terms or 50 years
Over the shorter of the respective
lease terms or 50 years
Over the shorter of the respective
lease terms or 5 years

Right-of-use assets

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fixtures 25%
Office equipment 2010 33.3%
Motor vehicles 30%

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated
recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and
its carrying amount, and is recognised in the profit or loss on
disposal.

Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Investment properties are measured at cost on initial recognition
and subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised
in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property, calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Lease

(i)

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy
to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (i) any initial direct costs incurred
by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property, the Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Lease (continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts expected to
be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect revised
lease in-substance fixed payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any
lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of
a lease extension or termination option being exercised), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect
the payments to make over the revised term, which are
discounted using a revised discount rate. The carrying
value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the
variable element of future lease payments dependent on a
rate or index is revised, except the discount rate remains
unchanged. In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is
made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with
the revised carrying amount being amortised over the
remaining (revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction
is recognised in profit and loss.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Lease (continued)

(i)

(ii)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a
lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one
or more additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price for the additional
right-of-use assets obtained, the modification is accounted
for as a separate lease, in all other cases, where the
renegotiation increases the scope of the lease (whether that
is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional
assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured
using the discount rate applicable on the modification
date, with the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the
same amount. With the exception to which the practical
expedient for Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions applies,
if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope of the
lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability and
right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with any
difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability
is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over
the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments
discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date
and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease
that was not part of the original terms and conditions of
the lease are accounted for as lease modifications. The
Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
recognising the remaining lease payments as income on a
either a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the remaining lease term.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirely when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVTOCI. Debt
investments at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective
interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets
held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets
are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective
of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at FVTOCI,
as described above, debt instruments may be designated
at FVTPL on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not
held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value
in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at
FVTOCI are measured at fair value. Dividend income are
recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend income
clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income and are not reclassified to
profit or loss. All other equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
loss (“ECLs”) on trade and other receivables, other financial
assets measured at amortised cost, contract assets and debt
investments measured at FVTOCI. The ECLs are measured
on either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these
are the ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime
ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest
rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade and retention receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime
ECLs. The Group has assessed the ECLs based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset

has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group). Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit impaired
when: (1) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty; (2) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event; (3) the lender(s) of the counterparty,
for economic or contractual reasons relating to the
counterparty’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; (4) it is becoming probable that
the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or (5) the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

S@EELRARAS CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited © © o o o 129

30 June 2022
—E-—FNA=+A

31 EREHBRBE#E)

) SWIE#E)

(ii)

EREEZHEER(£)

BHIZ  AFHEERRBNHRER
IRELBELZNE  ZEIATE
£

- ARERNATEZHHA XN
KEHHE

- ERTAINPIAREEF
(e ERZBEHEER
£

- EBAzEERET
BERAERBIE: R

BER RS

- Rt W5 BELERRE
ZBBERERR - HEHA
BITRARKEzEH 28
ELBEATHTE -

EHNTER
BAREERRERMS  ARER
RERBELXBINBRRERMN

ERERH - EHEATKAERABEA
(BRAEHE) 2BEH (KRG kAR
ERANERERR) BKBRENS
e A LA AEERARWE
MEERHERBOD AEHER
o BREAKERARE AR
MERBR-RERRNEDRER
RAE-

FEREZEREE
ETIIER  AEERREREESR
EEERE: WV BETARRSEFS
ﬂﬁik%%ﬁﬁ?mﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
B WENTAREN  ORHHF
7 ZEFNHRER %ﬁ%ﬁ%%l
HABMCRERANRR AR 5Y
FHAREERARTEERZER
WRAEF B AERERETAY
Mﬁiﬁ?ﬁ@&%%%ﬁ%’%@
MEEZERTHHEX -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

.vT\ = /\7J ﬁﬂ -’F&% ﬁ

30 June 2022
—E-—FNA=+A

3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)
Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(iii)  Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured
at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
payables, other payables and accruals, bank borrowings
and shareholder’s loan are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liability are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

(iv)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 31
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f)

EXETHRBEA)

¢RMIE(E)

(v)  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(vi)  Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

(g) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other
than the currency of the primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end
of reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets and liability of
foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end
of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity as exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss
of group entities” separate financial statements on the translation
of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net
investment in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified
to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
exchange reserve.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 31 BEASHHEEBE(E)
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Revenue recognition (hy WARR
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance AEERTKEHRER ARG EROE
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services TREMNE RS RE [ EETRR
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to B ) RN o
customers.
A performance obligation represents a good or service that BREEERENE-EmARBR—FI
is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are REHEREBAREE mAMRE - WA IR
substantially the same. Control is transferred over time and PIRIE - BIRHIRREREYR - Y ek
revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress BRER T EKEBRORENEEERNR
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance A

obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

1) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 1) RESEENR ZERERGLE
benefits provided by the Group‘s performance as the Group AAKEROMRANT S
performs;

2)  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that ) ARENBAELRRANAZERE
the customer controls as the Group performs; or MEMESEHN—REE &

3)  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with 3) FEEMEAYAELHASERE
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an tRENEE BAREHESER
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to KEHORREE A BB RITHE
date. Mo

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the TR WASERFPEBHEE mIRBH

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. TR R -

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to BAR GO GRERERRE ONERR

the contract, control of the goods or service are transferred by the E o ARERE-KEHEI-RERENRET

Group to customers at a point in time or over time. FPEBEMIARE 2 2 HHE -
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Revenue recognition (continued)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Sale of products

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
upon delivery of the millwork and furniture, and facade
fabrication.

Income from interior solutions projects

The Group provides interior solutions projects services to
customers. Such services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised from the
contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of performance obligation at the end of the
reporting period, measured using the input method based
on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the services.

Maintenance service income

The Group provides maintenance services to customers.
Such services are recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied over time as the Group creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. Revenue is recognised from the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
performance obligation at the end of the reporting period,
measured using the input method based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the maintenance services.

Design and project consultancy service income

The Group provides design and project consultancy
services to customers. Such services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time as the services
provided are exclusively tailored for customers with
no alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date. Revenue is recognised from the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the design
and project consultancy services as stipulated in the
contract at the end of the reporting period.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Revenue recognition (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using
the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Other income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset is recognised over the period in which the
services are performed representing the Group's right to
consideration for the services performed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones. The contract assets are transferred to trade
debtors when the rights become unconditional.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liability for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for recognised assets and liability that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liability are
recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liability are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

An exception to the general requirement in determining the
appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is
when an investment property is carried at fair value under HKAS
40 “Investment Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties are measured
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of these investment
properties at their carrying amounts at the reporting date.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items directly recognised in other comprehensive income
in which case the taxes are also directly recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(j)

Provisions and contingent liability

Provisions are recognised for liability of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liability unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and
investment in a subsidiary to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or
an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRSs, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRSs.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRSs, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase under that HKFRSs.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset or cash generating unit.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(I) Employee benefits

(i)

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the Group participates in a local municipal government
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Scheme”),
whereby the subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC are
required to contribute certain percentages of the basic
salaries of its employees to the Retirement Scheme to fund
their retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of
all existing and future retired employees of the subsidiaries
of the Company in the PRC. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the Retirement Scheme is to pay
the ongoing required contributions under the Retirement
Scheme. Contributions under the Retirement Scheme are
charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operates outside Hong Kong are required to participate
in pension schemes. The Company is required to make
contributions for these employees, pursuant to the local
regulations. The contributions are charged to profit or loss,
as they become payable in accordance with the respective
rules of the pension schemes.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(I) Employee benefits (continued)
(i)~ Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised when they
accrue to employees. In particular, a provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.
Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

(iii) ~ Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

(m) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or
loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate and are presented separately
from the costs.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and others
providing similar services, the fair value of the services received
is measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the
date of grant. Such fair value is recognised in profit or loss over
the vesting period with a corresponding increase in the share
option reserve within equity. Non-market vesting conditions are
taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments
expected to vest at the end of each reporting period so that,
ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over the vesting
period is based on the number of options that eventually vest.
Market vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the
options granted. As long as all non-market vesting conditions are
satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether the market
vesting conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before
they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification, is also recognised
in profit or loss over the remaining vesting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial

position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks which are not restricted as to use.

Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

()

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimates (see below), that the directors have made in the process
of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making
a judgement by the directors, at a particular point of the time,
about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors consider that the Group has
the capability to continue as a going concern assumption is set
out in Note 2.1(b)(ii).

Revenue recognition on contracts from interior solutions projects
The Group recognises revenue of contracts from interior solutions
projects over time using an input method based on the progress
towards satisfaction of the services, measured based on proportion
of actual cost incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total cost. Accordingly, revenue recognition involves
a significant degree of judgement, with estimates being made
to assess the total costs and on progress towards complete
satisfactions of the contract and to assess appropriately whether
contracts from interior solutions projects are onerous contracts.
The actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than the estimates, which may affect the revenue
and profit recognised in future years as an adjustment to the
amounts recorded to date.
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3.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, other key sources of estimation
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
next financial year are as follows:

Impairment of trade and retention receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL in
respect of trade and retention receivables and assess individually.
The ECL rates are based on the Group’s historical default
rates (taking into consideration forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort). At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

For more information in relation to the impairment of the trade
and retention receivables, please refer to Notes 16 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment at the end of the
reporting period. The property, plant and equipment are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment
testing, assets were tested at cash-generating unit (“CGU")
level. Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether the carrying
amount of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or value in
use; and (i) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate, growth rate
of estimated revenue and profit margin.

Changes in assumptions in impairment assessments across the
years such as the pre-tax discount rate, growth rate of estimated
revenue and profit margin in the cash flow projections could
materially affect fair value less costs of disposal in the impairment
assessment and as a result affect the Group’s financial position
and results of operations.

For more information in relation to the impairment of property,
plant and equipment, please refer to Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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3.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures investment property at fair value. Certain
assets included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
also require disclosure of fair value. Significant estimation and
judgement are required to determine the fair value.

The fair value measurement utilises market observable inputs
and data as far as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value
measurements are categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised are
(the “fair value hierarchy”):

. Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);
. Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than

Level 1 inputs;

. Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market
data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the
lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant effect on the
fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items between
levels are recognised in the period they occur.

For more information in relation to the fair value measurement
of the investment property, please refer to Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments

The Group is principally engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture
and facade fabrication and provision of interior design, project
consultancy, maintenance and interior solutions services. Information
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision makers, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the
operating results of the Group as a whole, as the Group’s resources are
integrated and no discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

ZEEEZEKRAEMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® e o o 143

an\ = ,\7J ﬁi #&% ﬁ

30 June 2022
—E-—FXNA=FA

32 EESHANRMAHFABAPEZE

ERF (&)

(b) HHTRERRZERRR
(&
AFiEiHE
AEBELT N ERANE - AEEEL
SRRATHETARNANL DT AR
B BT ATERARLEAH RIE -

ATEFERERATSIBRAAEHN
REE - BEAVEERAZBAEHD
ENERBZEEROARBAERZA
BERE  2EAUTTRARR (A FER
R

o FIE:AREERERMIEIRE
(RIEHE) :

o B WERIMEBRGHCE
HAaA(TEREF1BEAER):

. EBE TUBES AL L
TEUERH) -

BEENBE LRER EERHARBER
ZATVEHEREATVEZREERBAE
# o B FRBBBRE S HRES -

ARRANEATEI BHE—S AR B
SHEAHBERNE-

2 EEH

genH

AEETENEHESE FERAES KEAR

BREMEARRBZART - HERH RERE

W%RE*%ﬁ ROBRERLHERR  AAK
IREERRERSNERENTINAREE

?2% X RASENERR—AYBETL

BENHABER - Rt TEIJIEENBER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RRMEE

30 June 2022

—F__#ERA=1A
SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DHER(E)
Geographical information wEER
The following table sets out the information about the geographical TREJABAKEREINFELPRAZ MR E
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers and ZEMARBRERTANERDEE ([FEEIFR
non-current assets other than financial instruments (“Specified BEE]

144

non-current assets”).

The Group comprises the following main geographical segments: FEEZIZMROBERMT
(a) Revenue from external customers by Q) REFMEHEEIZRBEHNDE
locations of customers FEHBA
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB GEM0E) 18,279 45,816
Dubai #HE - 2,146
Japan A 39 3,416
People’s Republic of China (“PRC") hEARAME ([HE))
(excluding Hong Kong) (FBREEHS) 13,302 28,837
United Kingdom R 8,332 2,648
United States (“US”) ESNES= ) - 3,717
Others Hfth 54 21
21,727 40,785
40,006 86,601
(b) Specified non-current assets by locations of b) BREEMENBEASZETERD
assets BE
L
HK$’000 HK$’000
FitT FHT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) it (G 2) 8,050 14,882
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) HE (TREEE) - 11
Germany (et - 88
8,050 14,981
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DHEH(E)
Geographical information (continued) HwEEN(E)
(c) Information about major customers © FEEFER
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or RER - REEREEBIA10%3E A £/
more of the Group's total revenue during the year is as follows: EPHBADMT :
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Client A BPA 4,685 -
Client B XFB 4,581 -
Client C BRC 4,115 -
Client D ®FD - 19,810
Client E ®PE —* 9,793
Total @t 13,381 29,603
* Revenue from relevant customer was less than 10% of the Group’s total * KEEEEPZUAAEERFEHR

revenue for the reporting period. YA LRI0%

WAREFNEZNE TS  TREMRR
BEIARBAERERLESFRTX ©

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary
geographical markets of customers, major products and service
lines and timing of revenue recognition.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EP&AIRAB A1
Sales of millwork and ~~ Sales of facade Interior solutions Maintenance Design and project
furniture fabrication projects services consultancy services Total
HELE HRR
AR REER HEBRRE  ZABRAEER RERE EapCERE] &t
2022 2021 2022
HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TAT TEn TER TR FEn TEr TEr TER TEr TEn A
Primary geographical markets ~ EFHEEH
of customers
- Hong Kong -k 1,030 2,666 - 3715799 40,195 497 356 953 2562 18279 45816
- Dubai i - 1586 - 560 - - - - - - - QM6
- Japan - A% 39 3416 - - - - - - - - 39 3416
-PRC fexcluding Hong Kong) -~ — PEE(FREEE) 23 3818 - 3468 10185 19274 191 244 2703 2,033 13302 288%7
- United Kingdomn - &E 8330 2648 - - - - - - - - 83 2648
-US - %A - 37 - - - - - - - - - 37
- Others - &f 3 12 - - - - - 9 2 - 54 b
Total & 9,656 17,803 - 4065 25984 59469 688 609 3,678 4595 40,006 86,601
Timing of revenue recognition AR B (R4
under HKFRS 15 RN HREER
£15%)
- Ata point in time -RERY 9,65 17,863 - 4065 - - - - - - 9656 21928
- Over time -BE-BER - - - - 594 59469 688 609 3678 4595 30350 64673
9,050 17,803 - 4065 25984 59469 688 609 3,678 4595 40,006 86,601
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER
(LOSS)/GAIN, NET

Revenue includes the net invoiced value of goods sold, design and
project consultancy service and maintenance service rendered and
contract revenue earned from the interior solutions projects by the
Group. The amounts of each significant category of revenue recognised
are as follows:

5.

WA B AR B4 (B5E) /s
FH
WABREREEHEER  RER KA AR
BURRERB  EZFREURENRAARER
FIBMALKA - ERRSEZEINBASEEH
Bl

2022 2021

W A FERR < B R 2

Time of revenue recognition

WA -REEES
HEEM

Revenue - at a point in time
Sales of products
— Millwork and furniture

— Facade fabrication —BiEsE
Revenue - over time WA -RB—REM
Income from interior solutions projects ERMATREBRA
Maintenance service income RERBKRA
Design and project consultancy

service income faT IE B @A R B

An analysis of the Group’s other income and other (loss)/gain, net,
recognised is as follows:

-8 BBEAERREER

HK$’000 HK$’000
TAT TAT
9,656 17,863

- 4,065
25,984 59,469
688 609
3,678 4,595
40,006 86,601

AEEERINEMBAREM (BR) /a5
bR NS

2022 2021

Other income Hilw A

Bank interest income RATH B A
Management income BRKA
Government subsidies (Note) B ISHEEE (AT 7E)
Rental income Ae WA

Others Hi

Other (loss)/gain, net B)/WEBE
Exchange (loss)/gain, net 8) /s EE

Note:

The HKSAR Government has launched the “Employment Support Scheme” to provide
time-limited financial support to eligible employers to retain their employees due to the
adverse situation of COVID-19 in Hong Kong.
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6. FINANCE COSTS 6. BMEKAK
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEHOHN S 258 183
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBNHHE 413 687
Interest on shareholder’s loan IRRE SRS 525
1,196 870
7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRESHABE
The Group’s loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/ ASBZBAGHABERNGR/GIA)
(crediting):
]
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET
Depreciation (Note 13): & (hat13)
— Owned property, plant and equipment —BENE BERR 727 913
- Right-of-use assets —ERELE 3,205 3,338
Auditor’s remuneration 2 Gk 638 618
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment) on ~ ¥1%¥ - BE REREBENAEESE (AERD)
property, plant and equipment, net E 3,321 (16)
Reversal of impairment on financial assets, net & &l & & 895 (B & 215 8 - (19)
Exchange loss/(gain), net ELBE/ (k&)  F8 488 (241)
Short-term leases expenses EHEERX 482 217
Expense relating to variable lease payments E@]TT’E%E%EEE%%%Z
not included in the measurement of lease A& SHENFEENRX
liabilities —* =
Gross rental income from investment property REZEME 2R WALE (198) (172)
Less: Direct operating expenses arising from & : REFNELESWAZ
investment property that generated RENENEREERX
rental income during the year 63 36
Net rental income HERAFE (135) (136)
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ & E BH|H %
and chief executive’s remuneration): (BREERFETBAEMS) -
Wages and salaries TEREMN 16,097 17,576
Post-employment benefits — contribution to ~ BEBR B H — R E HFUR NG &l 2 R3¢
defined contribution retirement plan# 488 488
Long service payment RER%E 300 -
Other benefits AftEF 2,173 2,228
# As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to # RoFE-—FXHA=1H FEEVED WL
reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in future years (2021: Nil). FURLBERREERZ BRI (—F =~
F )
* Represent amount of less than HK$1,000. * FEIERT, 0008 T #3515

ZEEEZEKRAEMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® e o o 147



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RRMEE

30 June 2022
—E-_—#NHA=+H

8. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosed pursuant to the
applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance is as follows:

Fees e
Other emoluments: Hif & -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind R REYAE
Discretionary bonus s
Pension scheme contributions RINE T EIHFR

(@) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors were as
follows:

EERFETHRAEMS
REBRLTRARBERARRORBECLESRE
ZNHAEMEDT
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
461 444
4,582 5,013
422 422
72 59
5,076 5,494
5,537 5,938
BYFHTES

(a)

ENTELFRTESZHENT

2022 2021

Mr. So Chi Hang HEBEE
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen, Franklin FIrERLE
Mr. Shing Wai Yip REXRTE
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin LEERLE

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).

Notes:
(i) On 3 December 2021, Mr. Shing Wai Yip retired upon conclusion of
the annual general meeting of the Company as an independent non-

executive director of the Company.

(ii) On 28 September 2021, Mr. Tsang Ho Yin was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EBERTIETBAEME(E)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive (b) BITEERFETHAE
Salaries, Contribution
allowance to defined
and contribution
benefits  Discretionary retirement Total
Fees in kind bonus plans  remuneration
g
2R BiReirE
we EMFlE B 73 e

|
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

MsE FHL FET FAR TET FETL
Year ended 30 June 2022 Hz-Z-CF

ARETHLEEE
Executive directors: #i78%:
Mr. Lee Wai Sang* FRERE 5 2,078 232 18 2,333
Mr. Leung Pak Yin RENLE - 767 80 18 865
Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie ~ RFM%+ (i - 458 - 18 476
Mr. Lau King Lok e S (i) 5 1279 110 18 1,412
10 4,582 422 72 5,086
Year ended 30 June 2021 HEZ-E--F
ANAZTHLEE
Executive directors: WiTES:
Mr. Lee Wai Sang* TEERE 8 3,106 232 18 3,364
Mr. Leung Pak Yin RENEE - 825 80 18 923
Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie ~ RFEM%+ (i - 112 - 5 117
Mr. Lau King Lok e S (i) 5 970 110 18 1,103
13 5013 422 59 5,507
* Mr. Lee Wai Sang is also the chief executive officer of the Company. ¥ FREXLENBEIRTZEETHAEL -
Notes: it -
(i) On 15 April 2021, Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie was appointed as an (i) R-B-—#RH1THA REMLLEE
executive director of the Company. ERBARTHTEE
(i) On 9 September 2022, Mr. Lau King Lok resigned as an executive (if) REB-—#ENANA  HREXLEFLE
director of the Company. RARGTEE -
The director’s fee for all executive directors were waived by them during MERNTESUNERAFRERIERCESH
the year and the prior year. The director’s fee and the sitting fee for T MBBUFNTESHRERAREER L4
board committee meetings for all independent non-executive directors BrESHNERESCREC LR BHINA
were reduced by approximately 13% upon their consents during the 13% - REEVEMENESIAMSERMATR
year and the prior year. There were no emoluments paid by the Group SEAMAREE % 2 REHBERAHE -

to any of the directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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9.

s 4

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2021:
three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 8
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two
(2021: two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company, are as follows:

hEREFHEERSHEEENE

rERRARATNERRR =2 (22 -—%:
ZR)ES - HMeH0IR EXMES - AFEEHS
Ma(ZE-—F @R) LR ARFAEZRERIT
BABZERFHER ZMEHEDT -

Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind ~ ZE=AZ B - 28 & H i E ¥ H%

Discretionary bonus WETEAL
Pension scheme contributions RIS B

Their remuneration fell within the following band:

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
1,344 1,384
128 116

36 36
1,508 1,536

BEZHNER THEER -

Number of employees

EE A

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Z 1,000,000/ T

During the current and prior years, none of the five highest paid
individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and there
were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Senior management’s emoluments excluding

the directors
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management
(excluding the directors) were within the following band:

2022 2021

2 2

REARBEFE  DUSRSHFMALHERER
AEREEANE  EAKBYEADURSHH
AIXAMSERMAREEIMAL KRR 2 2
BIBERRE -

EREERE (BEERM 2H2

ARRERERE (E2HN CHRER 2 HEE
WTAEER :

Number of employees

EEHA
2022 2021

Nil to HK$1,000,000

150 -

T 21,000,000
One member (2021: one member) of senior management whose

emoluments are included in five highest paid individuals as set out in
the note above.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

2022 2021

Current tax — overseas profits tax
- tax for the year
— under-provision in respect of prior years

Income tax expense

ENERRR IR —RONM B L
—REERA
- BEFEREBTR
FIEHR X

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is exempted
from income tax. It is not subject to tax in other jurisdictions.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year

and the prior year.

Taxes on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated at the

rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

10.

an\ = /\7J 7?[ #&% ﬁ

30 June 2022
—E-—FXNA=FA

HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TET
- 19
- 2
- 21

ARAARFRERSEMA L ERRHAEH - £
ARME R EERMBIA -

ARAKERTEER LFRYEEMREEEN
ERHEHN - AE W EIFLEBFGHEME -
RN B Rl B RBUE T W BRI R AR R
MERREE -

$¢72% SR X AN RA R R
aRABRAERAERSENT -

Hip2EHR

2022 2021

Loss before income tax

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions
Tax effect of non-taxable income
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised
Under-provision in respect of prior years
Others

Income tax expense

11. DIVIDENDS

BRAERAERE
REEHX16.5%
(ZB=—
REMEZEREENHBA
TERENTH ST 2
ERUAZ S E
AAHNBAS 2 BB E
*ﬁ%m@%ﬁzm%ws
*EE% =5 H—r%fﬁ\zmi‘k
BRBEARER ZHEEE
BEFERETE
Hit
FIEHiEY

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year

ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).
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HK$’000 HK$’000
Fib FET
(21,888) (11,777)
(3,612) (1,943)
65 56
(182) (303)
642 341
3,521 2,299
126 66
(370) (489)
- 2
(190) (8)
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12. BREB
BREAFBSENREAARILARESTAR
EAFEEEBRERER 2 NETFHE72,000,0008%
(ZZ=—F : (EFE75)72,000,0008%) &t & °

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss
for the year attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 72,000,000
(2021: (re-presented) 72,000,000).

The Group had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during the AEERBE-Z-__ER-T-_-4,A=1H
years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021. tEETEAEERENE DBTERAR -

AREEBRERSE ARG ZERENERIRE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the ordinary

equity holders of the Company is based on the following data: AT EEE -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT THER
Loss ER
Loss for the purpose of basic and ARG EERETREEBEER
diluted loss per share (21,888) (11,798)
Number of shares
i & B
‘000 000
T’ T
(re-presented)
(¥ 25)
Number of shares R #A
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AR EEREAREEER
for the purpose of basic and ZERBIET AR (HiT)
diluted loss per share (Note) 72,000 72,000

Note:

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue and basic and diluted loss
per share were adjusted after taking into account the effect of the share consolidation
completed on 23 August 2022 under which every ten ordinary shares of par value
HK$0.04 each in the share capital of the Company being consolidated into one
share of par value HK$0.40 each in the share capital of the Company (Note 33).
Comparative figures have been retrospectively adjusted on the assumption that the
above-mentioned share consolidation and the share consolidation completed on 24
November 2020 as set out in Note 24 had been effective since the beginning of the
prior year.
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30 June 2022
—E__F#xF=1H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. NE -BERRE
Right-of-use Leasehold Furniture and Office Motor
assets Building improvement fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
e
ERELE BT DEEE KEREE  BLR e it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TET TAT
Cost EUF
At 1 July 2020 RZB-BRELA-H 29,110 1,016 5,168 1176 1,728 1,019 39,217
Additions ﬁﬁ - - - - 40 - 40
Disposals & (314) - = - (27) = (341)
Modification B 175 - - - - - 175
Transfer to investment HRERENE (Wit

property (Note) (8,224) (1,016) - - - - (9,240)
Exchange difference EREE 19 - - - 1 - 20
At 30 June 2021 and RZE_-$XA=1H

1uly 2021 bt o = 20,766 - 5,168 1176 1,742 1,019 29,871
Additions NE - - - - 57 - 57
Disposals HE - - - - (45) - (45)
Modification ﬂ%z 355 - - - - - 355
At30 June 2022 SRIZEAASTR a0 . 5108 W76 L4 1019 . 30238
Accumulated depreciation ~ REHERHEE

and impairment
At 1 uly 2020 “Z-FE+A-H 12,816 125 3,868 1,003 1,426 1,019 20,257
Provided for the year ﬁF ] 3,338 2 594 155 162 - 4,251
Disposals ir)3 (314) - - - (27) - (341)
Transfer to investment property  BEZREW X ()

(Note) (1,029) (127) - - - = (1,156)
Exchange difference iR 18 - - - 1 - 19
At 30 June 2021 and RZZ_-4XA=t1H

1uly 2021 “Z--%tA-R 14,829 - 4,46 1,158 1,562 1,019 23,030
Provided for the year ERER 3,205 - 594 13 120 - 3,932
Disposals & - - - - (45) - (45)
Impairment losses REES 3,087 - 112 5 17 = 3,321
At 30 June 2022 RZB-ZFRAZTH a2 - 5068 1176 1754 1019 30,238
Net book value REFE
At30 June 2022 A=F-—FXA=1A - - - - - - -
At30 June 2021 RZZ_-5XA=TH 5,937 - 706 18 180 - 6,841
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e I RRMEE

30 June 2022
—E-_—#NHA=+H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AN
(continued)

The analysis of carrying amount
underlying asset is as follows:

D EQUIPMENT 13.

of right-of-use assets by class of

BIREEESND

NE- BERRE(E)

FEMEEE CREEMT -

Office
Properties equipment
Leasehold land leased for leased for
for own use own use own use Total
BEREE BEREE BREE
it &% WAERE st
I —
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT FAT FHT
At 1 July 2020 R-B2-F5tA-H 7,209 8,867 218 16,294
Modification of lease terms B = = 175 175
Depreciation il (14) (3,253) (71) (3,338)
Transfer to investment property (Note) BRERENE (Wit (7,195) - - (7,195)
Exchange difference E)ﬁi%%ﬁ - 1 - 1
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 R-F-—FAAZ1E
k=—2_—%tA—-H - 5,615 322 5,937
Modification of lease terms B = 355 = 355
Depreciation e - (3,135) (70) (3,205)
Impairment losses MBS = (2,835) (252) (3,087)
At30 June 2022 R-B__&AA=+H - - - -
Note: Mz
During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group transferred the leasehold property for REZ-FE-—F A=FHIFE FTEERREEZ

own use located in Hong Kong to investment property and rented it out (Note 14):

ERHEYFBRREYREI M HE Wit14) -

2021

HK$’000
FET
On the date of transfer REBRH
Fair value of leasehold property for own use transferred (Note 14) FrERERAENENATE
(Briz14) 8,100
Carrying amount of leasehold property for own use transferred FrEREREEMENEREE (8,084)
Excess of fair value over carrying amount ATERREEENID 16
Reversal of impairment on property, plant and RESERONER - BERREDH
equipment recognised in profit or loss BB R [ 16
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022, management identified impairment
indicator of right-of-use assets, leasehold improvement, furniture and
fixtures as well as office equipment due to unfavourable performance of
the Group resulting from the deteriorated economic environment and
uncertain outlook of the Group’s business following the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of
the right-of-use assets, leasehold improvement, furniture and fixtures as
well as office equipment allocated to the CGU (“CGU Assets”) which
involved in trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and
provision of interior design, project consultancy, maintenance and
interior solutions projects, and as a result the carrying amounts of CGU
Assets were written down to their recoverable amounts. Impairment
losses of approximately HK$3,321,000 (2021: Nil) were recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

The Group assessed the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
CGU Assets were allocated by fair value less costs of disposal. The fair
value less costs of disposal was determined using income approach by
an independent qualified professional valuer, Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited. Under income approach, fair value was estimated
with reference to the cash flow projections based on the most recent
financial forecasts approved by the directors of the Company covering a
period of five years, which represented the management’s best estimate
of the range of economic conditions that will exist over the remaining
useful life of the asset and are consistent with past actual outcomes.
Estimated revenue under the cash flow projections was mainly based
on the unfulfilled and potential sales contracts for the first year under
the projections period and further estimate the future revenue with
an annual growth rate of 2.5% for the second to fifth years under
the projections period, which were based on past performance and
management’s expectations of market development. Gross profit margin
have been determined by historical record of similar project with each
customer individually. The pre-tax discount rate used is 8.35%, which
is derived from the weighted average cost of capital of the Group with
reference to market comparables. The above estimations applied in the
cash flow projections are the key assumptions used in the valuation.
The fair value less costs of disposal of the CGU is classified as a level 3
measurement.
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30 June 2022
—E-—FNA=+A

NE- BERRE(E)

BE_ZT-_—FXAZTALFE £EREEL
F2019B MRS RRIEEL EEBERZTHE
SASENRBARMIEE - Bt EIREHTEFEHE
BE HENEEE FAREEURBLREL
BREDS - KEEFED Miﬁ$%ﬁé5 ¥
BREAYS  REREBRENREEEAR

BH# %%&EW%%E?EHE%F$$1
JEREEE HEMERE FREREEULE
ARE(BLELBNEE) 2AkEEE R
g ﬁ@%iﬁhééz%@ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%@
i% mﬁﬁﬁm3n1mm®ﬂ:f:—¢:%)

RABERkEMZERERER

$%Eﬂﬁﬂ@%@¥ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ$ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ§
HBNBECHSELBU REERE - AFE
HLERARHBLA Ti%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmm@&%
EERARRABBNAET - RERAZE 2FE
NS2ERBARRESREZRHMBER B2
hEHZASRERAMMGE  ZRARKEEE
HEENSTEAFHARLROEERR LR
REMET 8 TEBENERER R -RER
ERATHERATIERRERHMAE —FH
ABIMERNHEERD  LAFERED25%
M-S RARRE_EERFHRRBA
HHREBERAREREHTISERNMAFMIE
e EMEDREAEEE - 2EPEMET R
BEREMET - MARRAIREE 58.35%  Jiik
BAKEOMETIERRE  Y2ETHUTEL
REXRMEL - LAEARRERERD 2 B3t A
fEETFERCBRER - REELEM 2 ATVER
HERATIDERFIEHE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RRMEE

30 June 2022
—E-_—#NHA=+H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14, RENE

2022 2021

HK$/000 HK$/000
FHET FHETT
Fair value NYE
At 1 July RtA—A 8,140 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment Z2aNE BERR
(Note 13) (Hizt13) - 8,100
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment REMENTECHD) /Hm
property (90) 40
At 30 June RAA=+A 8,050 8,140

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the Group transferred the owner TEEREE-T_—FRA-THLFERET

occupied property to investment property.

The investment property represents leasehold land and building located
in Hong Kong held for generating rental income.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property as at 30 June 2022
was arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at the date by
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of
qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group, who have
appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations.

The fair value of investment property is a level 3 recurring fair value
measurement. During the year, there were no transfers into or out of

BRNEBRAREME -

RENFREUREBLCHENESHSRALZ
BELHRET -

AEBREMER T -_—_F A=1BNATE
REEARBARFEERAR (—HEREEY
ERENBUAEREXMGEMT ERARHLA
MBLMEEETTAREZENERIRLR)
RZBETHRENSL -

RENENRTEBF-—RLFLVEANE - FA
YEBAREHE = RAEMEWRR -

level 3 or any other level.

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Opening balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FNES (E=REELTE) 8,140 -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment Zanx- ﬁﬁ%&
(Note 13) (Bi#t13) - 8,100
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of investment REDERNTFECRD) /M
property (90) 40
Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) FRES (F=REFTLTLE) 8,050 8,140
Change in unrealised (loss)/gain for the year included 75 A=1H Pﬁ?ﬂéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ\?ﬁﬁ?’iﬁ'\]
in profit or loss for assets held at 30 June FEABR(BE) MEE2H (90) 40
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14.

Investment property

BENF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair values of tenanted property is determined by applying income
approach by capitalising rental income on a fully leased basis having
regard to the current passing rental income from existing tenancy and
the potential reversionary rental income at market level.

The following table shows the significant unobservable inputs used in
the valuation model.

At 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021

Valuation
techniques

Fair value
hierarchy

Significant
unobservable inputs

DYEER fEERE EXTTBEGABE

Level 3 Income approach  Market monthly rental rate
taking into account of
individual factors such as
location, floor, size, etc.

(HKS/sq.ft)

Capitalisation rate of
reversionary income

M AEE  BhZEER
R&- g BE-

EEWANER LR

F=M WA

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the years.

The fair value measurement is based on the above property’s highest
and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.

As at 30 June 2022, the carrying amount of the investment property
amounted to approximately HK$8,050,000 (2021: Nil) has been pledged
to a bank as security for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 21).

S#EMZERAEMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited ® ® o o o 157

14.

Range of

unobservable inputs

T BERAYEH

EE

SRR

30 June 2022
—E-—FXNA=FA

IMR

REME (&)

HANENLFERBARNLET  IRNEER
BRAONEHSRARTSKFNEERERHES

BARBER B2 EENERSRSWAERL -
TRENMEERLTERNEATTBRREARE -

RZBE-ZEXA=+HARZZEZ-&RX

AR=+H

Sensitivity to changes in
unobservable inputs
HRTIBRBARBRE 2
SBE

HK$34.2 to HK$39.5  The estimated fair value of the
(2021: HK$33.7 to investment property would
HK$39.8) increase if:

- market monthly rental
rate was higher; or

2.5% (2021: 2.5%)

- the capitalisation rate of
reversionary income was lower

342BTLE3SBTL  EUTER  BREMEZ G AT
(ZZ=—F:337 B e
BILE39.8587T)
~-mEARE LA %
25%(ZF=—%F:
2.5%) —BBRAREA b B TR
REBEE  BESMLEZ -
’ATrfEEfE' ERFENSSLEERE It
,,,,,, ERRABTEDT -

(_7_ ¢4EZ&§%¥EEﬁ?ﬁ
FEERTRE (MiE21) 2 BFm e

Wﬁ
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30 June 2022

—FZZENAZTA
15. LEASES 5. HE
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HEEH2ME (UREAZSH)
lessee)
The Group entered into various lease agreements for office premises $EI??E#)J#“ﬁ%¥& VA REE R o %
and equipment. These leases have non-cancellable lease terms with an FHETBNAHEES  NFRB—ERF &
initial period ranging from one to six years. Except for the lease for office T#)J#RZ&%ZTEE@\\ ARERAZAEHRER
equipment, all leases held by the Group comprise only fixed payments BEBERREEMR
over the lease terms.
LEASE LIABILITIES HERE
Office
Properties equipment
leased for leased for
own use own use Total
BERMEE
BREENE HAERB st
I
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FTET FET
At 1 July 2020 RZZZZTFLA—H 16,653 377 17,030
Interest expenses AN B 669 18 687
Modification of lease terms & 25 5 - 175 175
Lease payments HEMH (5,028) (121) (5,149)
Exchange differences P =R 1 - 1
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZBZ—FXA=+BAK
—E-—%tA—H 12,295 449 12,744
Interest expenses B 395 18 413
Modification of lease terms EBgiie 355 - 955
Lease payments HE R (6,975) (108) (7,083)
At 30 June 2022 RZZE-_—_F,A=1H 6,070 359 6,429
Future lease payments are due as follows: AREERFEBERWT -
Minimum lease
payments Interest  Present value
30 June 2022 30 June 2022 30 June 2022
FEBERR ME B

—E-CF —E-CF —E-CF
NA=1H NA=TH ~NA=TH
]

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000

TET FET FEL

Not later than one year THE—F 6,158 120 6,038
Later than one year and not later than two years —%F1& J N i M 238 12 226
Later than two years and not later than five years M1 Rk N8 A F 171 6 165
6,567 138 6,429

158 e o o o O —Z-—HFE#H%E Annual Report 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IBER M

30 June 2022

ZEF_—FANA=TH
15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE#E)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HEERDME (UEBEAZHR) (8)
lessee) (continued)
LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) BERE(E)
Future lease payments are due as follows: (continued) ARBERKIAERDOT : (F)
Minimum lease
payments Interest  Present value
30 June 2021 30 June 2021 30 June 2021
REEEMNR ME B
—E-—F TE-—F TE-

~A=1H ~A=1H ~A=1H

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Not later than one year TEB—F 7,055 412 6,643
Later than one year and not later than two years —%#& R NEBBMF 5,947 111 5,836
Later than two years and not later than five years M1 Rk NEiB A EF 279 14 265
13,281 537 12,744
The present value of future lease payments is analysed as: ARBERFBREATWOT
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT
Current liabilities REBEE 6,038 6,643
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 391 6,101
6,429 12,744
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HERH2ME UHBAZEH)
lessor) o \ \
The Group leases out investment property under operating leases. Leases $%$Eﬁ§%&%$ﬂ§ﬂ%&ﬁ%¥ﬁfﬁ ° %ﬁ‘;\%)ﬂi%}]
are negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease terms with an initial period SRE-FZHEMMERMERN BE RET ©
of one year.
At the end of the reporting period, the minimum lease receivables under %\f&%ﬂﬂ* CREFA BT SR 2 R ENE
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: EFEMT -
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET
Not later than one year TEB—F - 15
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30 June 2022
—E-_—#NHA=+H

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

16. BREZKEM

it
sy
S

Trade receivables FEWE 5 508
Retention receivables EURES
Deposits and other receivables BEREWHEMTIR
Prepayments ENHE
Total st
Less: Non-current portion W FERB AR
Deposits Re
Total current portion mENE 7 et
Notes:
(i)

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
By FHEL FAT
(i) 3,583 6,074
(ii) 2,555 3,546
(iii) 2,722 2,197
(iv) 7,733 2,838
16,593 14,655
(33) (1,752)

16,560 12,903

(i)

|
©

B EERE (HiE31)

Trade receivables
Less: Loss allowance (Note 31)

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over these balances. The credit period granted to trade
customers is within 30 days in general and up to 60 days upon the issue of the invoice,
which is considered on a case-by-case basis. Application for progress payments of
projects is made on a regular basis.

The following is an analysis of trade receivables (net of impairment losses) by age,
presented based on the invoice dates:

2022 2021
HK$000 HK$'000
T TAT
3,583 6,577

- (503)

3,583 6,074

BREGHEITIE « FEEY ARG ZSHRITE AL
AR REMNEEREN A EENESEPRTZE
ER—RE0AALZEFERRTF RS BELZEZK0A
ZIERE - B RAERNAEREL -

FEWRE SR (A HEER) ZFE AT (RERAHE5))
wF

|

Less than 1 month T#E—1E 5
1 to 3 months —Z2=1H
3 to 6 months =ZNMEA

TR LATEE—F

More than 6 months but less than 1 year
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2022 2021
HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
3,510 4,794

73 438

- 482

- 360

3,583 6,074




16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Notes: (Continued)

17.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works are released
after the completion of maintenance period of the relevant contracts or
in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts. These
retention monies are contract assets which primarily relate to the Group’s
right to consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future performance (i.e. completion of
maintenance period). The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional.

Included in the balances was input value added tax (“VAT”) receivable of
approximately HK$482,000 (2021: HK$223,000) as at 30 June 2022. Input
VAT arose when the Group purchases materials from suppliers in the PRC and
the input VAT can be deducted from output VAT on revenue generated in the
PRC.

Included in the balances was prepayments to suppliers of approximately
HK$7,055,000 (2021: HK$2,275,000) as at 30 June 2022.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables are set out in Note 31.

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Deposit amounted to approximately HK$2,000,000 (2021:
HK$6,795,000) has been pledged to a bank as security for the Group's
banking facilities (Note 21). The effective interest rates of the Group's
pledged bank deposit as at 30 June 2022 is 0.07% (2021: 0.25%) per
annum.
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30 June 2022
—E-—FXNA=FA

EWESKEMRE &)

Wit - (8)

i)  BEPRAENIENEZRELREEEHRELE
RREARBEEEE T ET IS - W ERERE
TEAXEEFE TR A A BT TELRAE
HEFEBZENERE  BRZERFNLEERT
R (I REH) BRI - ERFIK SRS
B RHBENBEZRNESHE

(i) BHPEE-FE-—FENAZFANEREEF
([HEF]) #BHBEL482,00087T (ZF=—%:
223,00087) - EEHEBHFEHELEFHITR
B EEEEEHEELMEEREBHET
KR BB 7 WA B (8 5 BB BB G

iv)  BHYEE= ,,,é@\ﬁ THMBENTEERZ
lﬁfw 055,000/ (ZF=—4 : 2,275,000 7T) °

BERARBEZEERRARREERKE S
B EERBEE— S EHRME -

EEABRTER

#72,000,000 7L (ZZE =—%F : 6,795,000/ 70) K
BRBERT—RET ERAEERTHEZE
R (f21) R=BE-—EXR=+H A£EE
BRETT R ERERNEE0.07% (ZE=—F:
0.25%) °

REMH
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30 June 2022
—E-_—#NHA=+H

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$10,017,000 (2021: HK$1,119,000), which is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Certain of the Group’s cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates.

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

18. RERAEZEN

RBEREER AEENARBHEZR S
LELSEMH0,017,0008 7T (ZE=-—F
1H%m%x)AEM$TEmRﬁ%ﬁ1“
B SRR 5P B O ONE 2 48 DA e A R
ERMEEESET $El75§ﬂ§%/§uﬁ|£¥
BzRITBARBEAREMEY -

AEEERNRTZETREENE BRITERMNE
BF BN RREF|E -

19. EREZREMRE

2022 2021

Trade payables ERE 5708
Other payables and accruals H it Rt R A 30R
Accrued interest EAtHIR
Total @t
Notes:
(i) An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
GE FiEn Fi
(i) 3,831 6,500
(ii) 8,472 13,275
134 7
12,437 19,782

Vi

) BNESHEZEEIT REZAH)NT

2022 2021

HK$000 HK$000

FET FETL

Less than 1 month TEE—1EA 906 81
1 to 3 months —Z2=1EAH 423 2,194
3 to 6 months =214 185 1,927
More than 6 months but less than 1 year INEA W BT —F 869 1,540
More than 1 year — L f 1,448 758
3,831 6,500

The Group’s trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally have

payment terms of 0 to 90 days.

(i) Included in the balances was other payables and accruals related to office (ii)
administration of approximately HK$3,708,000 (2021: HK$3,482,000). As at
30 June 2022, other payables under current portion are non-interest bearing
and have average payment terms of 31 to 90 days (2021: 31 to 90 days).
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30 June 2022

—EF_—FRA=TA
20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. BHAR
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Contract liabilities in relation to: BRNTREZANAR:
Millwork and furniture B BERARM LKA 3,513 840
Facade fabrication BlegE 257 =
Interior solutions projects ZWﬁ@?ﬁ%ﬁ%Iﬁﬁ 9,262 1,928
Design and project consultancy service Rt RIE B AR 275 46
13,307 2,814
Note: Vi
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced consideration received form BHEEEEBRENEF ZEHE -
customers.
The following table shows the movements in contract liabilities: TERITEHE B EE -
|
HK$000
TAT
At 1 July 2020 R-FE-FF+/—H 4,317
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance FAFFZ EAIE B th s ERFRA
at the beginning of the year (4,317)
Increase in contract liabilities ERTE EEM 2,814
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RoE-—FNA=1THAR-FE=_—F+H—H 2,814
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance FIAFHIFZ &R B EfE A ERERRA
at the beginning of the year (2,814)
Increase in contract liabilities BB EE 13,307
At 30 June 2022 R-FE_—#FXHA=1H 13,307
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities recognised FECERENBETEZ BERNFEHNT ¢
are as follow:
When the Group receives a deposit before the service commences, this will give rise to EREFRLEZHRANUTES  BHBEBEREHE
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant BEESL BREEAAZEBRNNEL 25 K&
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives a 5% deposit BB REEEAE TEPRE5%#EE
from certain customers before the service commences.
The Group’s contracts usually have duration of one year or less from date of contract FEBG VA —RAEER A ZELEYEEZ AIF
inception to date of satisfaction of performance obligation. The Group has applied the BE—FHUT - FEHCRAEEREE DL WEN I E
practical expedient and therefore does not include information about revenue that the REEEER R THEN AL —FHAL THIBAFEF
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under BELNEFBEEREERHKA  RREERAHER -

the contracts that had an original expected duration of one year or less.
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21.

BANK BORROWINGS

21.

RITEE

2022 2021

Current — Secured
Bank loan due for repayment within one year

22.

nE-HHEM

(Note)
Note:

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has banking facilities for revolving loan of
HK$15,000,000 (2021: HK$15,000,000) with interest rate of 2.85% plus Hong
Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate, of which HK$8,000,000 (2021: HK$6,000,000) of the
banking facilities has been utilised. The bank borrowings bore an effective interest rate
of 3.4% (2021: 2.9%).

The banking facilities are supported by the corporate guarantees given by the Company
and a subsidiary of the Company and are secured by a charge over the pledged bank
deposits amounted to approximately HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$6,795,000) (Note 17)
and investment property amounted to approximately HK$8,050,000 (2021: Nil) (Note
14). The Group shall also maintain a minimum deposit balance of HK$4,000,000 with
the bank during the entire period of the banking facilities.

The banking facilities letter contains clauses which give the bank the right at their sole
discretion to demand immediate repayment at any time irrespective of whether the
covenants has complied with and scheduled repayment obligations were met.

Management regularly monitors the Group’s compliance with the covenants. The
Group is up to date with the scheduled repayments of the loan and management
does not consider it is probable that the bank will exercise their discretion to demand
repayment so long as these requirements were continued to be met. As at 30 June
2022, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached
(2021: None).

SHAREHOLDER’S LOAN

On 27 August 2021, the Group obtained an unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 5% per annum
amounted to HK$15,000,000 from its shareholder, CGH (BVI) Limited,
a company owned as to 50% and 50% by Mr. Lee Wai Sang and
Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (both being executive directors of the
Company) for two years from the date of loan facility (“Loan Facility
I”). During the year ended 30 June 2022, amount of HK$6,000,000 was
drawn down by the Group and was fully repaid.

On 22 December 2021, the Group obtained another unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 2% per annum
amounted to HK$26,000,000 from its shareholder, CGH (BVI) Limited
for two years from the date of loan facility in which Loan Facility |
was superseded. During the year ended 30 June 2022, amount of
HK$22,000,000 was drawn down by the Group. Subsequent to 30 June
2022, the Group has further drawn down HK$4,000,000 of the facility.
The amortised cost of the shareholder’s loan was determined with the
effective interest rate of 6%.
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23.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHAREHOLDER’S LOAN (continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group obtained the
loan from its shareholder on better terms. As a result, the Group has
recognised the better terms of the loan of approximately HK$1,580,000
as deemed contribution and included as capital reserve in equity.

DEFERRED TAX

As at 30 June 2022, certain subsidiaries of the Group had estimated
tax losses arising in Hong Kong and PRC amounting to approximately
HK$79,610,000 (2021: HK$58,939,000) and approximately
HK$440,000 (2021: HK$1,480,000), respectively that are available
for offsetting against their future taxable profits of those companies in
which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of these losses and other deductible temporary difference due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely in Hong Kong and subject to expiry period of five

22.

23.
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Hﬁig'ﬂ\ (/l' )

ANFEERA RAEENUBEERNRAES
5Bl AEBEBREEETIREZERD
1,580,000 TR ARELE - WA AEZFZE
KB

EERE
AEBEFHBRARN-_E-—EAA=+ARE
B MR B E A R BIEEE S 14979,610,000/ 7T
(ZZ = —% 58,939,000/ 7T) & #1440,0007%5 7T
(ZZ=—45 1,480,000/ 7T) » AIFAIEHHESE
BRZSARINRRERTER - AREERRE
RBFIR - R ERZSBRREBANRETRE
ERBRETRELE - BABBRE S ERS
gEmMRPENSRAFRRER

years in PRC.

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, B
Ordinary shares of HK$0.04 (2021: HK$0.04) each BIREE.4ET(ZT-—F: 0.048T) 2 EBR
Ordinary Number
share per unit of shares
BREBRK
ZHEE 8B
HK$ ('000) HK$'000
T (FAR) FHT
|
Authorised: ETE
At 1 July 2020 RZZE_ZF+H—H 0.01 10,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (Note) B3 & Bt (hat) - (7,500,000) -
At 30 June 2021, 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 RZZEZ—FxA=1H"
T -FtA-Bk
—E-"FXA=TH 0.04 2,500,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRAR
At 1 July 2020 RZZE_FFt+H—H 0.01 2,880,000 28,800
Share consolidation (Note) AR & 4 (F1:2) - (2,160,000) =
At 30 June 2021, 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2022 RZZEZ—%5A=t8H"
“Z-FEA-BR
—R-_FXA=TH 0.04 720,000 28,800
Note: Wit -
On 24 November 2020, the Company implemented the share consolidation on the R-ZBZZBFF—HZFHR  ARAEHRGEG

basis that every four issued and unissued then existing shares of par value HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated
share of par value HK$0.04 each in the share capital of the Company. The share
consolidation was duly passed by the shareholders of the Company by way of poll on
20 November 2020. Further details were set out in the Company’s circular dated 16
October 2020 and the Company’s announcements dated 23 September 2020 and 20

November 2020.

BEBARARAFEGEORGREE0.01ETL
EEGTRARETROEGBERARLS —REREE
0.04 T2 EHRY - ROEAHER-F_FF+—4
T HEXRAREUREXATAERESE - #—F
FEARARAAS - FE-FFEL AT NAZEHN
RERAAHR - FE-FFNA -+ ZAR-F_F#
t—AZTHZAE -
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25. RESERVES
The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
each reporting period are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

The nature and purpose of reserves within equity are as follows:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Share premium

Share premium account of the Group represents the excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the investment costs in subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the issued share capital of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Exchange reserve
It comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represented deemed contribution
from the shareholder arisen from the better terms of shareholder’s
loan. For details, please refer to Note 22.

Accumulated losses

It represents cumulative net profits or losses recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company have conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 22 August, 2016.

A summary of the Scheme is set out as below:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date on the Scheme becomes
unconditional.

Under the Scheme, a subscription price shall be a price
solely determined by the board of directors and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share on the date of grant of the option.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose,
shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted
but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Company’s shares in issue
as at the listing date or the date of approval of the refreshed limit.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

S@EELRARAS CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited © © o o o 187

26.

30 June 2022
—E-—FXNA=FA

BREsT 8

ARAIERZE—

NENAZ T ZRAERERH—

BRI (T5181)) -

AR BRESIMT

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

SRR AR ARG E RN Af10
Eo

ﬁ%ﬁ%'*ﬁﬁﬁE§$A%%F%ﬁﬁ
n2aE  BARERTI&SE  ()NE

BEFLAS(WERE %H)EAH R
BHREXRMBOADEROKTE : (IRE
ERERERL BB AEEEREHRME
BREXMENEARARMEHUTE: &k
(i) BB AR P ) B B AR (DT 1B o

BHBRENENRNEHEBEOAH
(BHEZA) B CARER -

RATERERT B A D B E b B AR A =T
BB TRENMEBREDT TEITNRN
FELRGIHmE TEERTEERE
BRI T8I AR AT E At B AR =1 21 15
RERBMERER TEIORR) A
EFEBEARRR LT A RN EEFRE
EiERB 2 BB HTRMI10% ¢

AR BRI S B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»/T\ = /\7J ﬁﬁ #&% Bﬁ

30 June 2022

—F__#ERA=1A
27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27. BBARS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere (@ BREEUBERREMESARENZIIR
in the consolidated financial statements during the reporting BERON  NREER - AREEMATEE
period, the Group entered into the following significant MBI CEARS

transactions with its related parties as follows:

2022 2021

Notes ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
Pt TET FET

Design and project consultancy service income KB AR 2R

from a related company RIEB #ARBBA (i) 57 43
Sales of millwork and furniture to a related M—HBHARHESE
company BB RAR MU REER (ii) 2 1
Email and website service income from a related R E—FHH AR 2
company EERBAREHRA (iii) 4 4
Management fee income from a related company ~ RE—HHEBARZEREBRA  (iv) 396 384
Service income from a related company KE—REBARZRERA (v 1 1
Service expense to a related company M—-EEERARAX N ZRBERX (V) - 3
Interest expense to the shareholder RRRS T2 FER X 525 -
The transactions were entered into at terms mutually agreed with BAR S NER A RE HE L BRRAE
the related parties in the ordinary course of the Group’s business. EREEBRRPAIL -
Notes: Hst
(i)~ The amount represents income from design and project consultancy i BETERZREGEEERATZZTR
service (2022: HK$57,000; 2021: HK$43,000) from HFL Limited. BHBARE KA (ZFE=ZF : 57,000
Mr. Lee Wai Sang is a director of HFL Limited and Mr. Lee Wai Sang JBIL i ZEZ— 5 43,0008 7T) o FIEES
and Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie have 24.2% (2021: 24.2%) beneficial EREERARAAZEENFEEALR
interests in HFL Limited. REML LR G EEBR A AIEF24.2% (=
T 242%) EnfEm e
(i) The amount represents income from sales of millwork and furniture (i) B BRAKEGBERRLAFZHES
(2022: HK$2,000; 2021: HK$1,000) from HFL Limited. B RERAZBREBIYA(ZF-=

F 20008 ZF=—F 1 1,00087T) °

(iii)  The amount represents income from email and website service (2022: (i) EEEEAXKEEEEFRAFZEHTR
HK$4,000; 2021: HK$4,000) from HFL Limited. AR Z A (ZEZZF - 400067

ZE-—FE4000#T) °

(iv)  The amount represents income from management service for Nuovo (iv) EHeBEREF G EEN (BF) HIRERA
Grafica (HK) Publications Limited (“Nuovo”) (2022: HK$396,000; (15t ) 2 ERRBUA (—F- %
2021: HK$384,000). Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie is a director of Nuovo. 396,000 : —F=—4F :384,0005T) °
Mr. Leung Pak Yin has full beneficial interest in Nuovo. PRMLLBIEEHZEE - RIGHFELHE

Bl R Em e

(v) The amount represents service income from (2022: HK$1,000; 2021: ) BB ARERGTELERAA (R
HK$1,000) and service expense (2022: Nil 2021: HK$3,000) to ‘ﬁf/)zmﬁw (ZEZZ%F 1,000
Absolute Music Limited (“Absolute Music”). Mr. Leung Mo Shan Jackie T ZE = 1,00087T) RAAL1Z
has 90% (2021: 90%) beneficial interest in Absolute Music. RERS (—FE-—F fF, —F-—4F:

3,00087) - FRL 1 HFREE290%
(ZF=—%:90%) Baita -
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 7. BMARXZ (&
(continued)
(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (b)  EEEEH 2 RMAREERS
Maximum Maximum
balance balance
outstanding outstanding
during the year during the year
FRER FNKR
2022 KEEEH 2021 REELERR
|
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET TER TAL T
Year end balance included in TAEKE SR HA
trade and other receivables REZERER
HFL Limited BREEBRAR - 6 = 5
Nuovo TR 34 34 - 32
Year end balance included in FAERE S REAM
trade and other payables HEZFRER
Max Contracting Limited EARAIRER
NG 683 683
() Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: © ZAEEFZEBEASZHM:
Details of directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration and EERIETBRAEMEURTEEREMN
five highest paid employees are included in Notes 8 and 9, ERZFHEDRISRI B REM TR -

respectively.
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28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 28. RMEZEFMELZEB2YUR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank Shareholder’s Lease Accrued
borrowings loan liabilities interest
(Note 21) (Note 22) (Note 15) (Note 19)
RITEE REER HEBE R 2
(P sE21) (Fi5E22) (F#5E15) GEAL)
|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THT AT AT
At 1 July 2021 RZE=_—FtA—AH 6,000 - 12,744 7
Changes in cash flows: Henggs:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEZFTEHA 7,000 - - -
Repayment of bank borrowings ERBTEE (5,000) - - -
Proceeds from shareholder’s loan BRERZFBHE = 28,000 = =
Repayment of shareholder’s loan EERRER - (6,000) - -
Interest paid ERHE - - - (353)
Repayment of principal portion ERAEARZAEHS
of lease liabilities - - (6,670) -
Repayment of interest portion BRAEARZNEHS
of lease liabilities - - 413) _
Total changes from financing HERCREMNEDRT
cash flows: 2,000 22,000 (7,083) (353)
Other changes: Hth & :
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZ M8, - - - 258
Interest on shareholder’s loan REEHZFIE = 303 = 222
Interest on lease liabilities HEBRZFIE = = 413 =
Deemed contribution from a BRIERE T E
shareholder - (1,580) = =
Lease modifications HEBR - = 355 =
Total other changes: HipZEAaf: = (1,277) 768 480
At 30 June 2022 RZZEZZFA=TH 8,000 20,723 6,429 134
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28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 28, BEZIEFfE42EB UK (Z)
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Bank Lease Accrued
borrowings liabilities interest
(Note 21) (Note 15) (Note 19)
RITHEE HEAR FESTAIR
(M&E21) (MEE15) (MfEE19)
|
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FET FET
At 1 July 2020 R-ZZ_ZTFtA—H - 17,030 -
Changes in cash flows: Renggs:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEEZFTEHE 10,000 - -
Repayment of bank borrowings ERRITEER (4,000) — -
Interest paid ERHES - - (176)
Repayment of principal portion of lease EERERBEZASHD
liabilities - (4,462) -
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities E&H &8 &2 7 L5 - (687) -
Total changes from financing cash flows: MELGMENEYEE - 6,000 (5,149) (176)
Other changes: Hth &2 :
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZHE - - 183
Interest on lease liabilities HEABZHE - 687 -
Lease modifications HEEBY - 175 -
Exchange adjustments B 1 AR - 1 -
Total other changes: Hin B8 - - 863 183
At 30 June 2021 RZF=-FXA=*+A 6,000 12,744 7
29. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 9. BRERBDzeMEERSRARM
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY Z
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments REEHEEASEERIAZERAENT
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Financial assets TREE
R}
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fa% FA7
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REHERAIIRZEREE
Financial assets included in trade and other AABKESREMFEZ EREE
receivables 5,823 8,048
Pledged bank deposits EERRITER 2,000 6,795
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBREEED 21,629 11,980
29,452 26,823
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29. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(continued)

Financial liabilities

2022 2021

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities included in trade and
other payables

Bank borrowings RITIEE
Shareholder’s loan BRER
Lease liabilities HEEE

30. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31.

Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instrument comprises cash and cash
equivalents, bank borrowings and shareholder’s loan. The main purpose
of this financial instrument is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
and other receivables and trade and other payables, which arise directly
from the Group’s operations.

The major risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk.
The directors meet periodically to analyse and formulate measures to
manage each of these risks and they are summarised below.

172 e o o o O —Z-—HFE#H%E Annual Report 2022

REEAATIRZERAR
SABRESREMFRZERAE

29, REFES2ERMEERSREER
Z(E
tRAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
12,437 19,782
8,000 6,000
20,723 -
6,429 12,744
47,589 38,526
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gﬁ o
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. MERREEBERBR(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES(continued)
Foreign currency risk M mR
The Group has certain assets and liabilities denominated in currencies FEBERETAERAB HEREYFIEHEE
other than the functional currency of the group entities to which they BRIDEEY - ARBEBRATESEERIAN
relate. The Group currently has no particular hedging vehicles to hedge HANERRE - ARERBERAERIMNERRT T
its exposure to foreign exchange risk. It is the Group’s policy to monitor S B I IREVE S 0B HE 5
foreign exchange exposure and to make use of appropriate hedging
measures when required.
The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of each TRANAEEEERERRELRE Y I AEH
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or ERZVRERHEZCRAEELRENER
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency Rk AEEFERHEL(ET]) AR B
of the entity to which they relate. The Group is mainly exposed to the TRESEKRD - 25N E - FRRRSEUETL
fluctuation of United States dollars (“USD”), RMB, EUR and GBP. For (BREREBRZAMBER)FIRMOT :
presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in HK$,
translated using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period as
follows:
UsD RMB EUR GBP
EY AR B R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THERT TERT TET TER
|
As at 30 June 2022 R-ZE--E5xXA=1+H
Trade and other receivables e E 5 K H A0 5RIR - - 40 -
Cash and cash equivalents BHEeRBREZEEY 1,440 18 38 99
Overall net exposure LR 1,440 18 78 99
usD RMB EUR GBP
E AR® B R
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THERT TERT TERT TER
|
As at 30 June 2021 RZB--5xA=tH
Trade and other receivables U E 5 R HAh 5738 - 27 43 -
Trade and other payables [ E 5 R E A TR = = (4) =
Pledged bank deposits BEBRITER 6,795 = - -
Cash and cash equivalents HERBESEEY 1,327 32 32 1,000
Overall net exposure R RE b 8,122 59 71 1,000
As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, if HK$ strengthened or weakened by 5% RIBE-ZZFR-ZE-_-F A=1H HEBT

against RMB, EUR and GBP, with all other variables held constant, there
will be no significant impact on the Group’s loss before income tax (due
to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the
Group's equity. As USD is pegged to HKS$, the foreign currency risk is
considered as minimal.
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31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, retention receivables, and deposits and
other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating agencies, for which
the Group considers the credit risk is negligible.

Trade and retention receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, all trade
receivables are closely monitored on an ongoing basis to minimise the
Group's exposure to associated credit risk. Since the Group trades only
with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer and by
geographical. The Group has concentration risk on its major customers
(Note 4) which accounted for 33.4% (2021: 34.2%) of its revenue
for the year ended 30 June 2022. The Group’s major customers are
reputable companies. In this regard, the management of the Group
considers the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and retention receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated by individual
assessment on the recoverability of trade and retention receivables
based on historical loss rates adjusted with macro-economic factors.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has recognised a written
off of loss allowance on trade receivables of approximately HK$503,000
(2021: reversal of impairment on trade receivables of approximately
HK$19,000).
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. MERREEREREK (E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) EEmE (&)
Trade and retention receivables (continued) EREZHBERENRES (£)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables BB SFEBRRER EHMT :

are as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TET

At 1 July RtA-AH 503 522

Amount written off EMHERE (503) -
Amount reversed [l - (19)

At 30 June WARR=1H - 503
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to TERBARER-Z-FR-T-—F A
credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 30 June 2022 and 2021: “THEZENBINEZ EERBEBHEERR

ZEH
Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amounts Loss allowance

RHEER AR 48 28 BERE

(%) (HK$’000) (HK$’000)

(Fi&T) (F#&T)

30 June 2022 —E--HXA=1H 1.5-2.5 3,583 -

Gross carrying

Expected loss rate amounts Loss allowance

BHEER RE 2 BEERE
|

(%) (HK$'000) (HK$’000)

(F&T) (F#&T)

30 June 2021 —E-—%XA=1H 0.5-95.0 6,577 503
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31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and retention receivables (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has assessed that the ECL
for trade receivables was immaterial. Thus, no loss allowance for trade
receivables was recognised.

Retention receivables as at 30 June 2022 and 2021 were neither past
due nor impaired and expected to be recovered within 1 year after the
reporting period. These related to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default. Based on past experience and forward-looking
information, management is of the opinion that no provision for loss
allowance is necessary in respect of these contract assets as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the credit risk is
minimal.

Deposits and other receivables

The Group makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based
on historical settlement records and past experience, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. At the reporting date,
the credit risks on deposits and other receivables have not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for other receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Expect for input VAT receivables which had no expiry date, the
remaining balances of deposits and other receivables as at 30 June 2022
and 2021 were neither past due nor impaired. Financial assets included
in these balances are non-interest bearing and relate to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default. Based on past experience
and forward-looking information, management is of the opinion that no
provision for loss allowance is necessary in respect of these receivables
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
credit risk is minimal. Thus, no loss allowance for deposits and other
receivables were recognised.
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31.

Increase/(decrease) in loss for the year
—as a result of increase in interest rate
— as a result of decrease in interest rate

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances and bank borrowings. The Group currently
does not have a policy on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk.
However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group’s shareholder loan bear interest at fixed rate and therefore is
subject to fair value interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming that the bank balances
and bank borrowings at the end of each reporting period were bank
balances for the whole year. 50 basis points (2021: 25 basis points)
increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates of bank balances and
bank borrowings. In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the exposures at the
end of each reporting period do not reflect the exposures during each
reporting period.

If interest rates on bank balances and bank borrowings had been 50
basis points (2021: 25 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the potential effect on the Group’s post-tax loss for
the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

FRBRIEN/ (RD)
~ AT L
~ I TR
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31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and
shareholder’s loan. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$21,888,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2022, and as of that date, the Group had total current
bank borrowings amounted to approximately HK$8,000,000. Also,
the Group had capital deficiency of approximately HK$12,424,000.
However, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$21,629,000. These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

In assessing the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company has prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period up
to September 2023. The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and
the Group’s available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern. The plans and measures summarised in Note 2(b)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements have been undertaken to mitigate the
liquidity pressure and to improve the financial position of the Group.
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The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BRRREEAERBK (£
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) RBEERER(E)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of RECITORERES  T&EeRABERESH
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, RERZIBERMT -
is as follows:
Total Repayable
contractual within one Over 1 year Over 2 year
Carrying  undiscounted year or on but less than but less than
amount cash flows demand 2 years 5 years
BHRER  ER—FAK —F 4 Gk
KEE ReRERE EEXEE EMER BREFER
|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T a7 FET FEL FET
At 30 June 2022 RZZEZZ%,A=+H
Trade and other payables &1 E 5 Rk H 58 12,437 12,437 12,437 - -
Lease liabilities HEAR 6,429 6,567 6,158 238 171
Bank borrowings RITIEE 8,000 8,006 8,006 - -
Shareholder’s loan REER 20,723 22,650 440 22,210 =
47,589 49,660 27,041 22,448 171
At 30 June 2021 RZEZ—%,A=+H
Trade and other payables T8 5 KBt 5A 19,782 19,782 19,782 = =
Lease liabilities HEAE 12,744 13,2681 7,055 5,947 279
Bank borrowings RITEE 6,000 6,008 6,008 = =
38,526 39,071 32,845 5,947 279
Capital management ERER

ZK‘£I§$MEEZIKE$E7%EE{%ZKEIE ENF
BREXBLERRREILE  UXRHEEBY
rﬂﬁfh%ﬂx%f‘;fﬂ

AEEEREEARBIRECERE 2B LUK
BEEERREEELRE - BEBIHRER
BiE ASEUHABRIATREZRE  MBRER
L§$&%ﬂﬁh BEZZ-_—FXA=THK
_7_ E/\H ‘|‘E|JJ:$F 5% EEZEE
BRIEFLENE -

FEENEAERERAS RS SEMARAR
AEA ARG EE BREAMBREBENCE
1A RERZTER) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RRMEE

30 June 2022

—F__#ERA=1A
31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. MBEREEEERER(A)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued) BXEE (A
The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of debt to equity AEERBEBERGL REREALE - AL E
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt to total equity. Net debt is REBFERERS LS - BRFRRES
calculated as total debts which represent the total balance of lease BBRRPAROBEERE fETT%%&W?E%’\
liabilities, bank borrowings and shareholder’s loan as shown in the ZRRBRER SRR FEWHE
consolidated financial position less cash and cash equivalents.
The debt to equity ratio at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 were as RIBEZ R A=TARZZE-—F A=A
follows: ZEHEESLEMT :
]
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank borrowings RITEE 8,000 6,000
Shareholder’s loan R E R 20,723 =
Lease liabilities HEBRE 6,429 12,744
Less: cash and cash equivalents BB RAEEEY (21,629) (11,980)
Net debt B FE 13,523 6,764
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (BXRER) /BkER (12,424) 7,271
Debt-to-equity ratio B st & N/ATTER 1:1.07
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32. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 32. ERARZBMBEMRRE

FINANCIAL POSITION

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at

BRAARARGENEER L HBRRR AR

m Investment in a subsidiary represents unlisted investment, measured at cost.

On behalf of the board of directors

Mr. Lee Wai Sang

FREXE
Director

EF

the end of the reporting period is as follows: T
2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 FAT FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RE—FNBAF (0 —HD
Amounts due from subsidiaries L= INGIE | 8,484 39,180
8,484 39,180
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments ERHE 161 167
Amounts due from subsidiaries )= NGIE 611 2,850
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFED 658 143
1,430 3,160
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables and accruals H A A 508 T B B 3R 87 15
Amounts due to shareholders Fgﬁﬂﬁﬁ%\lﬁ —* =
Amount due to a subsidiary FERH I B 2 R FRIE 2,496 2,496
2,583 2,511
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS #E(RE) EERE (1,153) 649
Total assets less current liabilities BERKERRDERE 7,331 39,829
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Shareholder’s loan EN=E 20,723 =
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BE) /EEZE (13,392) 39,829
Capital and reserves BXARFE
Share capital e 28,800 28,800
Reserves &1 (a) (42,192) 11,029
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)/TOTAL EQUITY (BXE4) aEs (13,392) 39,829
* Represent amount of less than HK$1,000. * R, 0008 TT#)70E ©

RE—BWBRAEALTRE (BAATE)

RREZE

Mr. Leung Pak Yin

REAEXE
Director

EZ
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32. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 32 BERARZBMBMRRK (E)

FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(@) A summary of the Company’s reserve is as

(@) EDERBIHBEDT

follows:
Share Capital ~ Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B0 i B R BARGE 2iTEE Bt
]
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAL FTAET TAET
As at | July 2020 R=ZZ-Z2FtH-H 62,663 - (48,181) 14,482
Loss and total comprehensive income FEBBER2ZEBALE
for the year - - (3,453) (3,453)
Asat30June2021and 1July2021 R=ZE-—-FXA=1+HEK
—2--FtA-H 62,663 - (51,634) 11,029
Loss and total comprehensive income 4 & E18 & 2 EW A &%
for the year - - (54,801) (54,801)
Deemed contribution from a BIEREEE (W it22)
shareholder (Note 22) - 1,580 - 1,580
As at 30 June 2022 R-ZB-Z%5xXA=1H 62,663 1,580 (106,435) (42,192)
33. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 3. REHRSE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has following significant events after reporting period:

(i)  On 23 August 2022, the Company implemented the share
consolidation on the basis that every ten issued and unissued then
existing shares of par value HK$0.04 each in the share capital
of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated share of
par value HK$0.40 each in the share capital of the Company.
The share consolidation was duly passed by the shareholders of
the Company by way of poll on 19 August 2022. Further details
were set out in the Company’s circular dated 29 July 2022 and
the Company’s announcements dated 8 July 2022 and 19 August
2022 respectively.

(i) On 7 September 2022, the Group obtained an unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 2% per annum
amounted to HK$13,000,000 from its shareholder for two years
from the date of loan facility. As at the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has drawn down
HK$3,000,000 and the unutilised loan facility available for
drawdown amounted to HK$10,000,000.

34. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022
were approved for issue by the directors on 27 September 2022.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is as follows:

GROUP RESULTS

hEBBRHE

AEARIRAENHEENEENREE - EXREERD
BEMT

FRERE

Year ended 30 June

BEAR=tHLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT BT TET T
Revenue KA 40,006 86,601 53,789 95,336 71,541
Loss before income tax BRAGHAER (21,888) (11,777) (28,366) (9,606) (22,731)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FishiEe/ (AX) - (21 162 (28) (209)
Loss for the year FEER (21,888) (11,798) (28,204) (9,634) (22,940)
Total comprehensive income UTATEGEFERE
for the year attributable to: WAL :
Owners/Equity holders of FRAEBEN/
the Company BRFEAA (21,275) (11,824) (28,196) (9,387) (22,875)
(21,275) (11,824) (28,196) (9,387) (22,875)
GROUP ASSETS AND LIABILITIES rEEEERESRE
As at 30 June
WAB=t+H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET THT AT FTET FTET
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE 8,083 16,733 20,777 7,405 7194
Current assets MEEE 40,389 31,878 34,160 54,274 61,351
Total assets HEE 48,472 48,611 54,937 61,679 68,545
Equity and liabilities BEREE
(Capital deficiency)/Total equity (BB /EER (12,424) 7,271 19,095 36,443 45,830
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 21,114 6,101 12,560 644 810
Current liabilities MEEE 39,782 35,239 23,282 24,592 21,905
Total liabilities BERE 60,896 41,340 35,842 25,236 22,715
Total equity and liabilities BRRkAERE 48,472 48,611 54,937 61,679 68,545

Note: The summary of the consolidated results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years are extracted from the published audited financial
statements.
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Particulars of Properties

ESAE

30 June 2022
—E--FXA=1H

INVESTMENT PROPERTY REN=

Applicable

interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
REE

2k Rz THAA FEEHE RS
Workshop 1 on Industrial Long 100%

13th Floor,

Technology Plaza,
No. 651 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong
FBiA T =
REB6515
BHEH L
1312
15 EfiL
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